
COUNCIL
AGENDA

Venue: Bainbridge Room - Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 
Whitehaven 

Date: Tuesday, 21st March, 2017
Time: 2.00 pm
Contact Officer: Denise James Tel: 01946 598528

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Minutes of the meeting held on 28 February 2017 1 - 8

3. Declarations of Interest in Agenda Items: 

4. Chairman's Announcements 

5. Petitions 

6. Questions from Members of the Public 

To receive questions from members of the public.  Maximum time allowed 
30 minutes.  Questions must be submitted to the Solicitor at least three 
working days prior to the meeting.

7. Questions by Members 

a) Written questions to the Mayor or any other Member of the Council 
in relation to content of any recommendations or reports before 
the Council.  Questions must be submitted in writing to the Solicitor 
at least three working days prior to the meeting. (45 minutes 
allowed) – Procedure Rule 11.2.

b) Oral questions to the Mayor on any matter where the Council has 
powers or duties or which affects the Borough.  (60 minutes allowed 
plus any unused time from (a) above) – Procedure Rule 11.1.

8. Mayor's Executive Report 9 - 22

Public Document Pack



9. Choice Based Letting Allocation Policy 23 - 118

10. Community Governance Review 119 - 138

11. Well Whitehaven - Accountable Body Status 139 - 164

12. Environmental Policy 2017-20 165 - 178

13. Dispensation for Non Attendances at Meetings 179 - 180

14. Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel 181 - 190

15. Pay Policy Statement 191 - 202

16. Calendar of Meetings 2017/18 203 - 218

17. Flexible use of Capital Receipts Strategy 219 - 226

EXEMPT INFORMATION
The Chairman to move:
That under Section 100 (a) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the following items on grounds that, if they were 
present, there could be disclosed to them exempt information as defined in the 
relevant paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Act.

18. Harras Moor - To Follow 

Membership: Councillors Peter Tyson (Chairman), Carla Arrighi, David Banks, 
Martin Barbour, Jackie Bowman, John Bowman, Anne Bradshaw, Hugh Branney, 
Denise Burness, John Burns, Yvonne Clarkson, Raymond Cole, Peter Connolly, John Dirom, 
Gwynneth Everett, Neil Ferguson, Allan Forster, Jeanette Forster, Raymond Gill, 
Fred Gleaves, Michael Guest, Ian Hill, Keith Hitchen, Lena Hogg, Allan Holliday, 
Mark Holliday, Joan Hully, Alan Jacob, Linda Jones-Bulman, John Kane, Bob Kelly, 
William Kirkbride, Jean Lewthwaite, Charles Maudling, Michael McVeigh, Sam Meteer, 
David Moore, Alistair Norwood (Deputy Chair), Brian O'Kane, Sam Pollen, Andy Pratt, 
Christopher Reay, David Riley, Graham Roberts, Gilbert Scurrah, Peter Stephenson, 
Graham Sunderland, Gillian Troughton, Paul Whalley, Doug Wilson and Felicity Wilson

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598528
E-mail: denise.james@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk



COUNCIL

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY, 28 FEBRUARY 2017

Present: Mayor Mike Starkie: Councillors Peter Tyson, in the Chair; Carla Arrighi, David Banks, 
Martin Barbour, Jackie Bowman, John Bowman, Hugh Branney, Denise Burness, 
Yvonne Clarkson, Peter Connolly, Gwynneth Everett, Neil Ferguson, Allan Forster, 
Jeanette Forster, Raymond Gill, Michael Guest, Ian Hill, Keith Hitchen, Lena Hogg, 
Allan Holliday, Mark Holliday, Alan Jacob, Linda Jones-Bulman, John Kane, Bob Kelly, 
William Kirkbride, Jean Lewthwaite, Charles Maudling, Michael McVeigh, Sam Meteer, 
David Moore, Alistair Norwood, Brian O'Kane, Sam Pollen, Andy Pratt, Christopher Reay, 
David Riley, Gilbert Scurrah, Graham Sunderland, Paul Whalley, Doug Wilson and 
Felicity Wilson

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors: Anne Bradshaw, John Burns, 
Raymond Cole, John Dirom, Fred Gleaves, Joan Hully, Graham Roberts, Peter Stephenson and 
Gillian Troughton

C82 Minutes of the meeting held on 7 February 2017 

In respect of minute C76, oral questions by members, concern was expressed at the lack of 
detail of questions asked and answers given. Councillors Hitchen and Maudling indicated that 
they had questions relating to the Council’s view on the highways position at Eskmeal and the  
issue of social media and the code of conduct respectively and had hoped that their questions 
and answers would have been recorded.

RESOLVED – (a) That the minutes of the meeting held on 7 February 2017 be signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record; and

(b)  That, for future meetings, in respect of the item relating to oral questions by members, 
that a summary of the questions asked and answers provided be recorded in the minutes.

C83 Declarations of Interest in Agenda Items: 

It was noted that a dispensation was in place which would enable Members present to 
participate fully in respect of the setting of council tax or precepts, a local council tax 
reduction scheme, a local scheme for payment of business rates and Members allowances.

Councillors Carla Arrighi; Dave Banks; Hugh Branney; Yvonne Clarkson; William Kirkbride; Jean 
Lewthwaite; Charles Maudling and Gilbert Scurrah declared an interest on issues relating to 
business rates.

Councillors Carla Arrighi; Yvonne Clarkson; William Kirkbride; Jean Lewthwaite and Charles 

Maudling declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in two projects for approval within Agenda 

item 7d (200 Capital programme) relating to Town Centre Regeneration and Townscape 

Heritage Initiative and did not participate in the vote on those two projects.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



C84 Chairman's Announcements 

The Chairman had not attended any civic engagement since the last meeting of Council on the 
7 February 2017.

C85 Questions from Members of the Public 

No questions had been received from members of the public.

C86 Questions by Members 

No questions relating to items on the agenda had been received from Members of the 
Council.

C87 2016-2020 Corporate Strategy Refresh, Medium Term Financial Strategy and 2017/18 
Budget and Council Tax Requirement 

Prior to the debate on this matter it was noted that no approach had been made to the 
Director of Commercial and Corporate Services, as section 151 officer, as required by the local 
agreement approved by Council on the 9th April 2015, regarding possible amendments to the 
budget proposals. 

Consideration was given to the recommendations from the Executive to approve the 
proposals for Council’s budget 2017/18.

Prior to the Mayor presenting the Executive budget he gave thanks to the work of the 
Council’s elections team in running a successful parliamentary election on the 23rd February 
2017. 

Following presentation of the budget proposals it was moved by the Mayor, Mike Starkie and 
duly seconded that Council approve and agree the following recommendations:

1. 2016-2020 Corporate Strategy Refresh for 2017/18 (Item 7a)

(a) Note the amendments made by the Executive following Member questions and comments 
received at the Council meeting on 7 February 2017 in relation to the Town Centre 
Regeneration Ambition and links to the 2017/18 Capital Programme;

b) In light of Recommendation a) agree to the continued relevance of the 2016-2020 
Corporate Strategy and agree to the 2017/18 Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan priorities; and

b) Note the feedback from all consultations undertaken during December 2016 up to the 
close of consultation on 30 January 2017 and the Executive’s responses (Appendix 1 to the 
report).

2. 2016-2020 Corporate Strategy, Medium Term Financial Strategy Projections & 
2017/18 Revenue Budget and Council Tax Requirement (Item 7b)

Page 2



a) Note the key messages from the Autumn Statement 2016 and note that, wherever 
possible, any implications have been built into the Council’s refreshed Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for 2016-2020 (Section 2 refers);

b) Consider the acceptance of this flexibility for 2017/18 to assist in the setting up of any 
commercial activities, subject to the availability of capital receipts over and above those 
required to fund the existing Capital Plan and note that a Flexible Use of Receipts Strategy 
including project details will be presented to Council at its meeting on 21 March 2017 (Section 
3 refers);

c) Note the key points of the 2017/18 Provisional and Final Local Government Finance 
Settlement, and in particular the impacts on Copeland Borough Council (Section 4 refers);

d) Agree the Financial Strategy Principles as set out in paragraphs 5.1 and 5.2 which are 
applied to the 2016-2020 MTFS Projections and 2017/18 Draft Budget Proposals (Section 5 
refers);

e) Note, in relation to the up-front Pensions Fund Deficit Payment, the absolute condition on 
the use of the PFI Reserve is that it must be replenished by £615k in 2018/19 ad £615k in 
2019/20 as part of the approval to proceed to make the up front payment (Section 5, 
paragraph 5.9 refers);

f) Approve the Income Generation Strategy set out in Appendix A to the report (Section 5 
refers);

g) Approve the Corporate Charging Policy set out in Appendix B to the report (Section 5 
refers);

h) Agree the proposals for 2017/18 Fees and Charges set out in Appendix C to the report 
(Section 5 refers);

i) Endorse the 2017-2020 Efficiency Plan as set out in Table 9 of the report (Section 5 refers);

j) Approve the updated Discretionary Rates Relief Policy set out in Appendix D to the report, 
which has been updated to ensure it reflects current guidance and supports vulnerable or 
individual organisations through periods of pressure (Section 5 refers);

k) Consider and agree the estimates of amounts for the 2017/18 setting of the Council Tax 
Requirement, based on a 1.95% increase in the Copeland Borough Council element of the 
Council Tax, as proposed in the Elected Mayor & Executive’s Budget Proposals and the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy projections (Section 5 refers);

l) Approve continuation of the current Local Council Tax Support Scheme (Section 7 refers);

m) Note the Business Rates, Collection Fund Surplus and Council Tax Base positions as carried 
out under current delegation to the Section 151 Officer (Appendices E, F and G refer); and

n) Note the Statement of the Responsible Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer) (Section 8 
refers).

Page 3



3. 2017/18 Reserves and Balances Review (Item 7c)

a) Retain the General Fund Risk Based Reserve (Balances) at least at £2 million for 2017/18 
(paragraph 2.10 refers);

b) Agree to use £0.525 million of the General Unearmarked Reserve to support the budget in 
2017/18 (paragraph 3.3 refers), noting that the Executive must continue to identify other 
potential efficiency and income generation opportunities in-year to minimise the need to call 
on this Reserve;

c) Agree the outcome of the in-year review by the Review of Reserves Task and
Finish Group (paragraph 4.4 refers); and

d) Agree the proposed usage and contributions to the Earmarked Reserves as part of the 
2017/18 budget setting process (Tables 1 and 2 refer).

4. 2017-2020 CAPITAL PROGRAMME (Item 7d)

(a) Agree the 2017-2020 Capital Programme;

(b) Agree to request the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to appoint a Task and Finish Group 
to consider the proposed Town Centres Regeneration Scheme in detail and to make proposals 
to the Executive, in April 2017, to include the points listed in paragraphs 2.3 to 2.7 of the 
report;

(c) Note that projects submitted are subject to further project appraisal approval at Executive 
on a separate occasion, before any expenditure is incurred; and

(d) Note the forecast resources position as detailed in Section 5 of the report and note the 
risks associated with any under achievement of the resources forecast.

5. 2017/18 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT (TMSS), MINIMUM 
REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
(Item 7e)

Approve the 2017/18 Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS), Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy Statement and the Annual Investment Strategy as set out in Appendix 1 to 
the report, having due regard to the slight change in emphasis in investment strategy, 
compared to that for 2016/17, which is set out in Section 4.1 of the TMSS.

6. COUNCIL TAX SETTING COMMITTEE

Approve the appointment of a Council Tax Setting Committee comprising of the leaders of 
both groups, the deputy chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee and the chair of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to set the council tax requirement and the council tax 
level prior to the 11th March 2017.

A recorded vote was then taken

Page 4



For the Motion: Councillors Peter Tyson, Carla Arrighi, David Banks, Martin Barbour, Jackie 
Bowman, John Bowman, Hugh Branney, Denise Burness, Yvonne Clarkson, Peter Connolly, 
Gwynneth Everett, Neil Ferguson, Allan Forster, Jeanette Forster, Raymond Gill, Michael 
Guest, Ian Hill, Keith Hitchen, Lena Hogg, Allan Holliday, Mark Holliday, Alan Jacob, Linda 
Jones-Bulman, John Kane, Bob Kelly, William Kirkbride, Jean Lewthwaite, Charles Maudling, 
Michael McVeigh, Sam Meteer, David Moore, Alistair Norwood, Brian O'Kane, Sam Pollen, 
Andy Pratt, Christopher Reay, David Riley, Gilbert Scurrah, Graham Sunderland, Paul Whalley, 
Doug Wilson and Felicity Wilson.

Note: Councillors Carla Arrighi, Yvonne Clarkson, William Kirkbride; Jean Lewthwaite and 
Charles Maudling had declared disclosable pecuniary interests in Agenda item 7d relating to 
Town Centre Regeneration and Townscape Heritage Initiative and did not participate in this 
part of the vote.

Against the Motion: Councillors Jackie Bowman and John Bowman.

Abstention from the Vote: Councillor Michael Guest.

On a vote of 39 For, 2 Against and 1 Abstention (34 For, 2 Against and 6 Abstentions for 
Agenda item 7d relating to Town Centre Regeneration and Townscape Heritage Initiative) the 
Motion was declared CARRIED.

It was therefore:

RESOLVED – That

1. 2016-2020 Corporate Strategy Refresh for 2017/18 (Item 7a)

a) the amendments made by the Executive following Member questions and comments 
received at the Council meeting on 7 February 2017 in relation to the Town Centre 
Regeneration Ambition and links to the 2017/18 Capital Programme be noted;

b) in light of Recommendation a) the continued relevance of the 2016-2020 Corporate 
Strategy and agree to the 2017/18 Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan priorities be agreed; and

b) the feedback from all consultations undertaken during December 2016 up to the close of 
consultation on 30 January 2017 and the Executive’s responses (Appendix 1 to the report) be 
noted.

2. 2016-2020 Corporate Strategy, Medium Term Financial Strategy Projections & 
2017/18 Revenue Budget and Council Tax Requirement (Item 7b)

a) the key messages from the Autumn Statement 2016 and note that, wherever possible, any 
implications have been built into the Council’s refreshed Medium Term Financial Strategy for 
2016-2020 (Section 2 refers) be noted;

b) this flexibility for 2017/18 to assist in the setting up of any commercial activities, subject to 
the availability of capital receipts over and above those required to fund the existing Capital 
Plan be accepted and  that a Flexible Use of Receipts Strategy including project details  being 
presented to Council at its meeting on 21 March 2017 (Section 3 refers) be noted;

Page 5



c) the key points of the 2017/18 Provisional and Final Local Government Finance Settlement, 
and in particular the impacts on Copeland Borough Council (Section 4 refers) be noted;

d) the Financial Strategy Principles as set out in paragraphs 5.1 and 5.2 which are applied to 
the 2016-2020 MTFS Projections and 2017/18 Draft Budget Proposals (Section 5 refers) be 
agreed;

e) it be noted that in relation to the up-front Pensions Fund Deficit Payment, the absolute 
condition on the use of the PFI Reserve is that it must be replenished by £615k in 2018/19 ad 
£615k in 2019/20 as part of the approval to proceed to make the up front payment (Section 5, 
paragraph 5.9 refers);

f) the Income Generation Strategy set out in Appendix A to the report (Section 5 refers) be 
approved;

g) the Corporate Charging Policy set out in Appendix B to the report (Section 5 refers) be 
agreed;

h) the proposals for 2017/18 Fees and Charges set out in Appendix C to the report (Section 5 
refers) be agreed;

i) the 2017-2020 Efficiency Plan as set out in Table 9 of the report (Section 5 refers) be 
endorsed;

j) the updated Discretionary Rates Relief Policy set out in Appendix D to the report, which has 
been updated to ensure it reflects current guidance and supports vulnerable or individual 
organisations through periods of pressure (Section 5 refers) be approved;

k) the estimates of amounts for the 2017/18 setting of the Council Tax Requirement, based on 
a 1.95% increase in the Copeland Borough Council element of the Council Tax, as proposed in 
the Elected Mayor & Executive’s Budget Proposals and the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
projections (Section 5 refers) be agreed;

l) continuation of the current Local Council Tax Support Scheme (Section 7 refers) be 
approved;

m) the Business Rates, Collection Fund Surplus and Council Tax Base positions as carried out 
under current delegation to the Section 151 Officer (Appendices E, F and G refer) be noted; 
and

n) the Statement of the Responsible Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer) (Section 8 refers) 
be noted.

3. 2017/18 Reserves and Balances Review (Item 7c)

a) the General Fund Risk Based Reserve (Balances) at least at £2 million for 2017/18 
(paragraph 2.10 refers) be retained;

Page 6



b) it be agreed to use £0.525 million of the General Unearmarked Reserve to support the 
budget in 2017/18 (paragraph 3.3 refers), noting that the Executive must continue to identify 
other potential efficiency and income generation opportunities in-year to minimise the need 
to call on this Reserve;

c) the outcome of the in-year review by the Review of Reserves Task and
Finish Group (paragraph 4.4 refers) be agreed; and

d) the proposed usage and contributions to the Earmarked Reserves as part of the 2017/18 
budget setting process (Tables 1 and 2 refer) be  agreed.

4. 2017-2020 CAPITAL PROGRAMME (Item 7d)

(a) the 2017-2020 Capital Programme be agreed;

(b) the Overview and Scrutiny Committee be requested to appoint a Task and Finish Group to 
consider the proposed Town Centres Regeneration Scheme in detail and to make proposals to 
the Executive, in April 2017, to include the points listed in paragraphs 2.3 to 2.7 of the report;

(c) it be noted that projects submitted are subject to further project appraisal approval at 
Executive on a separate occasion, before any expenditure is incurred; and

(d) the forecast resources position as detailed in Section 5 of the report be noted and the risks 
associated with any under achievement of the resources forecast be noted.

5. 2017/18 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT (TMSS), MINIMUM 
REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
(Item 7e)

the 2017/18 Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS), Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy Statement and the Annual Investment Strategy as set out in Appendix 1 to the report 
be approved, having due regard to the slight change in emphasis in investment strategy, 
compared to that for 2016/17, which is set out in Section 4.1 of the TMSS.

6. COUNCIL TAX SETTING COMMITTEE

That the appointment of a Council Tax Setting Committee comprising of the leaders of both 
groups, the deputy chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee and the chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to set the council tax requirement and the council tax level 
prior to the 11th March 2017 be approved.

The Meeting closed at 7.10 pm 

Mayor

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Executive Report to Full Council – 21 March 2017

Strategic Leadership - Mayor Mike Starkie

Copeland Growth Strategy

During February, we started consulting with the Community Regeneration Partnerships and 
Town Councils on the proposed content for the Town Growth Plans.  Most sessions have 
taken place, with Whitehaven just to complete.  The opportunity was also taken for Millom, 
Egremont and Cleator Moor to discuss the emerging Masterplans for their towns to show 
how growth can be developed spatially.  This work will continue alongside the Council’s 
updates on Site Allocations, Infrastructure Deficit, Employment Land and the Housing 
Strategy.  

The Copeland Growth Strategy is currently being updated following the local by-election.

Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP)

We are still waiting to hear back to see if the Council’s application to the Homes and 
Communities Agency for Capacity Funding has been successful.  These funds are to help the 
Council deal with the unprecedented levels of growth predicted through the impact of nuclear 
new build; the continued decommissioning at Sellafield and West Cumbria Mining.  

Cumbria LEP are also still waiting for the Growth Deal 3 confirmation of funding and 
consequently BEC are still to receive confirmation that £4.5M will be directed to support 
office development in Whitehaven Town Centre North.

Finance

The external audit of the 2015/16 Statement of Accounts is well underway, with weekly 
meetings being held between the Section 151 Officer and Grant Thornton.  It is anticipated 
that the Accounts will be submitted to the April meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee. Members will be advised if there is any change to this timescale.

In relation to 2016/17, a timetable has been drawn up to ensure we plan to meet the 30 June 
2017 deadline for closedown of the Council’s Acounts.

On 28 February 2017, the Council approved its budget, capital programme and treasury 
management strategy for 2017/18. The Section 151 Officer will work with Overview and 
Scrutiny’s Performance Sub Committee to continue to improve financial reporting for in-year 
monitoring for the 2017/18 financial year.

Page 9

Agenda Item 8



2

Rates Retention

On 7 March 2017, the Elected Mayor, Managing Director and Director of Commercial and 
Corporate Resources met with the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
to put Copeland Borough Council’s case for becoming a pilot for the 100% Business Rates 
Retention Scheme in 2018/19.  In addition, a case was made for the unique position the 
Council found itself in, in dealing with a substantial rating appeal last year.  The Secretary of 
State has asked us to work with his officials to put business cases together on these matters. 
Members will be kept informed of these matters as they progress.

Economic Growth – Deputy Mayor Councillor Lena Hogg

Copeland Work & Skills Partnership

The Copeland Work & Skills Programme is progressing well across the four key projects of IAG 
NVQ; Sector Based Work Academies, which to have supported employers such as McDonalds, 
Panoplie & Works 4 You; Employability Fund, and Apprentice Subsidies, which are currently 
placed with Horse & Husky, Bootle, with other employers such as Montreal School, SE 
Ceilings, West Coast Composting, Gosforth Nursery and Rosehill Theatre are in the process of 
recruitment

Progress to date

Workstream  Target Output Progress

IAG / NVQ 6 9 starts

Sector Based Scheme 45 40

Employability Fund 45 9

Area based subsidy  10 2

Regeneration Partnerships

The six Community Regeneration Partnerships are engaged in the emerging Growth Plans and 
Spatial Masterplans for each of the four towns.  We continue to work with them to identify 
opportunities to develop local schemes and develop resources and support.

Whitehaven Townscape Heritage Initiative (THI)

Works have completed on the Foyer (Former YMCA), with an expectation that the building 
will be open by the end of March.  We are still waiting for a date for the official opening.  45 
Market Plan (Former Flowers & Foliage) will be complete by the end of the month and work 

Page 10



3

is progressing on 32 James Street and 48/50 Market Place (Little Hong Kong), which will be 
finished before the summer. 

A Lime Masterclass held at Muncaster Castle was very successful with over 30 attendees.  It 
is proposed that further courses be held there next summer.  Joinery and laying setts 
masterclasses are also being planned to be held at The Foyer in the summer.  A creative 
writing workshop has been held at St. Benedict’s school, which gave an insight into the history 
of the area where the new public realm is and local poet Emma McGordon working with the 
students to create a poem for engraving into the backs of the seats. 

The Beacon is running visits for school children on behalf of the THI talking about the history 
of the THI area and the harbour. To date 6 schools have attended, reaching 165 children and 
28 adults. 10 further schools are booked in. 

Preventing Homelessness

‘The Housing Options Team’ prevented homelessness through housing 27 customers in 
private lets.    We have been successfully working actively with families and individuals to 
address housing issues early to reduce the numbers of residents presenting as homeless.  This 
has included continuing to develop our partner and joint working around issues arising from 
welfare reform impacts.

We continue to work with a wide range of partners to support people in their day to day life 
challenges and have joined two Cumbrian bids to DCLG.  Both were on a competitive basis 
and aimed at increasing resources to assist local residents obtain support and advice on 
housing options.  One was not successful but the other around crisis housing support has 
been.  The full details will be released later this month.

Empty Homes Initiative 

Our Empty Homes Officer has since 1st July 2016 been focusing on contacting long term empty 
property owners ie over six months empty.  So far there have been 21 successful 
interventions, the majority in quarter 3.  The strategy for activity in 2017/18 will be discussed 
at the Strategic Housing Panel this month.

New Funding to support community led housing 

Following the report to Executive in February 2017 a plan of our approach to spending the 
£193,768 Community Housing Funds has been submitted to the DCLG (Department of 
Communities and Local Government.  We are preparing to recruit a fixed term housing 
development worker to drive the Copeland Community Led Housing approach working closely 
with our housing partnership partners including the Lake District National Park.  The first year 
will focus on active awareness and engagement around the opportunity of community led 
housing using our localities.  We anticipate to be able to assist at least one early project in a 
rural community to provide two new affordable housing units able to support key worker 

Page 11



4

accommodation.  We have mapped our second homes and empty homes as part of the 
evidence gathering needed to inform the work.   The project will be discussed at the next 
Strategic Housing Panel.

Executive are requesting Full Council endorsement to receiving and spending the 2016/17 
Community Housing Fund grant of £193,768 to deliver the community led housing approach 
attached in appendix A to this report.  The delivery will be strategically managed by the 
Director of Customer and Community Services and overseen by the Portfolio Holder, Cllr 
Lena Hogg.

Private Sector Housing

The early findings of the Housing Condition Survey 2016, undertaken every four years, has 
been received.   This is drawing evidence from a 750-dwelling sample, representing 3% of all 
private dwellings in Copeland.  Survey investigation has included physical housing conditions, 
energy efficiency and the circumstances and attitudes of occupying households.  The Survey 
is based around our three housing market areas; Millom, West Lakes and Whitehaven.  Our 
private sector housing stock is 27,741 dwellings.  At the time of the survey, just under 92% 
are occupied and the remaining are vacant.  16.3% of the private sector housing is rented 
privately or are tied/rent free properties.  This compares to 23.7% nationally.  The survey data 
highlights that nearly 30% of our private sector households contain one person.  Around 11% 
all survey respondents indicated that at least one family member was affected by a long-term 
illness or disability, two thirds of these related to mobility impairment.  This is important detail 
to inform our DFG and other extra care needs analysis.   The survey findings will be shared 
with the Strategic Housing Panel later this month.

150 new referrals for Disabled Facilities Grants have been received by ‘The Private Sector 
Team’, whereas the other five Local Authorities, and the County Council Cumbria have seen 
a drop.  We have allocated 97% of our funding by the end of February 2017.  Out of these 
there have been 9 extensions, more than we usually receive in any one year.   We are needing 
to use our discretionary decision powers where these are over the formal national guidance 
maximum grant limit of £30,000. 52% of new referrals are from owner-occupiers, 46% are 
from RSL’s and 2% are in the private rented sector 

The team have dealt with a high number of unfit properties this year than in previous years.   
Of these 63 cases, 19 properties had Category One Hazards.   ‘The Private Sector Team’ 
inspectors visited and inspected 53 rent deposits referred by ‘The Housing Options Team’ and 
funded through the Council’s DCLG homelessness prevention resources.

Page 12



5

Nuclear and Corporate Services – Councillor David Moore

Support Services Review

The Support Services Review is now complete. There have been no compulsory redundancies. 
During the process 20 employees were accepted for voluntary redundancy.

The key figures are as follows:

 35 employees have been assimilated to roles at the same grade.
 9 employees have been appointed to roles which resulted in a promotion.
 7 employees have been appointed to roles where pay protection will be applied.
 13 employees have been appointed to roles which are career graded and will provide 

opportunities for promotion.
 4 employees voluntarily resigned to take up new roles after the consultation period was 

opened.
 The total costs for redundancy payments is £176k which was within the approval level 

set by the Executive.

Working Differently – Accommodation Strategy

A meeting has been held with Equitix (our landlord), Kier (the contractors), Sapphire (the sub-
contractors to Kier) and their Quantity Surveyor to make sure the costs are kept within the 
budget.  A further verbal update will be provided to the Council meeting by the Portfolio 
Holder as some key additional meetings are held in the next week.

Commercial Strategy

A business case has been developed highlighting income generation opportunities that can 
be achieved through advertising and sponsorship.  A draft report has been produced to take 
the business case to Executive for approval in April 2017, along with an Advertising and 
Sponsorship Policy.

The first auction for the Copeland Big Switch has now been completed.  In total, we had 222 
registrations which is a big success given £0 spend on advertising and limited IT resource.  We 
now move into the post-auction phase which involves contacting applicants to ensure they 
are able to realise their potential savings.  In total 72% of registrants were able to make a 
saving with the average saving being £128.53.  The next auction through iChoosr is in April 
2017, we have had positive feedback from a couple of customers ‘delighted with their offer’. 
It is anticipated word of mouth and publicity will help build traction on this project.

An initial meeting was held with Bright Spark Creative to discuss business objectives, strategy 
and brand position of the new commercial services sub-branding.  Bright Spark has provided 

Page 13



6

us with an initial range of designs and has agreed to carry out some further work to show how 
these designs would look on a commercially focused website.

A stakeholder engagement exercise was carried out requesting input on commercial 
opportunities from staff and members.  Some commercial opportunity reports were received 
and we will now look to put a programme of work together up to March 2020.

We are pursuing fact finding on Low Carbon Transport, with a view to building a business case, 
through the OLEV (Office for Low Emission Vehicles).

The 5 case business model is being drafted for the Whitehaven Town Centre decentralised 
heat network; currently we are building the complex techno-economic model in line with 
government guidance.

Nuclear New Build – The Moorside Project

Local stakeholders are still waiting to hear the outcome of the design review and optioneering 
process that NuGeneration Ltd commenced in the autumn of last year, in addition to hearing 
how the scheme design might change to reflect the comments made and the project 
information gaps identified through the consultation process. Stakeholders are expecting 
further details soon on this to allow adequate time to consider the implications of the scheme 
design in advance of likely further stakeholder engagement/consultation later this year and a 
submission for Development Consent by NuGen to Government.

In the meantime, officers continue to work with County Council colleagues on a range of 
work-streams on establishing a robust evidence base and planning policy context for the 
project and assessment of impacts and potential mitigations for the project including around 
Health Impact Assessment, Associated Development sites and environmental matters.

Nuclear New Build Local Authorities Group (NNLAG)

The New Nuclear Local Authorities Group (NNLAG) consists of 15 Local Authorities from 
across the UK who are likely to be affected by and benefit from proposals for new nuclear 
power stations either within or close to their boundaries. The Group, which is a special 
interest group affiliated to the Local Government Association held its annual conference at 
Summergrove on Thursday 9th March.

The NNLAG’s primary aim is to share knowledge, information and best practice regarding the 
process of developing new nuclear power stations from a local authority perspective, and to 
provide a mechanism for local authorities, as elected representatives of local areas, to discuss 
and make representations as necessary direct to Government regarding the development of 
new nuclear and of nuclear-related connection and transmission projects.

The Conference attracted around 50 delegates in total and was attended by the Elected 
Mayor and Members of the Councils NSIPs Panel. Delegates received presentations covering 

Page 14



7

a wide range of subjects including the housing, transport, skills and tourism impacts of nuclear 
new build. There was also an opportunity for delegates to hear updates from local authority 
colleagues on proposals in their areas including Hinkley Point in Somerset, Wylfa in Anglesey 
and Sizewell in Suffolk as well the latest information on the proposals from NuGeneration Ltd 
for the Moorside project in Copeland.

Nuclear Team

Following a recruitment process Dr Nick Barron has been appointed to the post of Nuclear 
Manager. It is envisaged that Nick will be starting work with the Council in early April.

North West Coast Connections Project

National Grid are currently reviewing the responses received in January in relation to the 
Stage 2 consultation for the North West Coast Connections Project, which was launched in 
October and ran until 6th January. National Grid have confirmed that they have had over 8000 
individual responses to their latest proposals to provide a 400kV connection for the new 
nuclear power station at Moorside to the national network. The Council response was 
submitted in January.  Since then National Grid have commenced a programme of 
engagement meetings with officers in the PPA Group of Cumbria and Lancashire local 
authorities to explore potential impacts and mitigations alongside consideration of the DCO 
process going forward and the framework for a potential s106 agreement. Following full 
consideration of the responses National Grid may well make additional changes to the 
scheme, some of which may require further engagement with stakeholders which may 
include further public consultation depending on the scale of the changes proposed. 
Indications are that a submission for Development Consent is likely later this year although 
the exact date still to be confirmed.

Customers and Communities – Councillor Dave Banks

Health and Wellbeing

We continue to organise and chair the Copeland Health and Wellbeing Forum.  Forum 
members have been engaged in the CCG (clinical commissioning group) development work 
on an Integrated Care Community (ICC) arrangement for Copeland drawing on the pilot work 
over the past year in two other areas of the County.  The forum provides a route to a range 
of partners through its representatives to assist the development of the Copeland ICC.  All the 
district based Forums are represented at the Public Health Alliance where county wide issues 
and research is discussed.  In the past quarter there has been a focus on child obesity, a key 
priority for Copeland.

The Forum priorities have informed and agreed the detail of the commissioning approach for 
the £120,000 public health resource allocation to the County Council Copeland Local Area 
Committee.  Over half of this resource will be used to underpin a Childrens Healthy Lifestyles 

Page 15



8

approach in Copeland.   Dental health, obesity, fitness levels and healthy eating are combined 
in this approach for the next 2-3 years.  Additional funding is being sought to extend the length 
of the programme to 4-5 years to ensure the approach is effectively embedded through the 
local school infrastructure.  It is anticipated this core work will be complemented by the local 
activities of voluntary and community sector activity, through working with families and 
parents and linking to well established activity of the local family centres.  Other agreed  
projects are a) keeping people safe and well in their own home through addressing hoarding 
(this project will be led by Copeland Borough Council); and b) alcohol awareness and 
reduction scheme targeted at residents over 40.  Further commitments have been made to 
develop projects to a) addressing health inequalities through working collaboratively with 
young people’s projects; and b) focusing on the impact of licensing enforcement on both 
tobacco and alcohol.

Waste and Recycling Service

The new waste vehicles have been out on service runs for the past month.  This has been 
very welcome in line with the age of the previous vehicles.  Alongside modern and efficient 
vehicles the new ICT system for waste services agreed as part of the 2013 budget reduction 
requirements is currently testing in cab devices to provide real time information on service 
delivery at the kerbside.  The system has a range of modules which will continue to be 
tested over the coming six months before final sign off.   

The Council is a core member of the Cumbria Waste partnership.  The partnership has been 
working with WRAP, the government funded recycling support and advice resource.  This 
research and investigation on harmonising recycling across the County has reported in the 
last quarter setting out the current benchmarking for all the districts as recycling collection 
authorities.   Copeland has been waiting on this detail to inform the design of our expanded 
recycling service in 2017.  We will be collecting five recyclates at kerbside at Copeland 
residential properties.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee have agreed to a task and 
finish group to assist with designing the best fit collection options, communication and 
campaigning.  Most importantly the Council is preparing to shift its service approach to one 
of recycling with residual material being collected in black bins rather than waste with 
recycling on side.  Four new recycling vehicles have been scoped with an order ready to be 
placed within our existing contract extension arrangement.  

The green waste service calendars have shifted with a slightly later start (was early now late 
March) and finish (was October now November) to the season.

Update Parks and Open Spaces 

An internal review of the working arrangements at the Crematorium and Cemetery Service 
has been undertaken in the last quarter highlighting options and opportunities for improving 
the service and managing available capacity.  A restructure and business case is being finalised 

Page 16



9

for the staffing changes required to go to formal consultation with staff after Easter.  Over 
the next six months we will prepare and produce a development strategy and business plan 
for the Crematorium and Cemeteries service.  This will take account of the strong demand for 
this service, the commitment by the Council to provide a good service at this sensitive time 
for residents and the commercial setting in which it works.   

This current period is our active time in terms of contract negotiation and bidding.  We are 
needing to rebid for a number of long standing contracts and are looking at new 
opportunities.  We are improving our contract management as part of the support service 
review and looking to ensure our capacity and skill base is fit for purpose for the contract 
work planned and being pursued.

Beacon Update 

The Museum has worked extremely hard to bolster the low season in quarter 4 in 
comparison to other years.  Events

February 2017 half term events were particularly successful in generating both footfall and 
retail turnover with a range of events celebrating the arrival of the Norse hoard display at 
the museum.  In five days we had over 1200 people involved at various points with 
Children’s Viking trails, all ages storytelling and Adult Murder mystery events. 

We also hosted in early March a Polish cultural day in the museum, with around 120 people 
from Polish families visiting the museum to engage with activities around our Polish paper 
cuts exhibition. 

Copeland Pass

The museum set a target of 1000 Copeland passes for the current period and we are 
currently on 1057.   Up until 12th March we have seen a 13% increase in footfall from last 
year and the introduction of the free Copeland pass mechanism has seen admissions 
increase by 243% . From a retail perspective this local pass has also been beneficial, with 
turnover increasing by 41% . 

Coming soon

In the months ahead we expect March takings and footfall to be significantly down on the 
year due to the timings of both Easter and of last year’s Aliens exhibition.  This Easter’s 
Mechanicals blockbuster will deliver an innovative and eye-catching exhibition for the Easter 
rush, and with lower bottom line costs than last year should offer greater profitability. 

We also have an upcoming Piracy exhibition with a major national loan from The National 
Maritime Museum called Hero or Villain? Mythbusting Piracy. This type of national museum 
collaboration and loan is a first for the museum and part of our business plan expectation 
from the new commercial approach. 

Page 17



10

For the family, plans are in place to replicate the successful model from the Viking half term 
week in creating a Pirate themed self-led event. We believe that we have developed a 
consistently high quality but cost effective means to draw in larger local crowds, as well as 
the Easter getaway rush being drawn to the Blockbuster. 

The museum will also be hosting a number of talks and adult events around the themes of 
the Piracy exhibition during April and May. 

Beacon Expansion 

Following the fourth floor Light and Dark Gallery opening last October, we are planning for 
the new mini Beacon building to be open to use in early May.  This £1.5m capital project, 
externally funded, is delivering against the development plans set out in the five year 
business plan to ensure more capacity to increase income and cultural delivery.  This 
building which mirrors the Beacon main building has two levels, is glass fronted with great 
views of the Harbour and will be multi-functional including the potential for high tech 
opportunities within.  The Centre will open in conjunction with the museum returning to its 
original entrance and shop format on the first floor, along with dedicated parking facilities. 

Welfare Reform

The Council has built good working relationships with partners to assist residents impacted 
by welfare changes.  We are about to enter into our third year of a Delivery Partnership 
Agreement with DWP (Dept of Works and Pensions).   The arrangement as in previous years 
provides grant to enable us to offer Universal Support for Universal Credit recipients with 
complex cases.   The figure of grant for 2017/18 is £49,741, less than last year.  We will be 
passing on an element of this in grant to both CAB and PEC (phoenix enterprise centre) to 
undertake the work on live and full service around digital support and personal budgeting 
support.   We have also had our government contribution for the Discretionary Housing 
Payment, an increase of just under £25,000 to £209,523.   We have spent 95% of our 
allocation for 2016/17 by the end of February.

Customer Services and Website

The internal website group has now been reconvened and is undertaking scoping 
preparations in readiness for a brief to go out to commission a new fit for purpose website 
after Easter.  Current plans anticipate a new website in place by October 2017.

Page 18



COMMUNITY HOUSING FUND SUMMARY COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL

Page 1 of 3

Appendix A Community Housing Fund – summary of spending plans

Copeland Borough Council  –  March 2017 

Intended use of the Fund – revenue support to groups  
We will ensure resources are available for groups to access specialist support to explore and 
develop a range of models and opportunities.  We have one group in a position to access this funding 
quickly and anticipate at least one other in the first year able to use these resources to explore ideas.  We 
see this funding as an opportunity for local groups including parishes to explore an approach that 
encourages creative and locally relevant solutions alongside enabling capacity building.  In 
Copeland we will need to direct resources to encourage engagement and identify communities 
willing to engage and then ensure access to technical support.   We will procure a technical team 
framework either in Copeland specifically or through a joint approach in Cumbria.  Groups will be 
able to request technical support resources either through this framework or to procure their own advice 
and professional support.  We are keen to ensure communities are assisted with viability and feasibility 
studies relating to projects, particularly where there is no or limited existing capacity locally within the 
community led model being developed.   We will aim to link with other funds to ensure best use of this
resource. 

Intended use of the Fund – capital 
Copeland has an aspiration set out in its housing strategy to strengthen our housing mix to underpin 
sustainable settlements.  Our community led housing plan expects to enable two additional homes in the 
first year, and another two to four in the next two years.  It is difficult to state this with certainty at this 
stage as it relies on a range of local factors which have yet to be mobilised.

Recognising that the first year is more around capacity building, awareness, investigation of 
opportunities and early development we have one project that we expect a community group to 
develop in Eskdale Valley refurbishing an existing building to provide two homes.  We expect to provide 
enabling and refurbishment grants and technical assistance in this first year.
We anticipate the spend on capital will increase year on year and will be used for a creative and locally 
relevant mix of affordable housing, mixed tenure and key worker accommodation. Our plan will:

 Look at opportunities where small sites have been allocated in Copeland and the Lake 
District National Park local plans which could benefit from this approach;

 Help to secure land or building opportunities and enabling grants to progress;
 Contribute and offer catalyst funding for a range of routes and mechanisms including

o Rural developments of under 4 units;
o Renovations or sub dividing existing properties possibly on a co-housing or 

partnership approach;
o Bringing empty homes into a community led approach and into permanent 

residential use;
o Local land purchase and banking within a community – this could be via 

Community land trust approaches in a small distinct neighbourhood or across a 
wider area of the borough;

o A vehicle to encourage landowners to release land where perpetuity of tenure can 
be assured;

o Linking with existing developers, social, community and private.

We would like to use the fund to create a small revolving loan fund to enable a sustainable approach for 
this limited resource and where other partners, including Moorside and other growth opportunities, may 
be able to engage in assisting and sustaining this approach.  This will be considered during the first year of 
activity.  In particular, we will aim for some capital grant to be repaid and recycled if some schemes are part 
funded by market housing cross subsidy sales.

Page 19



COMMUNITY HOUSING FUND SUMMARY COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL

Page 2 of 3

Intended use of the Fund – joint plans across your sub-region
Early discussions between the four Cumbrian districts receiving the funding, the local rural community 
service body, ACT (Action in Cumbria), and the Lake District National Park has highlighted a potential for a 
collaborative community housing hub approach, including digital on line resources.  We are currently 
sharing information, materials, case examples and good practice.  We expect joint plans to be developed 
during the first year of delivery which may include a shared enabling service.

Advice obtained
We have linked with ACT and a community led housing and CLT (community land trust) specialist to 
investigate the opportunities and opportunities from this resource and develop this plan.   This specialist 
CLT adviser, affiliated to the CLT Network, has provided case input in line with the previous role as CLT 
Officer for Cumbria leading to around 50 CLT homes.  The information and support in preparing our 
approach picked up a range of support around CLH models, funding, company forms, approach to viability, 
CLT Network support which will be part of the Hub approach needed as we implement.   
We are linking and working with the Lake District National Park where we have specific affordability issues 
in our deep rural settlements.  We will be discussing our CLH approach at three key partnership meetings to 
share and shape the detail of the Plan and finalise the delivery arrangements for 2017/18.  These are the 
Copeland Housing Partnership with our RPs and other housing partners and our three tier and locality 
partnerships building on the locality and community planning framework in the borough.  

Existing local activity
There are currently no CLH groups in Copeland.  There has been a successful self-build scheme with housing 
association affordable element on Council owned land in Whitehaven.  We are aware of a) community
planning ideas and discussions at parish level, b) a community based scheme within Eskdale and c) local 
exploration of housing requirements around older persons and extra care in some areas.   Our recently 
established self-build register currently has a small number of interested individuals.  

Intended use of the Fund – developing your plans for the fund 
We recognise the value of community led housing as an opportunity within all our neighbourhoods 
particularly our smaller rural settlements.  Identifying early interventions will be key to 
building local confidence as will ensuring capacity building and technical resources are available.  In scoping 
Copeland issues we are keen to use the resource on solution focussed approaches.  

In the first year, we will focus on a borough wide awareness promotion and focused community 
engagement using our existing community/ locality infrastructure.   We plan to recruit a project worker to 
provide the necessary capacity to drive this agenda and engagement approach.   This will enable residents 
and communities to a) seriously consider the opportunity of a community led housing approach; 
b) build capacity with local groups interested in developing themselves to be able to set up and run a 
project and c) link within and across localities to progress ideas and development plans.  

We will develop written resources and events to ensure community groups, Parish and Town Councils have 
a good understanding of the full range of community led housing and link to local project development 
support from specialists and partner organisations to scope projects.  All these resources will be through a 
hub basis at Copeland or developed at a Cumbria level.  The hub would at its core have access to personnel 
available to a) build community knowledge / identify need and possible projects, and b) link to 
development expertise.   Housing providers would be available to provide additional project development 
in partnership as required.

We intend to follow this boroughwide approach with targeted engagement, support and delivery to areas 
where second homes are a challenge for the sustainability of the community.  Having mapped our second 
home data we are aware that we have issues linked to second homes as worker accommodation for 
individuals employed in the nuclear sector in Copeland.  We plan to explore development activity by the 
project worker in those areas where we have both empty and second home impact.

Page 20



COMMUNITY HOUSING FUND SUMMARY COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL

Page 3 of 3

By the end of the first year, we will use our engagement outcome and development activity to set out a 
clear policy position and pipeline of actions and targeted developments for the remaining four years of the 
funding.

Other plans
Empty homes are of concern to a number of neighbourhoods and we have used HCA resources in recent 
years to bring two bungalows back into residential.  We have an existing worker, funded through New 
Homes Bonus, focused on this activity to complement and inform this plan.

We will use our joint working arrangements on our growth and housing enabling activity particularly with 
local social landlords to explore ideas with community groups and link to local landlords such as local 
alms-houses and the National Trust in working within neighbourhoods in the first year to promote and 
identify potential schemes.

We have good local links through our existing infrastructure and anticipate minimal use of the fund 
to broker linkages and partnership working.  We will use the project worker, linking with our procured
specialist advisers, to develop materials, case studies and facilitate local investigations.  These will help to 
widen the opportunities for community led housing, catalysed by this funding, from other growth 
opportunities within the borough. 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



  
FULL 210317 

 
CUMBRIA CHOICE BASED LETTINGS – ALLOCATION POLICY REVISIONS 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Councillor Lena Hogg 
LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Director of Customer and Community 

Services 
REPORT AUTHOR: Julie Betteridge 
 
WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND 
RESIDENTS 
 
The review of Cumbria Choice Based Letting has enabled revisions to the 
Allocations Policy to ensure the approach for our residents and potential 
residents remains inclusive and relevant to the current context and our 
Homelessness and Tenancy Strategies. 
  
WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO FULL COUNCIL? 
(eg Key Decision, Policy recommendation for Full Council, at request of 
Council, etc.) 
 
The revisions to the Cumbria Choice Allocations Policy are being 
recommended to Full Council for approval. 
 

RECOMMENDATION:                                                                               
 
Full Council are recommended by the Council’s Executive to  
a)  note the policy review of Cumbria Choice by the Cumbria Choice Based 
Letting Partnership of which the council is a member; 
b)  approve the revised Allocations Policy at Appendix A.  
 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Cumbria Choice is the main route into social housing for the majority of 

people in Cumbria.   The six District Councils are all members of the 
Cumbria Choice Based Letting Partnerships and have adopted this 
common Allocation Policy so that customers within the districts covered by 
the six Councils are assessed on the same basis and have the same 
access to apply for any social housing vacancies across that whole 
district.  The Cumbria Choice scheme applies to all those properties to 
which Copeland Borough Council has rights of nomination (whether by 
way of a legally enforceable arrangement or not) of the tenant.  This 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9



includes properties owned by the three social housing providers in the 
borough. 

 
1.2 The policy statement and aims of the scheme are set out within the policy 

document and are specifically to meet the requirement under the Housing 
Act 1996, section 166A (1) England for every local housing authority in 
England to have an allocation for determining priorities, and the procedure 
to be followed, in allocating housing accommodation. 

 
2. PROPOSAL 
 
2.1 One key area of revision has been in ensuring the policy context is 

updated and recent statutory guidance included within the allocations 
policy.   This includes right to move statutory guidance where a target has 
been set of at least 5% of allocations for people moving to a different 
district for employment purposes, including 1% from outside Cumbria.  
This has been added into the Band C hardship criteria.  

 
2.2 The review has enabled attention to accessibility and choice including 

where possible the advertising of properties will be in a variety of formats 
in a diverse range of venues. It has strengthened the commitment to 
equality and diversity and disability needs, including the recognition and 
ensuring of processes to increase understanding and support to access 
the scheme. 

 
2.3 As expected the opportunity has been taken to offer more clarity into the 

detail of the scheme eg in managing incomplete applications, regarding 
property condition with providing information required or how registration 
dates formally apply.   The definition of terms has been amended with 
some additions for clarity. 

 
2.4 Section 3 of the policy addresses the priority for housing and the banding 

approach.   Here additions have been made to the criteria for Bands A, B 
and C around disability and medical conditions, overcrowding, armed 
forces and move on and supported accommodation.   A new section on 
Armed Forces has been added and the homeless households and 
management discretion have been expanded to offer stronger guidance 
and process.   

 
2.5 Local authorities have a right to reduce a person’s priority for housing 

under their allocation policy.  The revisions are cognisant of welfare reform 
issues and have looked in detail at the process around debt from current 
as well as former housing related debt.  The revised policy sets out how 
the Council will work with Cumbria Choice and the social landlord enabling 
‘highly exceptional and significant circumstances’ to be used where the 
‘need to move is considered urgent’. 

Page 24



 
2.6 The definitions of a local connection have been extended to include 

reference to armed forces, ill health and nearness to family and 
experience domestic violence, harassment and or hate crime. The ability 
for partner organisations to draw up local lettings policies has not changed 
in this revision.  All such arrangements are already reviewed by the 
Partnership and will from this revision, if accepted, be equality impact 
assessed for fairness. 

 
3. CONCLUSIONS 

 
3.1 The revisions proposed to the current Cumbria Choice Allocations Policy 

are the result of a full policy review and discussions with stakeholders 
during 2015/16.   The revisions have enabled more clarity, updated to take 
account of more recent statutory guidance and paid greater attention and 
detail to a number of gaps around equality and diversity, disability and 
armed forces references and processes.  The Council has been active in 
this review as a member of the partnership.  

 
3.2 Executive have looked at the revisions to the Cumbria Choice Allocations 

Policy following this detailed review and are recommending that Full 
Council adopt these changes as set out in Appendix A. 

 
4.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
 
4.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are:  
 
4.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are:  No financial implications from 

this report. 
 
4.3  EIA Comments:   The Cumbria Choice Based Letting Partnership have 

undertaken a full EIA on the Allocations Policy and the revisions.  The 
review paid full attention to equality and diversity issues including rurality 
as part of its work.  The outcome is that the revisions have strengthened 
this element within the policy to ensure protected characteristics is 
understood and addressed. 

  
4.4 Policy Framework:  The Council’s Corporate Strategy adopted in February 

2016 sets out the Council’s mission “To make Copeland a better place to 
live, work and visit”.   Our allocations policy enables our residents to 
access social housing fairly within the Cumbria Choice Based Lettings 
Scheme. 

 
4.5 Other Consultee Comments, if any:  The review and policy revisions have 

been part of a year-long Cumbria Partnership approach engaging with a 
range of stakeholders. 

Page 25



 
5.      WHAT ARE THE LEGAL, FINANCIAL AND HUMAN RESOURCES 
IMPLICATIONS?  
 
5.1 The strategic housing team work in partnership with Cumbria Choice and 

an effective allocations policy is core to the housing options service.  The 
Council is formally part of the Cumbria Choice Based Letting Partnership 
which will implement the policy. 

 
6.       HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW  
 ARE THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED? 
 
6.1 Cumbria Choice will implement the policy and use their officer to engage 

with the district councils.   Both the Partnership and the Council housing 
service will monitor and address any operational risks and raise any 
issues back to the Partnership. 

 
7. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
7.1 Implementation is led by Cumbria Choice staff.  No further resources to 

the existing operational and operational engagement is required from the 
Council. 

 
8.      WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM 
THIS REPORT? 
 
8.1 Fair and clear access by Copeland residents to the Cumbria Choice. 
 
List of Appendices  
 
Appendix A – Allocations Policy with revisions – January 2017 
 
List of Background Documents: 
 
Previous Allocations Policy, Cumbria Choice review papers. 
 
 

Page 26



 

 1 

 

 
 

Allocations Policy with revisions  
(2015/16 policy review) 

 
CONTENTS 

 
 

 Summary of the Scheme:  Page 4 

 
                                                                                

Section 1        Introduction and Background:  Page 5 - 12 

 
1.1 Members of the Cumbria Choice Based Letting Partnership 
1.2 Policy statement 
1.3 Aims of the scheme 
1.4 Statement on choice 
1.5 The Partnership 
1.6 Equality and Diversity 
1.7 Accessibility 
1.8 Monitoring 
1.9 Information sharing, confidentiality and data protection 
 
 

Section 2       The Common Housing Register:  Page 13 - 19 

 
2.1 Who can apply 
2.2 How to apply 
2.3 References 
2.4 Police checks/information 
2.5 Notification of registration 
2.6 Changes in circumstances 
2.7 Reviewing the register 
2.8 Cancelling applications 
2.9 Giving false information  
2.10 Deliberate worsening of circumstances 
 
 

Page 27



 

 2 

 

Section 3       Assessing Housing Need:  Page 20 - 32 

 
3.1 Priority for housing 
3.2 Waiting time – The ‘Effective’ Date 
3.3 Management discretion 
3.4 Homeless households 
3.5 Households with a disability or medical need 
3.6 Serious offenders and public protection 
3.7 Exempt allocations 
3.8 Armed forces 
 
 

Section 4  Reasonable Preference Categories, Community 
                  Contribution and Reduced Preference:  Page 33 - 48                                   

 
4.1 Part 7 – People who are Homeless  
4.2 Households owed a Homeless Duty 
4.3 People in unsanitary, overcrowded or unsatisfactory housing  
4.4 Households with a Medical, Welfare, (including Disability) 

housing need.   
4.5 Households needing to move on Hardship grounds  
4.6 Economic and community contribution 
4.7 Cumulative preference 
4.8 Reduced preference 
 
 

Section 5       How the Scheme Operates:               Page 49 - 55 

 
5.1 Advertising properties 
5.2 Extra care properties 
5.3 Sheltered housing 
5.4 Quota system 
5.5 The ‘Bidding’ process 
5.6 Proxy bids 
5.7 Shortlisting 
5.8 Local connection 
5.9 Section 106s 
5.10 The offer  
5.11 Refusing and non replies to offers 
5.12 Local lettings 
5.13 Feedback on lettings 
5.14 Other options 
 

Page 28



 

 3 

 
 

Section 6      The Review Process: Page 56 - 57 

 
6.1 The Review process 
 
 

Section 7       Appendices:  Page 58 - 94 

 
7.1 Appendix 1 - Definition of terms  
7.2 Appendix 2 - Contact details for all partner organisations 
7.3 Appendix 3 - Eligibility criteria 
7.4 Appendix 4  - Household type and property size 
7.5 Appendix 5 - Accessibility Policy 
7.6 Appendix 6 - Right to Move qualifying criteria 
7.7 Appendix 7 - Move on from supported accommodation form 
7.8 Appendix 8 – Supported Housing Providers 
7.9 Appendix 9 - Bankruptcy or Debt Relief Orders (DRO) 
7.10 Appendix 10 – Local Letting Policies 
7.11 Appendix 11 – Disability and Medical Needs Assessment 

Procedure and Criteria 
7.12 Appendix 12 - Person(s) Who Will Take Specific Decisions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



 

 4 

Summary of the Scheme 

 
 
Cumbria Choice is a sub regional scheme for letting most of the social rented 
property in Cumbria.  It is a partnership between the 6 Local Districts and 8 social 
housing providers.  
 
It is managed through a web based computer system however this does not 
exclude people who do not have access to a computer and every effort has been 
made to make this policy and the process fully accessible.   
 
To be part of the scheme customers need to apply to the Common Housing 
Register.  There is only one application form and customers will be placed on 
the register if they meet the eligibility criteria. 
 
Priority for housing is awarded through a ‘Banding’ system that places people in 
one of five Bands according to their housing needs. 
 
The majority of properties are advertised and customers are able to exercise 
choice by registering an interest in the property.   
 
Customers are only able to express an interest in properties that meet their 
requirements.  For example adapted property and some ground floor 
accommodation will be for customers with particular medical or disability needs 
and/or for older persons. 
  
At the end of the advertising period a shortlist is compiled, taking into account: 
the Band of the customer, the ‘effective’ date of the application and any local 
connection. 
 
Usual practice is that customers at the top of the shortlist are offered the 
property. 
 
In certain situations exceptions to the policy will apply and examples of these 
are detailed in the policy.  These exceptions, which include ‘management 
discretion’ or ‘local lettings policies’ allow the individual partners to respond 
appropriately to certain individual housing need and to effectively manage their 
housing stock.  All exceptions to the general policy will be recorded and 
monitored to ensure that they are applied fairly.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



 

 5 

 
 

Section 1        Introduction and Background 

 
1.1 Members of the Cumbria Choice Based Letting Partnership  
 
The following are members of the Cumbria Choice Based Letting Partnership, 
called ‘The Cumbria Partnership’: 
 
Allerdale Borough Council 
Barrow Borough Council  
Carlisle City Council 
Copeland Borough Council 
Eden District Council 
South Lakeland District Council  
 
The six Councils have adopted this common Allocation Policy so that customers 
within the districts covered by the six Councils are assessed on the same basis 
and have the same access to apply for any social housing vacancies across that 
whole district. 
 
The scheme applies not only to properties in the Councils’ own housing stock 
(i.e. those owned by any of the Councils if applicable) but also to all those 
properties to which any of the Councils have rights of nomination (whether by 
way of a legally enforceable arrangement or not) of the tenant.  Properties to 
which the Councils have rights of nomination of the tenant include properties 
owned by the following Social Housing Providers: 
 
Accent Housing 
Eden Housing 
Home Group  
Impact Housing   
Riverside Housing 
South Lakes Housing  
Two Castles Housing 
Your Derwent & Solway 
 
The participating Social Housing Providers listed above are obliged to advertise 
vacant properties in accordance with this policy.  In addition all of the Social 
Housing Providers listed above have adopted the Council’s allocation policy so 
that there is a common allocation policy ensuring that applicants within the Sub 
Region who apply to the Council or a participating Social Housing Provider are 
assessed on the same basis and have access to apply for any vacancies either 
within their district and to a percentage across the Sub Region. 
 
The scheme formally applies to all properties to which Allerdale Borough 
Council, Barrow Borough Council, Carlisle City Council, Copeland Borough 
Council, Eden District Council and South Lakeland District Council have rights 
of nomination (whether by way of a legally enforceable arrangement or not) of 
the tenant.  Properties to which the Council have rights of nomination of the 
tenant include properties owned by Accent Housing, Your Derwent & Solway, 

Page 31



 

 6 

Eden Housing, Home Group including Copeland Homes, Impact Housing, 
Riverside and Two Castles Housing.   
 
To improve the service to customers and to avoid duplication a customer can 
apply to any of the participating housing organisations listed above unless they 
are a former tenant/applicant in which case they will need to apply to their 
previous landlord.  
 
Any significant changes to this policy will need to be approved at a senior level 
for each participating Local Authority.  The relevant decision-making bodies of 
the Social Housing Providers, namely the Board, will also need to consider and 
endorse any changes that the Local Authorities wish to make to the policy.  Any 
changes will also be subject to consultation with relevant statutory and voluntary 
sector organisations and tenant representatives. 
 

 Contact details for all partners are listed in Appendix 2. 
 
In developing this policy the partnership has referred to the following guidance 
and housing legislation: 
 
Housing Act 1996, Part 6 (Wales), Part 6 as amended by Localism Act 2011 
(England):  
 
S.11 Children Act 2004.  
 
Codes of Guidance England:  
 
A Allocation of Accommodation: Guidance for Local housing Authorities in 

England (2012, DCLG) “the Code”;  
 
B Providing social housing for local people: Statutory guidance on social 

housing allocations for local authorities in England (DCLG, December 
2013) “Supplementary Code”.  

 
Plus the following statutory regulations:  
 
A Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997, SI 1997/483;  
 
B Allocation of Housing (England) Regulations 2002, SI 2002/3264;  
 
C Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) 

Regulations 2006, SI 2006/1294;  
 
D Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) (England) 

Regulations 2012, SI 2012/1869;  
 
E Housing Act 1996 (Additional Preference for Armed Forces) (England) 

Regulations 2012, SI 2012/2989.  
 
F The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move) 

(England) Regulations 2015 
 

Page 32



 

 7 

G In framing our allocations scheme we have also had regard to the 
participating Councils’ Homelessness Strategies and the Tenancy 
Strategies.  

 
Equality Legislation and Guidance 
 
The partnership will ensure that its policy is applied in accordance with the 
current equality legislation (Equality Act 2010) and with the relevant statutory 
codes and guidance. 
 
The operation of the policy has been subject to an Equality Audit and Impact 
Assessment and this will be regularly reviewed. 
 
1.2 Policy Statement 
 
Cumbria Choice is the main route into social housing for the majority of people 
seeking such housing in Cumbria.  This policy will aim to treat those applying to 
the scheme fairly and flexibly; will be inclusive of all groups and the procedure 
will be transparent.   
 
Cumbria Choice will provide greater choice for applicants but the demand for 
housing will continue to be greater than the supply.  However through good 
quality communication with customers the scheme will enable people to be clear 
about their prospects of being offered accommodation.  
 
For people unlikely to be offered accommodation through the scheme there will 
be advice about alternative housing options.  There will be information on the 
website, in written material and other formats on options such as; mutual 
exchanges, the private rented sector, low cost home ownership and shared 
ownership properties.   
 
The partnership intends the allocation policy to have a positive effect on local 
communities by increasing tenant satisfaction with their housing, and by 
contributing to the development of stable communities.  The partnership aims to 
provide a high quality service to its customers and intends to work together to 
continue to develop the scheme to find joint solutions to housing problems, 
including those of homelessness.    
 
The partnership acknowledges that some customers applying to the scheme will 
not be eligible to register under the qualification rules due to previous 
unacceptable behaviour, such as anti-social behaviour.  The policy aims to be 
open and transparent as to the reasons for exclusions and gives advice on the 
possible actions a customer can take to subsequently gain acceptance onto the 
register in the future.  
 
Partners are committed to developing a common lettings approach that is easily 
understood by customers.  However, the partnership recognises the need for 
different approaches to apply in different areas which meet the particular needs 
of these areas and the needs and objectives of different organisations.  Local 
lettings policies and approaches are therefore accommodated within the policy.  
Where a specific policy or process applies it will be covered by a written 
document and made available by the organisation operating the policy/process. 

Page 33



 

 8 

 
Additionally, each individual provider will have its own approach to tackling 
welfare reform.  For example, different approaches will be taken for dealing with 
under-occupation.  These approaches will be published in parallel with, but 
separate from, this allocation policy. 
 
1.3 Aims of the Scheme 
 
The main purpose of the policy is to meet the requirement under the Housing 
Act 1996, section 166A (1) England for every local housing authority in England 
to have an allocation for determining priorities, and the procedure to be followed, 
in allocating housing accommodation.  For this purpose ‘procedure’ includes all 
aspects of the allocation process, including the persons or descriptions of 
persons by whom decisions are taken. 
 
In developing this policy the Partnership has agreed the following aims: 
 
To reduce the use of temporary accommodation for homeless applicants and to 
assist with prevention by making customers aware of their potential housing 
choices and the alternative options available to them e.g. private sector, low cost 
home ownership.  
 
To increase the availability of move-on accommodation to prevent ‘blockages’ in 
supported housing schemes. 
 
To ensure a lettings service that embraces equality and diversity by being open 
and fully accessible to all individuals and to provide support to customers where 
needed.  
 
To improve the means by which local people in Cumbria gain access to social 
rented housing by providing a modern and easy to understand allocation system 
which allows choice and is fair, transparent and accountable. 
 
To encourage residents to access employment and to recognise residents who 
make a contribution to a local community. 
 
To make the best use of the housing stock within the scheme. 
 
To increase mobility by making available 10% of all properties to customers 
across Cumbria. 
 
To increase opportunities for tenant mobility between Cumbria and other areas 
of the country.  In accordance with the Right to Move statutory guidance on 
housing allocations for local housing authorities in England (issues by the 
Department for Communities and Local Government, March 2015) a target of at 
least 5% of allocations has been set for people moving to a different District for 
employment purposes, including 1% from outside Cumbria.  The qualifying 
criteria for Right to Move are detailed in Appendix 6. 
 
To attract new customers to areas of low demand and reduce void times on ‘hard 
to let’ properties.  
 

Page 34



 

 9 

1.4 Statement on Choice 
 
The key underlying principle of the scheme is to give choice to customers who 
are looking to obtain housing in the social rented sector. 
 
To ensure customers have choice the partnership will advertise the majority of 
its properties on a weekly basis through this scheme; property adverts will 
appear on its website and in newsletters available in the offices of all partner 
organisations and other appropriate sites to assist the public to access the 
scheme. Where possible the advertising of properties will be provided in a variety 
of formats in a diverse range of venues.  
 
The Partnership will endeavour to ensure that property adverts are easy to read 
and will include information about the local area to allow customers to make the 
best informed choice about housing that is suitable for their needs. 
 
It is the Cumbria Choice policy that wherever possible customers wanting social 
housing should be able to choose the property for which they wish to be 
considered.  There will be some instances, in exceptional circumstances where 
the only way to resolve a person’s housing situation is through the use of 
management discretion e.g. homeless households to whom there is a statutory 
duty to house; households at risk of violence. (See section 3.3: Management 
Discretion).  In certain circumstances choice may be limited, however all 
management discretion decisions will be recorded and monitored for fairness 
and flexibility.  
 
1.5 The Partnership 
 
Cumbria Choice is overseen by the Sub Regional Project Board which is 
governed by a ‘partnership agreement’.  Its members consist of one senior 
officer representative from each organisation within the partnership and two 
tenant representatives.  Each organisation has one vote within the partnership. 
Tenant representation has one vote within the partnership.   
 
The Project Board will meet at least six times a year to oversee the running of 
the scheme and to monitor its compliance with local and national policy and 
guidance.  The partnership will continue to monitor, fund, develop and make 
policy decisions about the scheme as appropriate.  
 
1.6 Equality and Diversity 
 
Cumbria Choice is committed to ensuring that its policy and procedures in the 
letting of property are applied impartially. This includes promoting equality of 
access to the service. 
 
The Partnership is committed to assisting all customers to access the service, 
taking account of vulnerability, disability or other specific needs.  
 
To identify the needs of our customers the application form will have specific 
questions relating to vulnerability, ethnic origin, sexual orientation, disabilities 
and other protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act 2010. This 
information will be used to monitor the impact of the policy and to ensure any 

Page 35



 

 10 

amendments that may be required are implemented so that no group is 
disadvantaged or discriminated against by the application of the policy. 
 
Cumbria Choice is committed to Equality and Diversity.  Under the Equality Act 
2010 and in particular to comply with the public sector equality duty contained 
within section 149, Local Authorities and housing providers are required to give 
due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not, in their exercise of a public function. 

The protected characteristics are: age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, 
sex and sexual orientation. Under the Equality Act 2010 age related 
retirement/sheltered housing is exempt from restrictions.  

1.7 Accessibility 
 
The partnership recognises that a choice based letting scheme requires active 
participation by the customer which some may find difficult and demanding.  
 
Local support groups and voluntary and statutory agencies have been involved 
in the development of this scheme to ensure that it is as accessible as possible 
to all groups within the community.  The partnership will continue to work with 
these agencies to improve accessibility to the scheme. 
 
Those needing support, advice or assistance will be identified through 
information given on the application form, staff, other professional and voluntary 
groups. The computer system can be used to monitor whether some customers 
are not ‘bidding’ or are making inappropriate ‘bids’ (expressions of interest) and 
it will indicate individuals or groups of people who may need increased support 
to access the scheme.  
 
The Partnership will continue to try to ensure that the system is as accessible as 
possible to any applicant who wants to use it.  Easy to read guides explaining 
how the scheme works will be sent to all customers when they request an 
application form and once they are registered. The Partnership will ensure that 
there is a process in place to make sure a person is helped to understand the 
scheme if there is a language or literacy barrier or a disability need such as a 
sight restriction or disability. 
 
The Partnership will continue to widely publicise the scheme and will ensure that 
newsletters advertising the properties are widely distributed. 
 
The Partnership has ensured that its own staff are fully trained and able to offer 
advice and assistance to individual customers through; front line staff, floating 
support workers, hostel staff and sheltered housing wardens.  
 
Through ongoing liaison with a range of statutory and voluntary agencies, the 
partnership aims to ensure that high quality support is available to customers.   
 
The ICT system will be used to monitor customer bidding patterns and will be 
used to identify those who are having difficulty using the system.  In addition the 

Page 36



 

 11 

outcomes for customers identified as having specific needs will be monitored to 
ensure they are as successful in gaining housing as other customers.  
 
In exceptional circumstances ‘automatic bidding’ (see Appendix 1 definition of 
terms) will be available – this is not a preferred option as it reduces customer 
choice.   
 
An Accessibility Policy (Appendix 5) accompanies the Cumbria Choice Scheme.   
 
1.8 Monitoring 
 
The partnership will continue to monitor the policy to ensure that its aims are 
being met.  
 
Monitoring will be used to ensure that: 
 

 Those in the ‘reasonable preference’ categories are given priority for 
housing (see sections 3 and 4) 

 Lettings are broadly proportionate to the profile of local communities 

 Lettings within ‘the Bands’ accords with the stated aims of the policy (see 
section 3) 

 Customers with particular needs are successfully accessing housing 

 There is overall customer satisfaction with the scheme 
 
1.9 Information sharing, confidentiality and data protection 
 
Information received by a partner organisation in relation to a customer’s 
registration form will be treated in confidence in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 1998.  
 
Confidential information held about customers will not be disclosed to third 
parties apart from:  
 

 Where the individual has consented to the disclosure 

 Where a partner organisation is required by law to make such a 

disclosure. 

 Where disclosure is made in accordance with a recognised Information 

Sharing Protocol or for reasons of public protection. 

Partner organisations will continue to develop Information Sharing Protocols 
within their own areas and where possible across Cumbria to enable consistency 
and good working practices between the partnership and other voluntary and 
statutory agencies. 
 
Unless an exemption applies, Local Authorities have a duty to make information 
available under the freedom of Information Act 2000 with which they will comply.  
This duty does not apply to registered social housing providers. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



 

 12 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 38



 

 13 

Section 2       The Common Housing Register 
 
The Partnership has agreed to operate one common housing register within the 
scheme.  This is a single register for both new customers applying for property 
and existing tenants wanting a transfer.  The single register enables customers 
applying to the scheme to access housing owned by each member of the 
Partnership by completing just one application form.  
 
When shortlisting for properties priority will usually be given to customers with a 
local connection to the Local Authority area.  However, there is a commitment to 
make 10% of vacancies available across the Sub Region without the 
requirement for a local connection to the Local Authority area in which the 
property is advertised (see section 5.9 for definition of local connection). 
 
2.1 Who can Apply 
 

1. Anyone over 16 years can apply (for 16/17 year olds please see 6 below)  
– UNLESS: 
 

 They are a person who is ineligible for an allocation of housing 
accommodation by virtue of being a person subject to immigration 
control or a person from abroad who is prescribed as ineligible and 
shall not be allocated housing accommodation: s.160ZA(1), (2) and 
4): the relevant Regulations that the Council applies are Regs 3 and 
4 Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) 
Regulations 2006, SI 2006/1294.  

 They or a member of their household is guilty of unacceptable 
behaviour serious enough to make them an unsuitable tenant. 

 Where a person’s eligibility for housing is unclear investigations will 
be undertaken to establish the person’s entitlement for housing. 

 
2. Open Register: Cumbria Choice operates an open register and will accept 

all people regardless of their housing need or whether they are from 
outside Cumbria, subject to them meeting the eligibility criteria. 

 
3. Joint Applicants: joint applications will be accepted and will be treated as 

one application.  An applicant can only have one active application as a 
main applicant on the register.  The housing need of the full household 
will be considered in assessing housing need.  This Allocations Policy 
supports adult customers wishing to sign as joint tenants should they 
choose to do so. 

 
In relation to social housing providers the individual housing provider will 
decide whether to allow a joint tenancy depending on the circumstances 
of the case. 

 
4. Employees or their relatives: those working for, or elected to the 

Governing Body of a partner organisation, or those related to such a 
person will be eligible to apply.  Any offer of accommodation will be 
subject to the approval of the Governing Body of the organisation offering 
the property. 

 

Page 39



 

 14 

5. Owner Occupiers (and those with the financial means to purchase 
property): Owner occupiers will be allowed to register and the banding 
they get will depend on an assessment of their financial means and ability 
to purchase suitable accommodation.  The decision will be made on a 
case by case basis and will be monitored for fairness. 

 
6. 16/17 year olds: young people aged 16/17 years will be able to apply for 

accommodation by completing a registration form.  However a Social 
Landlord will not normally grant a tenancy to anyone under the age of 18 
years without evidence of an appropriate support package being in place.  
Applications from young people under the age of 18 will be dealt with on 
a case by case basis and will be monitored for fairness. 
 
The following are examples of when a person under 18 years will be 
considered for accommodation: 

 They are accepted as requiring move-on accommodation following a 
successful period in a recognised supported housing scheme and 
have a move-on support package. 

 They are a homeless young person to whom a duty is owed under 
Part 7, Housing Act 1996 and a full housing and child in need 
assessment has been made by Children’s Services.  

 They are referred by Children’s Services following a housing and child 
in need assessment with a recommendation for housing having been 
made.  This includes children leaving care.  

 
7. Tenants of social housing organisations 
 

 Secure and assured tenants may apply to the Register at any time 
and will have their priority assessed in the same way as other 
customers.  

 Tenants with probationary or starter tenancies will be given reduced 
preference until the completion of the 12 months probationary period 
and a secure or assured tenancy has been granted.  However this 
may not be applied if there is an urgent need for re-housing.  

 Tenants transferring within the Scheme will need to have a clear rent 
account and a satisfactory property report.  However this may not 
necessarily be required if there is an urgent need for re-housing.  

 
8. Prisoners: prisoners can register in the 6 month period prior to their date 

of release.  They are able to express an interest in a property in the 2 
week period prior to release but must be able to accept the tenancy on 
the date required by the housing provider. 

       
Partner organisations will refer to the Cumbria Joint Protocol for Housing 
Offenders for guidance. 

 
9. Serious unacceptable behaviour 

 

 Cumbria Choice expects customers registering for housing to be able 
to meet the standards of behaviour required of them by the tenancy 
agreements of partner organisations.  Where customers current 

Page 40



 

 15 

behaviour indicates that they would be unsuitable to be a tenant they 
will be considered to be a non-qualifying person(s).  

 Housing authorities may only allocate accommodation to people who 
are defined as ‘qualifying persons’ (s.160ZA(6)(a)) and under section 
160ZA(7) the local authority is granted the power to decide the classes 
of people who are, or are not, qualifying persons. An applicant will be 
regarded as a non-qualifying person where they meet the criteria set 
for unacceptable behavior as defined below. 
Unacceptable behaviour includes but is not limited to:  

o Anti-social behaviour 
o Racial harassment and other hate related crimes 
o Criminal Behaviour 
o Violence 
o Domestic violence and abuse 
o Violence or threats of violence to staff or the agents of partner 

organisations in the Cumbria Choice scheme 
o Serious rent arrears 

 The decision on whether a customer is deemed to be a non-qualifying 
person will be made on a case by case basis. 

 Where a customer is deemed to be a non-qualifying person for 
unacceptable behaviour they will be given the reasons for that decision 
and will have the right to request a review of that decision (Section 6). 

 An applicant deemed to be non-qualifying for unacceptable behaviour 
will remain so usually for a period of 12 months following the date of 
the decision and customers will need to reapply for housing after this 
time.  The only exception to this is where a previous arrear has been 
fully cleared.  Applicants can re-apply as soon as debts are repaid. 

 
 The full policy for eligibility and non-qualification is set out in 

Appendix 3. 
 

10. Households with access to children/joint custody 
 

 Children will only be considered at their main place of residence.  

 Customers wishing to include children in their application must be 
able to provide formal evidence that each child will live with the 
customer, for example through child benefit entitlement, residency 
order or custody agreement.  

           
2.2 How to Apply 
 
To join the Cumbria Choice Register customers will ordinarily need to complete 
an online application.  
 
Customers will be required to sign a declaration to: 
 

 Confirm that the information given is correct and that they will notify 
Cumbria Choice of any change in their circumstances. 

 Give consent to allow enquiries to be made concerning their eligibility for 
housing and level of priority.  

 Give consent to allow information to be provided to another partner 
organisation in the scheme. 

Page 41



 

 16 

 
Assistance is available for any customer who has difficulty in completing and 
understanding the application from any of the partner organisations. 
 
Incomplete applications will not be made active until such time as the partner 
managing the application is satisfied that it has in its possession all of the 
information it requires to complete its assessment.  It is the responsibility of the 
applicant to answer all of the questions set for the assessment process and to 
provide any supporting information or documents as requested.  
 
All incomplete applications will be cancelled after a period of 28 days of inactivity 
from the applicant where information has been requested and not provided.  This 
cancellation does not prevent the applicant making a subsequent application at 
a later date.  Although, the effective date of registration will not be backdated to 
an early application. 
 
2.3 References 
 
Existing or previous tenants will be asked to provide a reference from their 
current or previous landlord.  This information will be used to decide whether the 
customer is eligible to be accepted onto the Register and if so whether or not 
they should be given reduced preference. 
 
Where a customer has not held a tenancy a character reference will be 
requested from a professional person who has known the customer for at least 
2 years or sufficient time to make a judgement.  This applies to both customers 
where there is a joint application.  
 
Where a customer cannot provide a reference then the following options may be 
taken to establish whether a customer is eligible to be accepted onto the register 
and whether or not they should be given reduced preference: 
 

 The customer will be asked to attend an interview with the Officer 
responsible for assessing the application to seek information on their 
previous housing history and likely ability to sustain a tenancy. 

 Information may be sought from Disclosure Scotland if the partner 
managing the application have any concerns that the applicant may 
meet the unacceptable behaviour non qualification criteria. 

 
2.4 Police checks/information 
 
In the interests of community safety, all applicants and members of their 
prospective household will be required to disclose any pending court cases or 
unspent criminal convictions.  Where the information is disclosed the partner 
managing the application may seek further information to ascertain whether they 
are likely to be regarded as ineligible due to unacceptable behaviour and/or pose 
a serious risk to a community where they might be rehoused.  Where a customer 
indicates on their form that they have an unspent criminal conviction a Disclosure 
and Barring Service (DBS) check will be sought about the offence(s).  This will 
be done to establish whether the person has been involved in a serious crime(s) 
that may meet the unacceptable behaviour criteria.  
 

Page 42



 

 17 

Information gained will not automatically exclude an applicant from the register. 
It will also be used to make informed decisions about any offer of a property. 
 
2.5 Notification of Registration 
 
When an application is accepted onto the register the customer will be informed 
in writing and provided with the following information: 
 

 Their registration date 

 Their registration reference number 

 The Band they have been placed in 

 A Priority Band date if that is different from their date of registration (see 
section 3.2; the ‘effective’ date) 

 An explanation of the login reference number and memorable date for 
use when logging into their online account 

 
If an applicant’s circumstances change and they are assessed as qualifying for 
a higher Band the ‘effective date’ for the higher Band will be the date it is 
determined that the applicant’s circumstances have changed.  Where an 
applicant’s circumstances change and they are assessed as requiring a lower 
Band they will keep their date of registration for that previous Band.  
 
When customers receive their letter of registration they will also receive a guide 
to the Cumbria Choice Scheme.  This will inform them about how the scheme 
works and will include such information as: how applications are Banded; where 
to look for advertised properties; how to register an interest in a property ‘bid’; 
what checks are made before an offer is confirmed. 
 
2.6 Changes in Circumstances 
 
It is the responsibility of the customer to notify Cumbria Choice of any changes 
in their circumstances that could affect their application for housing.  The 
application will be re-assessed and if appropriate placed in a different Band. 
 
2.7 Reviewing the Register 
 
Each customer on the Common Housing Register will have their application 
reviewed annually. This may be based on an annual review date or a rolling 
review 12 months from the applicant’s date of registration.  A letter will be sent 
to all customers, and in some cases a supporting agency or professional, 
requesting confirmation of their current circumstances and that they wish to 
remain on the register.  If a reply is not received within 28 days of the date sent 
the application will be cancelled.  
 
Customers registered in Bands A and B will be reviewed more regularly to 
ensure they are bidding for suitable properties.  Monitoring of number(s) of ‘bids’ 
made (or lack of) will be used to identify where assistance to customers may be 
needed. 
 
2.8 Cancelling Applications 
 

Page 43



 

 18 

An application will be cancelled from the housing register in the following 
circumstances:  
 

i. At the customer’s request. 
ii. If the customer becomes ineligible for housing on grounds of their 

behaviour. 
iii. When the customer has been housed. 
iv. When a social housing tenant completes a mutual exchange. 
v. On failure to reply to a review letter or requests for further information 

within a given time period. 
vi. Where it is discovered that the customer has given false or misleading 

information 
vii. Where a customer is known to have committed a crime or if a customer 

is awaiting trial, an application may be suspended pending the outcome, 
and on a case by case basis  

 
In circumstances (ii) and (vi) the customer will be notified in writing and informed 
of the reason why their registration has been cancelled and of their right to 
request a review of that decision. 
 
In circumstance (v) the customer will be notified in writing that their registration 
has been cancelled.  The application will be re-instated if the applicant contacts 
Cumbria Choice within 28 days of being notified of the cancellation.  
 
The Cumbria Choice partnership reserves the right to cancel applications when 
no bids have been made for a 12 month period. 
 
2.9 Giving False Information 
 
Under section 171 of the 1996 Housing Act it is a criminal offence for anyone 
applying for housing from a housing authority to knowingly give false information 
or to withhold information which is relevant to their application.  An offence is 
also committed if a person allows a third party to provide false information on 
their behalf. 

       
Customers who are found to have withheld or given false information may be 
removed from the register for 12 months.  This will be decided upon based on 
the seriousness of the false information given and an assessment of why the 
information was withheld.  The decision will be made by a senior officer within 
the partner organisation administering the application.  
 
Where an offer of a tenancy has been made but the tenancy has not yet 
commenced the offer will be withdrawn with immediate effect.  
 
The customer will be informed in writing of the decision and advised of their right 
to request a review.  
 
Where a tenancy has commenced action may be taken with regard to that 
tenancy which may include action seeking possession of the property. 
 
 
2.10 Deliberate Worsening of Circumstances 

Page 44



 

 19 

 
Where there is evidence that a customer has deliberately made their housing 
situation worse in order to gain a higher priority on the register, they will be 
assessed based on the circumstances before their situation changed, unless 
that change is due to fleeing violence or for disability needs.  
 
Examples of this are: 
 

 Customers who have allowed family members or others to move into their 
property, who previously had suitable accommodation or the financial 
means to secure their own accommodation, and this has resulted in the 
property being overcrowded. 

 Customers who have moved from previously suitable or more suitable 
accommodation which it was reasonable for them to continue to occupy, 
into a less suitable property. 

 Homeowners who have transferred their property to another family 
member within the last 5 years from the date they make their application 
to the Register.  

 Giving up affordable and suitable private rented accommodation which 
they are able to maintain, to move in with other relatives or friends, 
creating a situation of overcrowding and/or sharing of bathroom/kitchen 
and/or a split household. 

 Requesting or colluding with a landlord or family member to issue them 
with a Notice to Quit. 

 

  

Page 45



 

 20 

Section 3       Assessing Housing Need 
 
3.1 Priority for Housing 
 
Local Authorities are required by Section 166A(3) Housing Act 1996 to 
determine the relative priority that housing customers are awarded.  The law, as 
it applies to Local Authorities, requires that reasonable preference for housing 
must be given to those in the categories set out in the Housing Act 1996 (as 
amended).  In addition the Cumbria Choice scheme gives additional preference 
to those customers where the Council is satisfied that they have other 
exceptional or urgent housing needs.  
 
Cumbria Choice operates a needs based banding system which is set out below.  
The Bands are arranged to reflect housing need with the highest Band, Band A, 
indicating the greatest need for housing. 
 
Below is a summary table of the bands and when an applicant will be awarded 
a band for their housing needs or circumstances.  It is only a summary table and 
the full definition for the criteria used to award a band is set out in section 4 of 
the Policy. 

 

Band A:  Urgent Need for 
Housing due to Reasonable 
preference plus additional 
priority. 

Explanation of criteria to be used in the 
Assessment 

Homeless Households owed a 
full homeless duty. 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3)  (b) 

Households who have made a statutory homeless 
application to the Local Authority under Part 7 of 
the Housing Act 1996 and have been determined 
by the Council as owed the main homelessness 
duty under sections 193(2) or 195(2) of the Act. 
 
Note: 
Local Band A will be awarded unless the household 
also meets the criteria for Exceptional need to 
move (see below) 
 

Exceptional need to move due 
to a Medical condition or 
reasons of Disability 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3)  (d)  

 An immediate life threatening or life limiting 
condition which is seriously affected by the 
current housing circumstances where 
rehousing would enable a person to retain 
independence or receive adequate care.  

 A member of the household cannot be 
discharged from hospital until a suitable 
adapted property is provided.  

 A new and life changing condition that 
severely impairs their mobility, meaning they 
are unable to carry out day-to-day activities 
or are unable to access essential facilities 
inside and outside of their accommodation 
and the property cannot be suitably 
adapted.  

Page 46



 

 21 

 A member of the household is elderly or 
disabled or has a progressive or fluctuating 
illness or requires palliative care and is likely 
to require admission to hospital or 
residential/nursing care in the immediate 
future and re-housing would enable the 
person to remain at home. 

 Armed forces personnel who need to move 
to suitable adapted accommodation 
because of a serious injury, medical 
condition or disability which he or she or a 
member of their household, has sustained 
as a result of service.  

 People who have severe mental ill health or 
learning disability which significantly affects 
their ability to lead a normal life and is life-
threatening or puts them at risk of admission 
to hospital or residential care.  

Exceptional need to move.   
 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3)  (d) 

 Customers who need to move due to 
domestic abuse, extreme violence or 
extreme harassment. This would include 
hate crime, racial, homophobic or 
transgender/gender reassignment 
harassment. This will only be agreed in 
exceptional circumstances where there is a 
high risk to the tenant or their family’s safety 
if they remain in the property/area and the 
location sought would substantially reduce 
or eliminate the risk.  Clients in this group 
should be awarded global Band A without a 
local connection restriction (other than when 
this is required by s106 agreement/ Local 
Lettings Policy) 

 A bereaved spouse (including same sex) or 
civil partner of those serving in the regular 
forces no longer entitled to reside in Ministry 
of Defence accommodation. 
 

Excessive Overcrowding 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3)  (c)   

Households living in overcrowded conditions which 
are deemed to have a category 1 hazard for that 
overcrowding specifically under the Housing Health 
and Safety Rating System (HSSRS) as defined 
under Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004 will be 
deemed as Band A.  The assessment must be 
made by the Local Authority for new applicants to 
the CBL system.  Existing tenants of Cumbria 
Choice partners can be assessed and given Band 
A priority by their own Landlord (regardless of who 
is administering their housing application).  The 
landlord will use the definition of overcrowding 
criteria guidance provided by the Housing Act 1985 
and the guidance laid out under the Housing Act 

Page 47



 

 22 

2004 for crowding and space, with particular 
reference to larger households to make their 
determination. 
 
If a property is deemed to be statutorily 
overcrowded, it remains the landlords and 
homeowners responsibility to ensure they comply 
with the legislation and reduce the occupancy of 
the property accordingly. 
Please note some authorities do make a charge for 
overcrowding assessments as a non-statutory 
function. 
 

Property Condition 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3)  (c)  

Households living in conditions which give rise to 
an imminent risk of harm and where the Local 
Authority has the power to serve a Prohibition 
Order under Part 1 of the 2004 Housing Act. 
 

Band B:  High Need for 
Housing due to Reasonable 
Preference 
  

Explanation of criteria to be used in the 
Assessment 

Cumulative Preference 
 
 
 
Combinations of reasonable 
preference categories 166A(3)  
(c), (d) & (e) 

People who are assessed as having more than one 
reasonable preference housing need from 
reasonable preference category (c), (d) & (e).  
 
Customers who have two or more of the following 
needs as listed in Band C: 

 Households needing to move to a particular 
locality on hardship grounds 

 Households overcrowded/under occupying  

 Disrepair - households where a Category 1 
hazard has been identified by the Local 
Authority (NB see full definition of disrepair 
under “Property condition in Band C”) 

 Medical or mobility need 

 Existing social housing tenants who suffer 
financial hardship as a result of housing 
benefit changes under Welfare Reform. 
 

Welfare Grounds 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3)  (d) 

 People who are living in a supported 
housing placement within the partnership 
area (usually for at least 6 months) and who 
have been assessed as being ready for 
independent living.  In all cases the relevant 
supported housing provider will be required 
to complete the Cumbria Choice Move On 
from Supported Accommodation Form 
(Appendix 7)   
 

Page 48



 

 23 

NB.  Move on applications will not be administered 
by the organisation responsible for the supported 
housing project. 
 
Move On from Supported Accommodation Forms 
may be refused if the applicant is not considered 
suitable for move on accommodation. 
 

 Young people who are referred by Cumbria 
Children’s services following an s17 
assessment under the Children Act 1989 
with a recommendation for housing. This 
includes children leaving care. 
All referrals by Children’s Services will be 
made following the provision of Cumbria’s 
Joint Protocol for young people 2015. 
 

NB.  It is a requirement that an ongoing support 
package will have been prepared, which will be 
provided by Children’s Services or another 
appropriate support agency and will be available to 
the housing provider for people rehoused on these 
grounds. 

 

Homeless prevention status – 
customers who have not been 
housed within 3 months of being 
awarded Band C priority 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3) (a) (c) 

A customer has children or is pregnant (proof of 
pregnancy provided by a medical professional 
and/or a MAT B1), or is a single person who in the 
Local Authority’s opinion may be in priority need 
and the Local Authority considers they are at risk of 
being physically homeless.  The customer must 
have opted to take a homeless prevention option 
and as a result have been granted Homeless 
Prevention Status. 
 
This priority will be awarded by the Local Authority 
after the 3 month period that the customer has 
been in Band C. 
 
This priority will be awarded by the Local Authority 
for a period of 3 months. 
 

Under occupation 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3)  (c) 

Social housing tenants of a partner organisation 
that are under occupying a property by 2 or more 
bedrooms who bid on properties with at least 2 
fewer bedrooms than they currently have. 
 
An assessment will be made on the basis of the 
current family composition and will also take into 
account the family composition at the start of the 
tenancy. 
 

Page 49



 

 24 

Band C:  Medium Need for 
Housing due to Reasonable 
Preference 
 

Explanation of criteria to be used in the 
Assessment 

Non Priority Homeless 
 
Those who are entitled to 
reasonable preference as being 
non-priority homeless, 
intentional homeless or 
homeless within Part 7 of the 
Act. 
 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3)  (a) 
 
Homeless in priority need and 
intentional pending S202 
Review 

These customers will be assessed by the Local 
Authority. They will include: 

 Rough sleepers 

 Those moving between friends and relatives 

 Those who have accommodation but the 
local authority do not consider it reasonable 
to occupy 

 Those who have accommodation, but 
cannot secure access to it or there is no 
lawful place they can live in it e.g. caravan.   
Those who have made a homeless 
application and determined to be homeless 
but not in priority need or are intentionally 
homeless or have no local connection. 
 

(NB Band E may apply to intentionally 
homeless applicants where there is a clear 
reduced preference as defined in the policy i.e. 
arrears/anti-social behaviour). 

 

Homeless prevention option 
being chosen 
 
Priority will be awarded for a 3 
month period 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3) (a) (c) 

A customer has children or is pregnant (proof of 
pregnancy provided by a medical professional 
and/or a MAT B1), or is a single person who in the 
Local Authority’s opinion may be in priority need 
and the Local Authority considers they are at risk of 
being physically homeless.  The customer must 
have opted to take a homeless prevention option 
and as a result have been granted Homeless 
Prevention Status. 
 
This priority will be awarded by the Local Authority 
for a period of 3 months. 
  

Medical/Disability 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3)  (d) 

The customer’s housing is unsuitable for 
medical/disability reasons but they are not 
housebound and their life is not at risk due to their 
current housing.  However the housing conditions 
are directly contributing to their ill health or 
disability. 
 
Examples are as follows: 

 Children with severe conditions such as 
autism, or cerebral palsy where their long 
term needs cannot be met without settled 
accommodation 

 A person whose disability means that re-
housing would enable them to overcome 

Page 50



 

 25 

physical barriers created by their current 
accommodation e.g. stairs and steps 

 A person with a disability requiring 
substantial adaptations where their current 
accommodation cannot be reasonably and 
practicably adapted to meet their needs 
after consultation with the relevant Local 
Authority 

 A person with a terminal illness or long term 
medical debilitating condition whose current 
accommodation is not having a significant 
impact on their condition but where their 
quality of life would be significantly improved 
by moving to alternative settled 
accommodation which may or may not be 
closer to support. 

 
The assessment will not be made on the basis of 
the customer’s health or disability but on how their 
accommodation affects their health or disability.  
 

Hardship 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3)  (e) 

Customers who need to move to a particular 
locality where failure to meet that need would 
cause hardship to themselves or others.  This 
would include people needing to move for: 

 Employment purposes* including people 
needing to move from outside Cumbria and 
between Cumbrian Districts.  

 To be near relatives to give or receive 
support 

 To access medical treatment/social services 
facilities. 

 
This priority will apply to:  

 Customers who require support from 
relatives or friends will only be considered 
where there is a severe disability or mental 
ill health, medical or welfare issue and there 
are reasons why this support cannot be 
made available through reliance on public 
transport or the customer’s own transport. 

 *Employment purposes are defined as: 
Customers, including people needing to 
move from outside Cumbria and between 
Cumbrian Districts, taking up or continuing 
permanent employment for a minimum of 16 
hours per week. Under this clause 
customers will only be considered where 
they do not live within a reasonable 
commuting distance and will be required to 
provide confirmation of employment details 

Page 51



 

 26 

from the employer. The qualifying criteria for 
Right to Move are detailed in Appendix 6. 

 In cases of extreme financial hardship, 
following assessment, an applicant may be 
awarded reasonable preference.  These are 
likely to be cases where the person is so 
financially impacted by their current housing 
that they cannot afford to adequately feed, 
clothe and meet the fuel costs for 
themselves and their family and this is not 
the fault of their own actions.   

 Social housing tenants suffering extreme 
financial hardship, as a direct result of 
welfare reform and moving will alleviate their 
financial hardship.   
 

Overcrowded 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3)  (c) 

Customers who need to move due to overcrowding 
by 1 bedroom or more. 
 
Applicants will be assessed according to the 
Cumbria Choice policy  for overcrowding (see  
section 4.3) 
 
A household will be considered for this category 
where they are 1 bedroom or more short of the 
required bedrooms.  
 
 

Property Condition 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3)  (c)  

Households where there is one or more category 1 
hazard as assessed under the Housing Health and 
Safety Rating System (HSSRS) as defined under 
Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004.  
 
Where an officer from the Council has determined 
that a private sector property (tenanted) contains 
one or more serious category 1 hazards, as defined 
by the Housing Health and Safety Rating System.  
The award is made in respect of a significant risk to 
the health and well-being of the occupant(s), and 
where there is no prospect of the issues being 
remedied in a period of time that the Council 
considers reasonable. 
 

Under Occupation 
 
Reasonable preference category 
166A(3)  (c) 

Social housing tenants of a partner organisation 
that are under occupying a property by 1 bedroom 
who bid on properties with 1 less bedroom than 
they currently have. 
 
An assessment will be made on the basis of the 
current family composition and will also take into 
account the family composition at the start of the 
tenancy. 

Page 52



 

 27 

 

Armed Forces 
 
Additional Preference 166A(3) 
(3)  

Armed forces that are currently in service or have 
been in service within the last 5 years for a 
minimum of a 3 year period will be placed in Band 
C (reasonable preference), subject to housing 
need assessment qualification.   
 
Bereaved spouse (including same sex) or civil 
partner of those serving in the forces and are no 
longer entitled to reside in Ministry of Defence 
accommodation.  
 

Band D:  Low Need for 
Housing due to No 
Reasonable Preference 

Explanation of criteria to be used in the 
Assessment 

Band D Plus 
 
Customers not owed a 
reasonable preference but who 
have met the Partnership 
Community Contribution criteria 
 

Those in Band D Plus will be given priority over 
other customers in Band D.  To qualify for this Band 
applicants need to demonstrate: 

 Employment  

 Transfer customers of partner organisations 
with a positive tenancy history 

 A positive contribution to the local 
community – for example voluntary work 

 

Band D 
 
Customers not owed a 
reasonable preference 

Customers assessed as not being owed a 
reasonable preference. 
 
This would include those who are assessed as 
adequately housed. 
 

 

Band E: Reduced Priority 
 

Explanation of criteria to be used in the 
Assessment 
 

Customers owed a reasonable 
preference but given reduced 
priority 
 
 
 
 
Customers not owed a 
reasonable preference and 
given a reduced priority 

 Customers will be awarded the reasonable 
preference that their assessed housing 
needs warrant but will be given reduced 
priority until action is taken by them to rectify 
their circumstances/behaviour. 

 

 These customers will remain in this Band 
until action is taken by them to rectify the 
circumstances/behaviour that has led to the 
reduced priority.  

 
A customer will be given reduced priority for the 
following reasons: 

 Arrears or other housing related debt 

 Breach of a tenancy condition which is 
unresolved but would not warrant a full 
possession order 

Page 53



 

 28 

 A property not meeting the required 
standard for a transfer customer 

 No local connection 

 Those with financial resources 

 Refusing 3 reasonable offers within a 12 
month period 

 Young people less than 18 years of age 
unless they meet the criteria for being 
offered accommodation  

 Tenants with starter or probationary 
tenancies 

 

 See Section 4 for detail on how reasonable preference, additional 
preference and reduced priority will be assessed and applied under the 
scheme. 

 
3.2 Waiting Time – The ‘Effective’ Date 
 
Priority is given to customers depending on their housing need but significant 
importance is also given to the length of time the customer has waited for a 
property.  Priority within each Band is determined by the length of time the 
application has been placed in that Band.  This is either the date of registration 
or the date of entry into a priority Band.  
 
Where a customer moves out of a priority Band and into Band D or E their 
effective date will return to their date of registration. 
 
3.3 Management Discretion 
 
In some circumstances a property will be let directly to a customer without being 
advertised.  This is when: a sensitive letting is required due to the person’s 
previous history; where there is an urgent need for housing and it would cause 
serious hardship or risk to the customer if they were required to ‘bid’ for a 
property; there is a need to make best use of the housing stock or for other 
housing management reasons.  
 
This is not an exhaustive list but examples of these instances are: 
 

 Tenants of partner organisations that need to move on a temporary basis 
due to a fire or flood. 

 People who are at imminent risk of violence and are to be housed through 
a witness protection programme. 

 Vulnerable people who are to be housed as part of a multi-agency 
protocol where a full support package is in place. 

 Where an existing social housing tenant is required to move to make best 
use of stock and suitable accommodation has not been secured through 
the Scheme e.g. to make available a fully adapted property, urgently 
required by a priority customer.  

 Where there is a need agreed between housing and social services to 
provide a specific property for vulnerable individuals. For example where 
a property is required for people with learning disabilities to live together 
with support. 

Page 54



 

 29 

 Where a sensitive letting is required for a particular property because of 
previous issues of drug dealing, violence, public protection or anti-social 
behaviour.  

 Tenants of partner organisations participating in a recognised down-
sizing scheme. 

 Special circumstances such as public protection panel cases.  

 Applicants who are required to vacate supported housing where that 
supported housing unit is urgently needed. 

 Under-occupiers in very desirable properties who have highly specific 
requirements. 

 Ex-service tenants, who have highly specific requirements.  

 Tenants who are reluctant to be decanted and where, if the offer is 
refused, possession proceedings will commence. 

 Applicants in Band A whose defining features, including their cumulative 
needs, are considered to be so exceptionally severe as to warrant 
immediate/imminent rehousing. 

 
When an allocation is made through management discretion this information will 
be included in the lettings results which are published. All management 
decisions will be recorded and monitored for fairness.  
 
3.4 Homeless Households 
 
Homeless applications will continue to be dealt with by the appropriate Local 
Authority in accordance with the relevant legislation and codes of guidance - this 
includes dealing with appeals and reviews. Information regarding homelessness 
will be provided to homeless applicants by the Local Authority (or Local Authority 
agent). 
 
However a key aim of the Cumbria Choice scheme is to address the issues of 
homelessness within the County and through the partnership to provide an 
improved service to those either homeless or threatened with homeless.  
 
This will be achieved through sharing good practice and developing initiatives 
across the partnership.  Through the use and development of improved ICT 
systems homeless households will be able to identify the housing options 
available to them and to have an informed view of how they can best resolve 
their housing needs. 
 
Homeless households and those threatened with homelessness will have 
greater control and choice over where they live and through assisting them with 
these decisions the scheme aims to increase their commitment to both the home 
and the community into which they move.  
 
Households who are found homeless or at risk of homelessness, in priority need 
and are unintentionally homeless, and, to whom a Local Authority has a duty 
under Part 7 of the 1996 Housing Act will be placed in Band A.  
 
However some Local Authorities in Cumbria may also choose to use the 
provisions of the Localism Act 2011 to discharge their duty into a 12 month 
Assured Shorthold Tenancy (AST) in the private sector.  
 

Page 55



 

 30 

Homeless households will bid with immediate effect subject to suitable 
properties being available. Bidding patterns will be monitored by the Local 
Authority owing the homeless duty to ensure that bidding is taking place and to 
identify households that need further advice and assistance to help them through 
the process.  
 
After the 6 week period during which the homeless duty is owed, partner 
organisations have the right to place a bid on behalf of the homeless household 
to an offer of suitable accommodation as defined by the Housing Act 1996 Part 
7, Statutory Guidance and Suitability of accommodation Regulations. This will 
be made in writing and be subject to a right of review.  The Local Authority owing 
the duty may work with Social Housing Providers to direct match homeless 
households and accommodation where it is appropriate to do so.  
 
The homelessness duty will be discharged if an offer is made as a result of a 
successful bid on a suitable property whether or not that offer is accepted.  
 
Customers who have been found intentionally homeless may be given reduced 
preference by virtue of the action which led to the intentional homeless decision 
and placed in Band E.  Customers to whom a Local Authority has a duty under 
Part 7of the 1996 Housing Act will be given reduced preference and placed in 
Band E where they do not have a local connection to the Local Authority.  
Customers will remain in this Band until the issues relevant to their 
circumstances have been resolved. Customers to whom a Local Authority has a 
duty under Part 7 of the 1996 Housing Act will be given reduced preference and 
placed in Band E where they do not have a local connection to the Local 
Authority. For cases not owed a local connection they will remain in Band E until 
the point where they meet the criteria set down in the policy for a local 
connection. 
 
3.5 Households with a disability or medical need. 
 
The scheme enables customers who require adaptations to ‘bid’ for any property 
in the scheme.  The customer will be considered for the property on the same 
basis as the other applicants who have placed ‘bids’.  However, there is an 
expectation that applicants awarded a priority band on disability or medical 
grounds will bid for properties suitable to their needs and that the landlord, where 
it is reasonable and practicable, will agree to the property being adapted if 
needed.  Where a property does not meet the needs of the applicant the 
disability or medical priority awarded may be withdrawn for that property.  
 
Adapted properties or properties designed to disability standards are included 
within the scheme and will be offered firstly to those customers with a need for 
this property type.  This will be made clear in the advert as well as information 
within the advert about the actual adaptations/accessible features. 
 
3.6 Serious offenders and Public Protection 
 
Cumbria Choice will work with the Police and Probation Service through the 
Housing Offenders Protocol to manage any risk posed to the public.  
 

Page 56



 

 31 

Officers will attend case conferences and work with agencies where cases are 
referred to the Multi-Agency Public Protection Panel.  A range of housing options 
will need to be considered and the partnership will seek to assist in identifying 
appropriate housing that meets the needs of the customer and the community.  
 
In some circumstances this may restrict the choice of property available to the 
customer but they will wherever possible be given the opportunity to exercise 
some choice if that is possible and this will depend on the circumstances of the 
case. 
 
3.7 Exempt allocations 
 
Some transfer moves are exempt from the requirements of Part 6 of the Housing 
Act 1996 and will be dealt with separately.  
 
The following are not allocations under this scheme: 
 

 Succession to a tenancy on a tenant’s death pursuant to s89 Housing Act 
1985, or 

 Assignment of a tenancy by way of mutual exchange, or 

 Assignment of a tenancy to a person qualified to succeed to the tenancy 
on the tenant’s death, or 

 Transfer of the tenancy by a court order under family law provisions or 
under the Civil Partnership Act 2004, or 

 The Conversion of an Introductory Tenancy (Council stock), or Starter 
Tenancy (Housing Association stock) into a Secure Tenancy. 

 Council initiated transfers, for example due to a tenant being displaced 
from their accommodation due to demolition or regeneration.  

 Re-housing due to being displaced from previous accommodation by the 
Council pursuant to the land Compensation Act 1973. 

 A person granted a family intervention tenancy. 

 Provision of non secure temporary accommodation in discharge of any 
homelessness duty or power. 

 
3.8 Armed Forces 
 

 Before being awarded Band A or C the service leaver would need to 
provide a copy of their discharge papers. (Details of the reason for leaving 
the service to be included on the discharge papers). 

 A service leaver who has had to leave due to medical reasons before the 
minimum 3 year sign on period required by the armed forces would still 
be placed in Band C due to the fact that the reason for leaving is beyond 
their control. 

 A service leaver who has had to leave due to serious injury, medical 
condition or disability which he or she or a member of their household, 
has sustained as a result of service will be placed in Band A.  

 A service leaver who has had to leave as their service is no longer 
required will be placed in Band C due to the fact that the reason for 
leaving is beyond their control. 

 Any other reason for leaving the service will be considered on an 
individual case by case basis and will be monitored for fairness – the 

Page 57



 

 32 

partner organisation should liaise with the forces to ascertain the reason 
for being asked to leave. 

 A service leaver with a legal interest in another property (including 
overseas) would not be placed in Band C as they cannot demonstrate a 
housing need if they already own a property. 

 Service leavers will not be expected to demonstrate a local connection to 
a particular area unless there is a section 106 or Local Lettings Policy in 
place. 
 

  

Page 58



 

 33 

Section 4      Reasonable Preference Categories, Community 
Contribution and Reduced Preference  
 
The law requires Local Authorities to give reasonable preference for housing to 
certain categories of households.  The statutory reasonable preferences 
categories are set out in section 166A(3) (a) to (e) of the Housing Act 1996 (as 
amended) and are: 
 
(a) People who are homeless (within the meaning of Part 7); 
(b) People who are owed a duty by any local housing authority under section 

190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) (or under section 65(2) or 68(2) of the Housing 
Act 1985) or who are occupying accommodation secured by any such 
authority under section 192(3); 

(c)  People occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living 
in unsatisfactory housing conditions; 

(d)  People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including any 
grounds relating to a disability); and 

(e) People who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the 
authority, where failure to meet that need would cause hardship (to 
themselves or to others). 

 
In framing this policy and to ensure that those in greatest need are given 
preference for an allocation of accommodation, the partnership has taken into 
account the categories of people that must be given reasonable preference by 
Local Authorities.  
 
Whilst Housing Authorities are required to give reasonable preference to the 
above groups they will not necessarily be given the same degree of preference.  
Housing Authorities are able to give additional preference in their allocation 
policy to households who have a particular urgent need for housing. 
 
To ensure allocation policies meet local housing needs housing authorities are 
also able to give priority to other groups who are outside these reasonable 
preference categories as long as they do not dominate the scheme at the 
expense of those listed in the reasonable preference categories. 
 
Reasonable Preference and Additional Preference –  
How it is Applied Under this Scheme 
 
4.1 Reasonable preference category S166A (3) (a) – people who are 

homeless within the meaning of Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 
     

 Customers assessed as meeting the criteria for this reasonable 
preference category will be placed in Band C.  

 This includes people who are homeless and have been found by the 
authority not to be in priority need.  It also includes people who are rough 
sleeping or sofa surfing with no access to a home for longer than 28 days  

 It will also include households at risk of homelessness within 28 days and 
whom the Local Authority considers is likely to be found in priority need. 
They will be placed in Band C where they have opted to take a Homeless 
Prevention option.  Those who are awarded this status may move to Band 
B after 3 months. 

Page 59



 

 34 

 
Customers in this category do not need to have made a homeless application to 
a Local Authority or wish to pursue a homeless application if one would be 
triggered according to the legal test however they do need to have had a 
Housing Options Interview.  They do not need to be in ‘priority need’ for 
accommodation as defined by Part 7 of the 1996 Housing Act.  This definition of 
homeless includes the statutory definition for a person who does have 
accommodation which is legally and physically available to them or has 
accommodation but it is not reasonable for them to continue to occupy. 
 
Examples of where a customer may qualify under this category for Band C are: 
 

 Rough Sleepers 

 Those moving between friends and relatives. 

 Those who have no accommodation at all in which they can live, with 
other family members normally living with them or others the Council 
might reasonably expect to live with them. 

 Those who have accommodation but where there legal right to live in that 
accommodation has been terminated and they will be homeless 
immediately or within 28 days. 

 Those who have accommodation but where in the Council’s opinion it 
wouldn’t be reasonable for them to continue to occupy it. 

 Those who have accommodation but cannot secure access to it, or, in 
the case of a moveable structure, like a caravan, there is no lawful place 
they can lawfully live in it. 

 Those who have made a homelessness application and have been 
determined by the Council to be homeless but not in priority need, or have 
been found intentionally homeless or have no local connection.  

 
Note: those found intentionally homeless may be given reduced preference or 
be made ineligible by virtue of the action which led to the intentional homeless 
decision where there is a clear reduced preference as defined in the policy i.e. 
rent arrears / anti-social behaviour. 
 
Homeless Prevention 
 
The Local Authority will award additional preference to those at risk of 
homelessness where the customer has chosen to take a homeless prevention 
option, in the following circumstances: 
 

 The customer is likely to be found to be in priority need if they became 
homeless and made a homeless application or pursued a homeless 
application that would be lawfully triggered under the legislation. 

 And, the Council considers that they are at risk of being homeless (within 
28 days) 

 And, they have opted to take a homeless prevention option offered by the 
Council and as a result have been granted Homeless Prevention Status 

 
These households will be placed in Band C for up to 3 months.  The Council 
may then award Band B after the 3 month period.  The customers ‘effective date’ 
will be the date that they moved into the respective Bands.  Banding in this 
category will apply only in the Local Authority area where the decision has been 

Page 60



 

 35 

made (Local Band only).  At no point should the Local Band be lower than the 
Global Band.     
 
4.2 Reasonable preference category 166A(3) (b)  – people who are owed 

a homelessness duty by a Local Authority under Part 7 of the 
Housing Act 1996 

 

 Customers assessed as meeting the criteria for this category are given 
additional preference by the scheme and will be placed in local Band A.  
Additionally the Local Authority may discharge their duty by way of a 12 
month Assured Shorthold Tenancy (AST) into the private sector in 
accordance with the Localism Act 2011. 
 

Customers who will be given this additional preference are:   
 

 People who are in priority need and the Local Authority has accepted that 
it owes the household a full homeless duty under section 195(2) as being 
threatened with homelessness in the next 28 days, and the Local 
Authority is taking steps to try and prevent that homelessness from 
occurring.  People who have been accepted as being owed the full 
homeless duty under section 193(2) - those who are deemed homeless, 
in priority need and unintentionally homeless.  

 
Note: The Band awarded will be Local Band A (i.e. Band A only applies in the 
authority where the homelessness decision was made) except in the case where 
the household also meets the criteria for Exceptional Need to Move (s3).  
Applicants owed a duty by another local authority outside of the partnership are 
required to apply through the receiving authority. 
 
4.3 Reasonable preference category 166A(3) (c) – people occupying 

unsanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 
unsatisfactory housing conditions 

 
Customers being assessed as meeting the criteria for this category will be placed 
in Bands A, B or C.  Customers will be placed in Band C where they have been 
given reasonable preference and Bands A and B where they have been awarded 
additional preference by the scheme.  Additional preference is awarded based 
on the severity of the housing need.  
 
Additional Preference 
 
Customers will be awarded additional preference and placed in Band A in the 
following circumstances: 
 

 Households living in conditions which give rise to an imminent risk of harm 
and where the Local Authority has served a Prohibition Order under Part 
1 of the 2004 Housing Act. 

 Excessive Overcrowding i.e. Where a Local Authority officer or 
Registered Provider has made an assessment using the Housing Health 
and Safety Rating system and concluded there is a high risk of harm due 
to overcrowding.  

 

Page 61



 

 36 

Note: Customers may be given Band B priority based on a combination of 
housing needs – see Cumulative Preference (section 4.7) below. 
 
Owner occupiers will only be considered if they are elderly, disabled or have a 
mental ill health and their property is likely to give rise to an imminent risk of 
harm and they do not have the financial means to carry out essential repairs. 
 
Reasonable Preference 
 
Reasonable preference Band C is awarded for households where there is one 
or more category 1 hazard as assessed under the Housing Health and Safety 
Rating System (HHSRS) as defined under Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004.  This 
will mean where a category 1 hazard has been identified by the Local Authority 
and the Local Authority is working with the landlord to resolve the problem or 
taking enforcement action.  
 

Where an officer from the Council has determined that a private sector property 
(tenanted) contains one or more serious category 1 hazards, as defined by the 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS). The award is made in 
respect of a significant risk to the health and well-being of the occupant(s), and 
where there is no prospect of the issues being remedied in a period of time that 
the Council considers reasonable. 
 
Customers will be awarded reasonable preference and placed in Band C in the 
following circumstances: 

 

 Customers who are living in overcrowded conditions.   
 
Reasonable preference will be given to households lacking one bedroom 
or more. 

   
The standard used for the assessment of overcrowding by Cumbria 
Choice is as follows: 
 

  A separate bedroom should be allocated to the following persons: 
o A person living together with another as husband and wife 

(whether that other person is of the same sex or the opposite sex). 
o A person aged 16 years or more. 
o Two persons of the same sex aged less than 16 years. 
o Two persons (whether of the same sex or not) aged less than 10 

years. 
o Any person aged under 16 years in any case where he or she 

cannot be paired with another occupier.  
  
Customers who have voluntarily allowed family member(s) or other(s) to move 
into their property will not be given reasonable preference.  
 
Social housing within the Cumbria Choice region is subject to acute pressure 
and there is a particularly high demand for family size accommodation.  Partner 
organisations need to make best use of their stock and for this reason children 
will only be included in the overcrowding calculation at their main place of 
residence.  

Page 62



 

 37 

 
Tenants of landlords within the Cumbria Choice Scheme who under occupy a 
family home where a move will free up accommodation.  
 

 Additional preference for customers who need to move on hardship 
grounds where failure to move will cause hardship to themselves or 
others.  Social housing tenants of a partner organisation that are moving 
to a property that will have at least 2 bedrooms fewer than their current 
property will be awarded Band B.  

 

 Reasonable preference for customers who need to move on hardship 
grounds where failure to move will cause hardship to themselves or 
others.  Social housing tenants of a partner organisation that are moving 
to a property that will have 1 bedroom less than their current property will 
be awarded Band C or Band B (cumulative preference) where the 
household is under-occupying a social rented property and is suffering 
extreme financial hardship, as a direct result of welfare reform, and is 
prepared to downsize to a more suitable property with fewer bedrooms 
that will alleviate their financial hardship.  The responsibility for 
undertaking a financial assessment lies with the relevant landlord, who 
may liaise directly with the Council.    

 
4.4 Reasonable preference category S166A (3) (d) – people who need to 

move on medical or welfare grounds including grounds relating to 
a disability 

 
Customers being assessed as meeting the criteria for this category will be placed 
in Bands A, B or C.  Customers will be placed in Band C where they have been 
given reasonable preference and Bands A or B where they have been awarded 
additional preference by the scheme.  Additional preference is awarded based 
on the severity of the housing need.  
 
Note: Preference will only apply where the applicant is applying for properties 
that are suitable, will meet their disability or medical need and are reasonably 
capable of being adapted and at a reasonable cost. 
 
Note: Customers given only reasonable preference (Band C) may be given a 
Band B priority based on a combination of housing needs – see Cumulative 
Preference (section 4.7) below. 
 

 Disability or Medical Grounds – Additional Preference 
 
A customer who has an urgent need to move for medical reasons or due to a 
disability, which is being exacerbated by their current housing situation will be 
awarded additional preference and placed in Band A.  This would include people 
whose safety is at risk due to their current housing or who are completely 
housebound because of the type of accommodation they live in. 
 
The assessment will be made by an officer of the partner organisation with 
specific responsibility for the assessment of such cases and following a set of 
criteria based upon routine disability or medical conditions and property 
conditions/facilities.  The officer will make the assessment from information 

Page 63



 

 38 

given by the customer who will be required to complete a disability/medical 
questionnaire.  
 
In most cases the assessment will not be of the customer’s health or disability 
but how their accommodation affects their health or disability.  In exceptional 
circumstances that do not meet the set criteria the case will be passed to a senior 
officer within the partner organisation administering the application.  
 
For more serious cases evidence maybe required from an Occupational 
Therapist, Doctor or Consultant.  In some cases a decision may be taken to pass 
the information to a medical consultancy commissioned by the Partnership for 
the purposes of clarification.  The decision on whether to award priority in such 
cases will be taken by the senior officer of the partner organisation. 
 
The following are examples of cases that would qualify for Band A priority. It 
applies to the applicant or a member of their household that the partner 
managing the application has agreed meets the criteria to be included on their 
application:  
 

o An immediate life threatening condition which is seriously 
affected by the current housing and where re-housing would 
make it significantly easier to manage. 

o A member of the household cannot be discharged from hospital 
until a suitable adapted property is provided.  

o Due to limited mobility a person is unable to access essential 
parts of the property e.g. bathroom/toilet and requires re-housing 
into accommodation suitable for their use.  

o A member of the household is elderly or has a disability or has a 
fluctuating or progressive long term illness and is likely to require 
admission to hospital or residential/nursing care in the immediate 
future and re-housing would enable the person to remain at 
home. 

o Armed forces personnel who need to move to suitable adapted 
accommodation because of a serious injury, medical condition or 
disability which they or a member of their household, has 
sustained as a result of service. 

o People who have a severe mental ill health or learning disability 
which significantly affects their ability to lead a normal life and 
which puts them at risk of admission to hospital or residential 
care. 

o A serious illness, is currently receiving palliative care and urgently 
requires rehousing to facilitate the ongoing provision of this care. 

o A life limiting condition and their current accommodation is 
affecting their ability to retain independence or enable adequate 
care. 

o The applicant’s health is so severely affected by the 
accommodation that it is likely to become life threatening, e.g. 
applicant has severe mental health problems that are significantly 
exacerbated by their accommodation. 

o A new and life changing condition that severely disables their 
mobility, meaning they are unable to carry out day-to-day 
activities or have difficulty accessing facilities inside and outside 

Page 64



 

 39 

of their accommodation and requires rehousing into 
accommodation suitable for their use.  

o Where their current property leaves a person at risk of infection, 
e.g. where an applicant is suffering from late stage or advanced 
HIV infection. 

 

 Disability or Medical Grounds – Reasonable Preference 
 
Customers whose housing is unsuitable for severe medical reasons or due to 
disability but who are not housebound or whose safety is not at risk due to their 
current housing will be awarded reasonable preference and placed in Band C.  
 
Their housing conditions will need to contribute to causing serious ill health. 
Their circumstances will be assessed in the same way as for the additional 
preference category above.  The assessment will be made by an officer of the 
partner organisation with specific responsibility for the assessment of such 
cases and following a set of criteria based upon routine medical conditions and 
property conditions/facilities.  The officer will make the assessment from 
information given by the customer who will be required to complete a medical 
questionnaire. 
 
In most cases the assessment will not be of the customer’s health or disability 
but how their accommodation affects their health or disability.   
 
In some cases evidence maybe required from an Occupational Therapist, Doctor 
or Consultant and a decision may be taken to pass the information to a medical 
consultancy commissioned by the Partnership for the purposes of clarification.  
The decision on whether to award priority will be taken by the partner 
organisation. 
 
The following are examples that would qualify for Band C priority: 
 

o Children with severe conditions such as autism, or cerebral palsy 
where their long term needs cannot be met without settled 
accommodation. 

o A person whose disability means that re-housing would enable 
them to overcome physical barriers created by their current 
accommodation e.g. stairs and steps. 

o A person with a severe disability requiring substantial adaptations 
to a property which is not provided for in their current 
accommodation. 

o A person with a terminal illness or long term fluctuating or 
progressive medical condition whose current accommodation is 
not having a significant impact on their condition but where their 
quality of life would be significantly improved by moving to 
alternative settled accommodation which may or may not be closer 
to support. 

 
Welfare Grounds – Additional Preference  
 

 Domestic Abuse, extreme violence or extreme harassment. 
 

Page 65



 

 40 

Customers who need to move due to domestic abuse, extreme violence or 
extreme harassment or hate crime will be awarded Band A priority.  This would 
include, hate crime, disability, religious, racial, homophobic or gender 
reassignment/transgender harassment and will be awarded for exceptional 
circumstances where there is a high risk to the tenant or their family’s safety if 
they remain in the property/area. 

 
This priority will be given in circumstances where the customer does not wish to 
make a homeless application but cannot remain in the property long-term or has 
moved to stay with relatives or friends because of the threat.  They will be 
awarded this priority without needing to pursue a homeless application though it 
remains their choice to do so.  
 
Tenants of partner organisations can be assessed and given Band A priority by 
their own Landlord (regardless of who is administering their housing application).  
All other applicants to the scheme will be assessed by the Local Authority 
Housing Options Team.   
 
The assessment will be made by a senior officer within the partner organisations 
and will be based on evidence provided by the customer and other appropriate 
statutory and voluntary agencies.  This would include, the Police, Social 
Services, referrals by MARAC, Domestic Violence and LGBT support groups. 
 

 Move on from supported housing projects 
 
Customers who are moving on from a specified list (Appendix 8) of supported 
housing projects will be awarded Band B. 
 
They must have a vulnerability and urgent housing need that is best met through 
the provision of long term settled housing.  To qualify for this additional 
preference the support provider will provide a completed Move On from 
Supported Accommodation Form (Appendix 7) which provides evidence that the 
customer: 

o Has successfully completed a minimum of 6 months in the 
supported housing scheme (except in proven exceptional 
circumstances when a lesser period may be considered). 

o Is ready to move to independent settled accommodation. 
o Has a support package that has been assessed and is in place. 

 
Customers can register when they move into supported accommodation and are 
likely to be awarded Band D priority.  When they are assessed as ready to move 
on they will be awarded Band B priority.  
 

 Young Person in Need (including young people moving on from Care).  
 
Young people referred by Social Services in accordance with the joint protocol 
will be awarded Band B.  All referrals by Children’s Services will be made 
following the provision of Cumbria’s Joint Protocol for young people, 2015. 
 
Referrals will be made where a young person is leaving care or housing and 
child in need assessment with a recommendation for housing has been made. 
The criteria for the award of additional preference are: 

Page 66



 

 41 

 
o The young person is ready to move to independent settled housing 

and is genuinely prepared for a move to independent living. 
o They possess the life skills to manage a tenancy including managing 

a rent account. 
o The young person is in need of medium or long term tenancy support. 
o The support package has been assessed and is in place. 
o Their needs are such that accommodation in the private rented sector, 

through its short term nature, would have a detrimental effect on their 
move to independent living.  

 

 Welfare grounds – reasonable preference 
  
o In cases of extreme financial hardship, following assessment, an 

applicant may be awarded reasonable preference.  This is likely to be 
a case where the person is so financially impacted by their current 
housing that they cannot afford to adequately feed, clothe and meet 
the fuel costs for themselves and their family and this is not the fault 
of their own actions.  The responsibility for undertaking a financial 
assessment lies with the relevant landlord, who will liaise directly with 
the Council. The decision to award additional preference lies solely 
with the Council and will be considered on a case by case basis. 

o Social housing tenants suffering extreme financial hardship, as a 
direct result of welfare reform and moving will alleviate their financial 
hardship.  The responsibility for undertaking a financial assessment 
lies with the relevant landlord, who will liaise directly with the Council.  
The decision to award preference lies solely with the Council and will 
be considered on a case by case basis. 

 
4.5 Reasonable preference category S166A (3) (e)  – people who need 

to move to a particular locality within the local authority’s district, 
where failure to meet that need would cause hardship to themselves 
or others. 

 
Customers being assessed as meeting the criteria for this category will be 
awarded reasonable preference and placed in Band C.  
 
Note: Customers given only reasonable preference (Band C) may be given a 
Band B priority based on a combination of housing needs – see Cumulative 
Preference (section 4.7) below. 
 
The people who meet these criteria are those who need to move for: 

 Employment purposes  

 To be near relatives to give or receive support 

 To access medical treatment/social services facilities 
 
Customers who are assessed as meeting these criteria for employment 
purposes will be placed in Band C.  Priority will only be given in exceptional 
circumstances and customers will need to show: 
 

 That they need to move to take up or continue an employment opportunity 
not available elsewhere.  They will only be considered where they do not 

Page 67



 

 42 

live within a reasonable commuting distance and will be required to 
provide confirmation of employment details from the employer. 

 
Customers who are assessed as meeting this criterion for support purposes will 
be placed in Band C.  Priority will only be given in exceptional circumstances 
and customers will need to show: 

 

 That they require substantial and ongoing support from relatives or 
friends.  This will only be considered where there is a severe mental 
health, medical or welfare issue and there are reasons why this support 
cannot be made available through reliance on public transport or the 
customer’s own transport. 

 
Example of the type of information required in order to assess the priority 
include: 

o Confirmation of name and address of the person who is to provide 
the care and the person who is to receive care 

o Evidence of their care requirements (Doctor, Social Services) 
o Evidence of links to care groups 
o Disability living allowance receipt 

 
Customers who are assessed as meeting this criterion for access to medical 
treatment or social services facilities will be placed in Band C.  Priority will only 
be given in exceptional circumstances and customers will need to show: 

 

 That they have a need to access medical care and/or social services 
facilities and that cannot be met through reliance on public transport, the 
customer’s own transport, or through provision put in place by health or 
social services. 

 
Example of the type of information required in order to assess the priority 
include: 

o Confirmation of name and address of the medical or social 
provision to which they need access 

o Evidence of their care requirements (Doctor, Social Services) 
o Evidence that no other provision is available and no assistance 

can be provided to enable them to access the service 
 

Customers who are assessed as having an Urgent or High Need for Housing 
due to Reasonable Preference (in Bands A and B) will have their bidding activity 
monitored by the Local Authority or Social Housing Provider which has assessed 
their banding and will be expected to bid on available suitable properties. They 
will be offered advice and support. Proxy bids will apply to households in these 
bands after 6 weeks if no bids have been placed or bids made have been 
unsuccessful (see section 5.6), subject to suitable properties being available.  
 
4.6 Economic and Community Contribution 

 
This scheme aims to support economic growth within the County and to value 
those who make a positive contribution to their community.  For customers 
awarded no reasonable preference and placed in Band D a proportion of 

Page 68



 

 43 

properties will be made available and those who meet the economic and 
community criteria will be placed at the top of the shortlist. 
 
Customers being assessed as meeting the criteria for this category will be placed 
in Band D Plus.  Customers will be awarded this additional priority in the 
following circumstances: 
 

 Low income working household – the scheme wants to encourage those 
people who work but are on a low income to remain in the area and 
contribute to the economic activity of that area.  

 
Low income households are those who are working but would find it difficult to 
access home ownership or low cost home ownership.  
 
Working households are those where at least one adult member is in 
employment.  This is a permanent contract, working as a temporary member of 
staff or being self-employed.  The person will only qualify if they have been 
employed for 9 out of the last 12 months.  Verification will be sought at the point 
of application as well as at the point of offer.  
 
Customers must provide payslips, P60, bank statements or a verifying letter on 
headed paper.  
 

 Community Contribution – the scheme wants to encourage people who 
make their communities strong, stable and healthy places to live so that 
they will remain in that community and continue to contribute to sustaining 
the local area. 

 
Volunteers must have been volunteering for a continuous period of at least 6 
months at the point of application and must have continued in voluntary work at 
the point of offer.  Volunteering must be for a not-for-profit organisation or a 
charity and must be for a minimum of 10 hours per month.  
 
Note: Tenant and resident organisations recognised by a Local Authority or 
Registered Social Landlord are included. 
 
Evidence of volunteering work will be required from the Manager responsible or 
their representative for the volunteer.  This person must not be related to the 
customer.  
 

 Customers of the 9 RP partners of the Cumbria Choice scheme with a 
positive tenancy history - the scheme wants to encourage tenants to meet 
the terms of their tenancy agreement and to assist and retain within the 
social rented sector those tenants who do.  

 
           Tenants must have a positive tenancy history to qualify: 

o No on-going involvement in anti-social behaviour or criminal 
activities 

o A clear rent account maintained for a period of 1 year or more 
o A property maintained in accordance with the tenancy agreement 
o No breaches of the tenancy agreement in the last 3 years 
o Not have an outstanding unspent conviction or pending conviction 

Page 69



 

 44 

 

 Pre Tenancy Qualification Award – the scheme wants to encourage and 
help young people under 25 to be responsible tenants and where they 
are willing to learn how to be a good tenant to reward that effort. 

 
In some Local Authority areas courses are available for young people to attend 
and gain a ‘young person pre-tenancy qualification’.  Where a young person has 
gained this award and shown they know how to live as a responsible tenant they 
will quality for this category. 
 
They must have attended a course recognised by the Local Authority or obtained 
an NVQ level qualification.   
 
4.7  Cumulative Preference 
 
This scheme takes account of customers who have more than one housing need 
and gives them additional priority for example people who have a medical need 
and are also living in overcrowded conditions.  
 
Customers who have two or more of the housing needs as listed in Band C will 
be placed in Band B to reflect their additional housing needs: 
  

 Households needing to move to a particular locality on hardship grounds 

 Households overcrowded/under occupying 

 Households where there is one or more category 1 hazard as assessed 
under the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HSSRS) as defined 
under Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004.  

 Medical or disability need 

 Households suffering financial hardship as a result of housing benefit 
changes under Welfare Reform  
 
 
 
 

4.8  Reduced Preference 
 
Local Authorities have a right to reduce a person’s priority for housing under their 
allocation policy.  This action will be taken in order to enforce to existing and 
prospective tenants the importance of taking seriously their responsibilities as a 
tenant: 

 The responsibility of paying their rent and service charges. 

 The responsibility to keep the property in good repair and not to cause 
deliberate damage. 

 The responsibility to conduct their tenancy in accordance with their 
tenancy agreement and not to cause nuisance or annoyance to their 
neighbours. 

 
Reduced preference will also take account of other criteria and will be given in 
the following circumstances: 
 

 There is a current or former debt owed to a social or private sector 
landlord. 

Page 70



 

 45 

 There is a history of unacceptable behaviour within the last 2 years (see 
Reduced preference due to unacceptable behaviour p42) 

 Customers who have been found to be intentionally homeless but would 
otherwise meet one or more of the conditions for Band E. 

 Customers who do not have a local connection with the Local Authority 
area. 

 Customers who have the financial resources to purchase a property  

 Customers who have refused 3 offers of accommodation that they have 
‘bid’ for or been offered under management discretion within the last 12 
months.  

 Young people less than 18 years of age unless they meet the criteria for 
being offered accommodation which would be those who are accepted 
as homeless with a full duty or referrals from Children’s Services.  

 Tenants with starter or probationary tenancies. 
 
Reduced preference due to current or former housing related debt 
 

For the purpose of this policy the partner Council, when carrying out an 
assessment, will take into consideration all property related debts that are both 
recoverable and not statute barred.  This includes any: 
 

I. current or former tenancy rent arrears; 
II. outstanding re-chargeable repairs; 

III. current and former housing related service charge arrears; 
IV. bed and breakfast or other temporary accommodation charge arrears; 
V. associated court costs. 

 
Property related debts apply to both the applicant and members of their 
household. 
 

Where a property related debt over £500 is in existence with any landlord party 
to this policy, the application for housing would be given the reduced preference 
but in addition the applicant would not be actively considered for housing until 
such time as they have: 
 

1. entered into a repayment plan with the former landlord; 
2. made a minimum of 13 consecutive weekly payments, at an agreed 

level; and 
3. repaid a minimum of 25% of the debt. 

 
This process can only be circumvented where the debt is repaid in full.  In order 
to encourage good financial management and discourage applicants from using 
doorstep lenders, who may charge excessively high interest rate loans, lump 
sum payments of above 25% of the total debt owed would not count until the 13 
week minimum repayment period has been satisfied. 
 

The process may be circumvented where the partner Council believes that highly 
exceptional and significant circumstances exist, and the need to move is 
considered urgent.  This will be a decision of the senior officer responsible for 
the housing allocation policy in the partner Council.  
 

Applicants with a housing related debt up to £500 will be awarded reduced 
preference and can be considered for housing they successfully bid for providing 

Page 71



 

 46 

that they had agreed and were actively following a repayment plan for a 
minimum of 13 consecutive weekly payments.  Adherence with the plan would 
be checked prior to an offer of accommodation being made by the partner 
concerned. 
 

Housing debt from all tenures will be considered and includes current or former 
rent arrears and/or recharges for repairs from property damage.  
 
Non housing debts will not be considered.  This includes for example housing 
benefit overpayments and mortgage arrears.  These debts are either not legally 
enforceable in tenancy law as a condition of the tenancy or under grounds for 
possession in the Housing Act 1985. 
 
Where a customer has a debt each case will be considered individually and in 
certain circumstances the customer will not be given reduced preference. 
Examples include but are not limited to:  

o Customers who have been accepted by a Local Authority as 
unintentionally homeless and in priority need. 

o The customer has been a victim of Domestic Violence 
o The debt arose due to the customer’s vulnerability. 
o The customer was unable to pay due to circumstances other than 

deliberate non payment. 
o The customer has suffered financial hardship as a result of welfare 

reform. 
 
Note: In circumstances where a debt is owed to a housing organisation and the 
customer is not to be given reduced preference in accordance with the examples 
listed above the organisation to whom the debt is owed may decide not to make 
an offer of accommodation.  The customer will be expected to set up and 
maintain a repayment plan to the creditor landlord.  Other RP’s may choose to 
make an offer of accommodation based on the applicant’s individual 
circumstances where the repayment has not been set up or maintained.  
Although this is a common allocation policy across 6 local authority areas 
including the local authorities and the registered provider partners individual 
partners may apply their own rules as to whether to accept a bid from an 
applicant where there are current or former rent arrears or poor behaviour.   
 
Any debt will be assessed at the point at which the customer’s priority is being 
considered unless any new information becomes available at a later time and 
the following will be considered: 
 

 The amount of the arrears/debt. 

 Whether there are any exceptional circumstances as detailed above. If 
this is the case then the customer will not be subject to reduced 
preference. 

 Whether the customer has entered into any arrangement to clear the 
arrears/debt and if so, the amount already paid off and the length of time 
and regularity of any payments. 
 

Customers who owe a debt over £1000 may be deemed ineligible based on a 

case by case basis and subject to any exceptional circumstances. This is 

Page 72



 

 47 

because customers with that level of arrears will be considered by the Local 

Authority to be unsuitable to be a tenant by reason of that behaviour. 

 
Customers can apply at any time to have their application reinstated where they 
are able to show an improvement in their behaviour, in this instance full payment 
of the debt owed or maintenance of the agreement made.  
 
Reduced preference due to unacceptable behaviour 
 
Customers will be given reduced preference where it can be satisfied that having 
considered all the available evidence they (or a member of their current or 
prospective household) has failed to adhere to the terms of any current of 
previous social housing or private sector tenancy agreement.  
 
This would include but is not limited to following examples of unacceptable 
behaviour: 
 

 Failing to maintain the property within the terms of the agreement – for 
example damage to the property, accumulation of large amounts of 
rubbish in and around the property.  

 Conduct likely to cause nuisance or annoyance – this is conduct or 
behavior that does not only relate to a previous social housing or private 
rented sector tenancy agreement.  This includes where an applicant or 
a member of their current or prospective household is the subject of 
actions being taken by the Council (or some other competent body) on 
grounds of alleged Anti Social Behaviour (ASB). 

 Committing acts causing or likely to cause nuisance or annoyance to 
neighbours or others in the locality where they live or where they 
previously lived.  This would include noise nuisance, threatening or 
abusive behaviour. 

 Criminal behaviour that was relevant to the tenancy and/or locality, for 
example being in possession of illegal drugs, acts of public disorder.   

 Serious breaches of a social or private sector tenancy agreement – for 
example operating a business from the premises, having an 
unreasonable numbers of pets at the property.    

 Behaving in a threatening, abusive or obstructive manner towards staff 
of the partnership and or their contractors. 

 
Reduced preference due to the refusal of 3 reasonable offers of 
accommodation 
 
Customers who have bid for and refused 3 offers of accommodation (including 
any reasonable offer made through management discretion) within 12 months 
of the date of their first offer will have their priority for housing reduced for a 12 
month period.  After this 12 month period of reduced preference the customer 
will be returned to their original Band with their original date as long as a change 
of circumstances has not occurred.  
 
Note: this does not apply to homeless customers owed a Local Authority duty 
who will be made one reasonable offer. 
 
Notification of reduced preference 

Page 73



 

 48 

 
Customers who have been given a reduced preference will be provided with 
written notification of the decision which will contain the following information: 
 

 The reasons for the decision to give reduced preference. 

 The Band that their application would be awarded had they not been 
given reduced preference and placed in Band E. 

 Their right of appeal and the requirement to put their request in writing 
within 21 days of receiving the decision. 

 What they need to do before their application will be placed in the Band 
determined by their housing needs. 

 That a customer can ask at any time for their application to be removed 
from the reduced preference Band.  The request for removal must be 
made in writing and must set out why the customer believes that the 
reduced preference they have been given is no longer justified. 

Page 74



 

 49 

Section 5     How the Scheme Operates 
 
5.1 Advertising the Properties 
 
Choice based lettings are about the customer having choice in where they live. 
Properties will be advertised and customers will be able to indicate the properties 
for which they want to be considered by ‘bidding’.  Once the bidding process 
closes a shortlist will be compiled and the property allocated taking account of 
the banding priority of the applications and their time waiting.  
 
The partnership organisations have agreed to advertise the majority of their 
properties through Cumbria Choice.  Properties will be advertised on a weekly 
basis on both the website and in newsletter form. 
 
Properties will be advertised in an easy to read format.  They will usually include 
a picture of the property or scheme in which it is located.  Property adverts will 
include details of the property and will indicate suitable household size as well 
as giving information about the local area.  They will (where appropriate) indicate 
the priority band of customers eligible to apply.  The properties will clearly 
indicate which housing organisation is the Landlord. 
 
Properties may be advertised during the 4 week notice period given by an 
outgoing tenant.  If the notice is subsequently withdrawn by the tenant the 
property will therefore be unavailable to let.  
 
All categories of properties will be advertised.  General needs properties; 
properties that have been adapted for those with disabilities; properties that are 
specifically for the elderly and which may have a warden and/or an emergency 
call system.  Adverts will clearly indicate any restrictions on bidding (e.g. where 
properties have been adapted and/or are specifically for people with disabilities) 
and will detail any particular criteria that apply (e.g. where full occupancy is 
required, affordability criteria etc.)   
 
Bids from customers will only be accepted if they meet all of the eligibility criteria 
for the property. However if their situation is changing imminently, once evidence 
has been provided they will also be accepted.  
 
5.2 Extra Care Properties  
 
Properties which provide extra care facilities are provided under the Supporting 
People Programme.  Customers requiring these properties will need to apply 
direct to the provider. 
 
5.3 Sheltered Housing 
 
Sheltered accommodation is included within the scheme.  It is generally for 
people of 60 years and older and offers independent living with the added 
security and support of a warden service.  In certain circumstances it may be 
advertised for people less than 60 years.  Property advertisements will clearly 
state the age requirements of customers able to ‘bid’ for a property. 
 

 

Page 75



 

 50 

5.4 Quota system 
 
A quota system may be used to allow customers in lower priority Bands access 
to housing.  This allows a proportion of properties to be advertised as available 
only to those in a specific Band.  The system will be monitored to ensure that it 
does not operate to the detriment of those with a higher need for housing 
meaning that overall the scheme will continue to meet the needs of applicants 
assessed as being owed a reasonable preference. 
 
If a particular partner local authority decides to use a quota system they will 
agree the quota systems in their own areas in conjunction with their partner 
social housing providers.  They will be individually decided to meet local 
requirements.  
 
Where a quota system exists partners will have formal agreements with the 
relevant Local Authority, specifying the % lets for each Band.  These will be 
reviewed by the partnership for that local authority area on an annual basis. 
 
The quota system operated in each Local Authority area will be available on the 
Cumbria Choice website and on request from the offices of all partner 
organisations. 
 
5.5 The ‘Bidding’ process 
 
Properties are advertised on a weekly cycle.  Customers may express an interest 
- ‘bid’ on any advertised property that meets their needs.  They are able to place 
up to 3 bids each week. 
 
Bids can be made in a number of ways: on the website using the username and 
password; by telephoning or visiting the office of a partner organisation; by mail; 
by automated telephone bidding; by proxy bidding (see ‘proxy bids’ 5.6). 
 
A person may bid for any suitable property advertised in the scheme; this means 
any area covered by the scheme and any landlord advertising in the scheme.  
Bidding is not restricted to areas where a person may have a local connection 
unless the advert specifies ‘local connection only’.  
 
Customers are able to check their position on the list at the time of the bid, 
together with the total number of bids already placed.  This allows customers to 
make decisions about their choice of property and the likelihood of being 
successful.  Within the bidding period, customers may withdraw bids and make 
further bids. 
 
Only the customer whose bid is successful will be contacted.  
 
5.6 Proxy Bids 
 
The relevant Local Authority will be able to place bids on behalf of homeless 
households owed a full homeless or threatened with homeless duty under 
section 193(2) or 195(2) of the Housing Act 1996 Part 7 who have not made bids 
or not made any successful bids during the 6 week period that they are owed 
that duty and have been awarded their banding for that duty.  In addition the 

Page 76



 

 51 

Local Authority will also make proxy bids on behalf of homeless households who 
have not yet had a decision (a S184 decision) on their homeless application, but 
have been in temporary accommodation for a period of 6 weeks or more, 
regardless of their current banding as to whether it would be a ‘suitable offer’ 
should the bid be successful. 
 
Customers who have been awarded Band A for any housing need or 
circumstances will also be subject to Proxy Bids,  if they have not been bidding, 
following a 6 week period of being awarded the Band subject to suitable 
accommodation having been available during that 6 week period.  If the 
customer refuses an offer which is deemed reasonable and suitable, Band A 
preference may be reduced. 
 
It is also appreciated that there will be a number of vulnerable customers who 
will require agencies to make bids on their behalf.  Proxy bids will be taken from 
agencies and support groups where the customer gives their consent for bids to 
be made on their behalf. 
  
5.7 Shortlisting  
 
At the end of the advertising period a shortlist of suitable applicants will be 
produced by the web based IT system.  
 
Where priority is to be given to applicants with a local connection to the area this 
will be reflected in the shortlist. (See ‘local connection’ 5.8) 
 
The customer at the top of the shortlist will be made the offer unless there is 
reason not to do so. (See ‘the offer’ 5.10).  
 
Where a customer is at the top of more than one shortlist they will be contacted 
to make a preference within 24 hours and before a viewing can be arranged.   
Where there are two households with the same Band and length of time on the 
register a decision to offer the property will be based on the household who is 
assessed as being most suitable for the property. 
 
Where the property advert has indicated specific requirements such as age or 
accessibility, only those customers meeting those requirements will be eligible 
for an offer.  
 
5.8  Local Connection 
 
In situations where priority is to be given to applicants with a local connection 
the process will be: 
 

 Banding priority will apply 

 Within each Band those with a local connection to the Local Authority in 
which the property is located will be given a higher priority than those 
whose local connection is with other Cumbrian Authorities. 

 Customers with no local connection to any Local Authority partner 
organisation within the Cumbria Choice scheme may be given reduced 
preference. 

 

Page 77



 

 52 

Properties where no local connection is required will be identified through 
information given in the advert. 
 
For some towns and villages where there is a high demand for housing additional 
priority may be given to customers who have a local connection to the particular 
town or village.  Advert details will state where a customer having a local 
connection to the specific town or village may be given priority.  Those towns 
and villages operating a local connection policy will be identified within each 
Local Authority’s local lettings plans.  In any local letting plan for a particular town 
or village the definition of local connection may be based on locally agreed 
criteria and will not necessarily be the definition in section 5.8. 
 
A local connection means that a customer:  
 

 Currently resides in the area in either temporary or permanent 
accommodation and has been resident in the Local Authority area or 
specified town/village for at least 6 out of the past 12 months or 3 out of 
the past 5 years.  

 Is at present permanently employed in the district or specified town/village 
for a minimum of 16 hours per week, or has a firm permanent job offer in 
the locality for a minimum of 16 hours per week.  Permanent employment 
will be taken to include contracts for a minimum of 1 year’s continuous 
employment, and the self-employed, on provision of evidence of a viable 
business.  The Local Authority should obtain confirmation from the 
employer that the person is in employment and that the employment is 
not of a casual nature. 

 Has evidenced a family connection with someone who lives in the Local 
Authority area or specified town/village.  Family connection means:  
parents, adult children, brothers or sisters, grandparents and foster carers 
or guardians who have been resident in the district for a period of at least 
the last 5 years. 

 Currently serving in the regular armed forces or has served in the armed 
forces in the five years preceding application.  

 Currently in the armed forces or are an existing or former member of 
reserve forces and suffering from a serious injury, illness or disability. 

 Bereaved spouse (including same sex) or civil partner of those serving in 
the regular forces and are no longer entitled to reside in Ministry of 
Defence accommodation. 

 They need to live in the locality either because they are ill and/or need 
support from a relative who lives in the locality, or because they need to 
give support to a relative who is ill and/or needs support who lives in the 
locality.  Proof of illness and/or need of support will be required from a 
medical doctor or relevant statutory support agency. 

 On advice from an appropriate professional it is clear that they need to 
live in the locality due to reported domestic violence, harassment and/or 
hate crime at a previous locality and moving to the locality will reduce risk 
of harm and enable support, employment and/or education needs. 

 
The partnership aims to improve mobility within the sub region and will advertise 
at least 10% of all partner organisation properties to all customers across the 
sub region regardless of local connection. 
 

Page 78



 

 53 

5.9 Section 106’s 
 
Under the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 some developments are subject 
to Section 106 planning obligations which usually requires properties to be let to 
customers with a local connection to stated Parishes.  Where this applies only 
those applicants meeting the requirements of the Section 106 agreement will be 
eligible for an offer of a property. 
 
Advert details will state when the letting of a property is governed by a Section 
106 agreement.   
 
5.10 The Offer  
 
Prior to an offer being made the landlord of the advertised property will carry out 
a further verification of the customer’s eligibility and priority.  In certain situations 
the offer will not be made:  

 If since joining the scheme an applicant has become ineligible. 
 

 On verification of the applicants’ details, the priority band was found to 
have been incorrectly awarded due to the information received by the 
applicant or due to mistakes in the assessment of the application itself.  

 

 The applicants’ circumstances have changed since the priority band was 
awarded and the applicant is no longer entitled to the same level of 
priority. 

 

 The partner landlord has good housing management reason not to offer 
a property.  

 
In order to address issues relating to under-occupation, partner landlords may 
require either that the property will be fully occupied by the new tenant or allow 
a level of under-occupancy.  Full occupation may be required where high 
demand exists and/or the partner landlord considers full occupancy necessary 
to make best use of its housing stock.  When letting to achieve full occupancy 
the letting made will comply with the Household Type and Property Size criteria 
as shown in Appendix 4.  Individual landlords will publish information about their 
approach to occupancy following consultation with the Local Authorities in 
whose areas they operate.  This will be available on the Cumbria Choice 
website.    
 
When an offer of the property is made the customer may be required to provide 
proof of their identity and that of all members of their household e.g. passport, 
photo driving licence, birth certificate. In circumstances where none of these are 
available other identity evidence will be accepted. No offer of accommodation 
will be made unless a National Insurance Number is provided. 
 
5.11 Refusing and Non Replies to Offers 
 
Customers who have bid for and refused 3 offers of accommodation (including 
reasonable offers made under management discretion) will have their priority 
reduced for 12 months. (see ‘reduced preference’ 4.8)   
 

Page 79



 

 54 

Note: Those household accepted as statutorily homeless and owed a duty to 
house will lose their priority status banding for being accepted as statutory 
homeless if they refuse a ‘suitable offer of accommodation’ they have bid for or 
where a bid has been made on their behalf by the Council or another 
organisation. The offer of suitable accommodation made will also bring the 
homeless duty owed to them to an end and they will be warned of this 
consequence at the point the property is formally offered to them. 
 
If a customer does not reply to an offer within 2 working days of receiving the 
offer it is deemed to have been refused and the property will be offered to the 
second customer on the shortlist.   
 
Where the customer has given their consent for someone to either act on their 
behalf or receive the offer, we will ensure notification is provided to them. 
 
5.12 Local Lettings 
 
Partner organisations may draw up local lettings policies for an area or estate to 
meet the specific needs of that local community.  Local lettings policies may be 
used to tackle particular management problems and/or to address imbalances 
in the community.  
 
Schemes will be drawn up where either, local residents or partner organisations 
have identified its benefit to the local community.  These arrangements will be 
agreed and reviewed by the Partnership and will be Equality Impact assessed 
for fairness. 
 
Where such a scheme applies a property may not always be offered to the bidder 
with the highest priority.  Local Lettings schemes will be publicised on the 
Cumbria Choice website and available in leaflet form to ensure openness and 
transparency in the lettings process.  
 
For information on how Local Letting Policies will be applied to the Cumbria 
Choice Scheme see Appendix 10. 
 
5.13 Feedback on Lettings 
 
A main aim of the Cumbria Choice scheme is to operate an open and transparent 
lettings system. 
 
The result of lettings made through the scheme will be published on the Cumbria 
Choice web site and at the end of the property advert newssheet. 
 
5.14 Other Options 
 
A further aim of the scheme is to promote other potential housing options 
appropriate to applicants.  These might include shared ownership/shared equity 
properties, mutual exchanges, private rental and lodgings.  Partner landlords will 
raise awareness of these options and support and advice to applicants 
considering such options. 
 

Page 80



 

 55 

With regard to mutual exchanges, all partners are members of the national 
mobility scheme and the Cumbria Choice website provides a link to this scheme.  
The option to mutually exchange will in particular be promoted to applicants who 
under-occupy their homes.  Partners will proactively seek to identify exchange 
opportunities for applicants who under-occupy, as well as advising of other 
potential options to enable downsizing. 
 

  

Page 81



 

 56 

Section 6      The Review Process 
     
Customers who want to query a decision made in relation to their application to 
register and any other subsequent decisions are first able to speak to the Officer 
making the decision to have that decision clarified or amended.  This is outside 
the review process and does not affect a customer’s right to ask for a formal 
review of the decision. 
 
6.1 There is a right to a review of a decision in the following situations: 
  

 The customer disagrees with the Band in which they have been 
placed. 

 The customer considers that a decision has been reached based 
on incorrect information. 

 The customer has been treated as ineligible on the basis of their 
immigration status. 

 They have been treated as not qualifying to be included on the 
register due to serious unacceptable behaviour or another 
qualification criteria set out in the policy. 

 Their application has been given reduced preference. 

 The customer believes they have been discriminated against due 
to them having one or more protected characteristics under the 
Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.2 Customers will be notified in writing of decisions made and will be advised 

of their right to request a review of that decision. 
 
6.3 Where a customer is excluded or suspended from the Register they will 

be given full information on the reasons for the decision.  They will be 
advised of what action they need to take to rectify the situation and any 
appropriate advice or assistance available. 

 
6.4 Customers must request a review of a decision within 21 days of being 

notified in writing, unless there are exceptional circumstances which 
prevents them from requesting a review within that timescale. 

 
6.5 Customers must contact the partner organisation dealing with their 

application and will be advised to put their request for a review in writing.  
However they are able to telephone or visit an office in person and 
request that their request for a review is taken in writing by an officer.  
They must give reasons why they wish to have the decision reviewed 
including where they believe an incorrect decision has been made on the 
facts. 

 
6.6 The review will be carried out by a senior officer in the organisation 

dealing with the application.  That officer will not have been involved in 
making the original decision. 

 
The review will be considered on the basis of the authority’s allocation 
scheme, any legal requirements and all relevant information.  This will 
include information provided by the applicant on any relevant 
developments since the original decision was made 

Page 82



 

 57 

 
6.7 Cumbria Choice will aim to complete and inform the applicant in writing 

of the decision within 21 working days, after taking into account any 
additional information that has been provided by the customer. 
Alternatively, the customer will be advised of any time extension required 
to make the decision. 

 
6.8 The customer will be advised of the reasons for the decision and their 

right to request a further review if they are dissatisfied with the decision. 
 
6.9 Customers must request a further review within 21 days of being notified 

in writing of the review decision.  Customers will only be entitled to a 
further review if they have new information relevant to their case, that they 
want the review panel to consider. 

 
6.10 Customers will be required to request a further review in writing and to 

submit additional information with their request.  They will be advised that 
they are able to seek assistance from the partner organisation to make 
this request. 

 
6.11 A review of the decision will be considered by a panel of at least 3 officers 

from within the partnership.  It will not include officers from the 
organisation that dealt with the review.  

 
6.12 Cumbria Choice will aim to complete the second review and inform the 

applicant in writing, of the decision within 21 days of receiving all 
information from the customer.  This period may be extended on 
notification to the customer. 

 
6.13 A customer still has the right to continue with their complaint to the 

Ombudsman service. 

 
  

Page 83



 

 58 

Section 7       Appendices 
 
7.1 Appendix 1 – Definition of Terms 
 
Accessibility – Used here the term refers to how ‘user friendly’ the service is to 
all people who may want to use it. 
 
Adapted Property – Property that is suitable for those with a physical disability 
i.e. where a stair lift has been fitted. 
 
Automatic Bidding – Within the ICT system a means of expressing an interest in 
a property for someone, without making the bid themselves.  
 
Banding Scheme – The method by which customers are prioritised for social 
housing (previously ‘points schemes’). 
 
Bidding – The term used to describe people who register an interest in a property 
(no money is involved in making the bid). 
 
Choice Based Lettings (CBL) – The system of letting property that gives 
customers choice in where they live through advertising property. 
 
Common Housing Register – One list for all of Cumbria of people applying for 
social housing (previously ‘housing waiting lists’). 
 
Customers – Those people applying to the scheme for housing. 
 
Effective Date – The date used to decide between customers in the same Band 
to establish who has waited longest. 
 
Fully Occupied – Bedrooms in the property that are being fully used in terms of 
the household occupying the property in accordance with the table in Appendix 
4.  When they are not fully used the property could be considered under 
occupied.   
 
Global Band / Local Band – In most cases a Band awarded applies for properties 
in all local authority areas and is therefore global.  In a few cases defined in the 
policy a Band only applies within the Local Authority area where the applicant is 
living and is referred to as a Local Band. 
 
Hard to Let – Low demand property where it takes longer to find a tenant. 
 
Housing Options – A term used to describe a service that advises customers of 
all their choices and includes mutual exchanges, low cost home ownership and 
renting in the private sector. 
 
Letting Policy – The means by which it is decided how property will be offered to 
customers. 
 
Local Lettings – Short term policy made in local areas (to tackle specific, 
identified housing management issues) on how property will be offered that 
differs in some part from the overall scheme policy. 

Page 84



 

 59 

 
Management Discretion – Property that is offered directly to an identified person 
without being advertised. 
 
Partnership – The name for the District Councils and housing organisations that 
have funded, developed and continues to operate the scheme.  
 
Proxy Bidding – a Local Authority or Registered Provider places bids on the 
customer’s behalf. 
 
Sub Region – the sub-region covers the whole of Cumbria 
 
Social Housing Providers – The term for a variety of housing organisations that 
provides not for profit housing and included local authorities, housing 
associations. 
 
Starter/Probationary Tenancies – The tenancy given to new tenants by some 
organisations that has reduced security of tenure for 1 year. 
 
Void Times – The length of time a property stands empty before someone moves 
in. 
 
Particular Needs – The protected characteristics as defined in the Equality Act 
2010.  
 
Unreasonable Refusal – An unreasonable refusal is where the customer 
subsequently refused a property on which they have bid either before or after 
viewing and their reason for doing so was based on information available to 
them at the point of bidding. (Customers can withdraw bids that they have 
made during the bidding cycle.) Where bids have been made by autobid the 
customer will not be deemed to have unreasonably refused as they did not 
actively bid on the property. Customers will not be given reduced preference 
where new information arises concerning the suitability of the property for the 
applicant and any household member which was not available when the bid 
was placed. This must be based on the needs of the household.   

Page 85



 

 60 

7.2 Appendix 2 -  Contact Details for all Partner Organisations 
 
Accent Housing Association 
Ambassador House 
Dalton Road 
Barrow-in-Furness 
LA14 1HZ 
Tel: 0345 6780555 
 
Allerdale Borough Council                           
Allerdale House 
New Bridge Road 
Workington 
CA14 3YJ 
Tel: 03031 231702 
 
Barrow Housing Department 
Town Hall 
Duke Street 
Barrow-in-Furness 
LA14 2LD 
Tel: 01229 876550  
 
Carlisle City Council 
Civic Centre 
Rickergate 
Carlisle 
CA3 8QG 
Tel: 01228 817200 
 
Copeland Borough Council 
The Market Hall 
Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG 
Tel: 01946 598300 
 
Eden District Council 
Mansion House 
Friar Gate 
Penrith 
CA11 7YG 
Tel: 01768 817817 
 
Eden Housing Association 
Blain House 
Bridge Lane 
Penrith 
CA11 8QU 
Tel: 01768 861400 
 
 

Page 86



 

 61 

Home Group 
PO Box 115 
Duke Street 
Whitehaven 
CA28 0BT 
Tel: 0345 1414663 
 
Impact Housing Association 
Nook Street 
Workington 
CA14 4EH 
Tel:  0344 8736290 
 
Riverside Housing Association 
English Gate Plaza 
Botchergate 
Carlisle 
CA1 1RP 
Tel: 0345 111 0000 
 
South Lakeland District Council 
South Lakeland House 
Lowther Street 
Kendal 
LA9 4DQ 
Tel: 01539 733333 
 
South Lakes Housing (ALMO) 
Bridge Mills Business Centre 
Stramongate 
Kendal 
LA9 4BD 
Tel: 0300 303 8540 
 
Two Castles Housing Association 
3 Castle Street 
Carlisle 
CA3 8SY 
Tel: 0800 0851171 
 
Your Derwent & Solway 
Stoneleigh 
Park End Road 
Workington 
CA14 4DN 
Tel: 01900 607500 
 
 
  

Page 87



 

 62 

7.3 Appendix 3 -  Eligibility Criteria  
 
The Cumbria Choice Scheme acknowledges that it is the main access to social 
rented housing for people wanting to live in Cumbria.  In this respect it aims to 
be as open and inclusive as it can be to those people wanting to apply to the 
Register.  It aims to make the scheme accessible to all, to encourage 
applications from people from all parts of the community, and to ensure that its 
policies and procedures do not discriminate.  
 
The Cumbria Choice Scheme operates a policy of not accepting onto the 
Register those customers who are ineligible due to serious unacceptable 
behaviour.  This action is taken for the following reasons: 

 Partner organisations within Cumbria Choice have a responsibility 
towards their existing tenants to put in place policies that allow them to 
live in safe and stable communities.  

 Cumbria Choice wants to promote through its allocation policy the 
importance of good tenant behaviour amongst both existing and future 
tenants. 
 

How decisions on eligibility will be administered: 

 Blanket exclusions are unlawful and will not be made: an individual 
assessment will be made based on the circumstances relevant to each 
case. 

 The partnership will ensure consistency in making decisions. 

 Decisions will be authorised by a senior officer. 
 

A customer’s eligibility for housing will be considered: 

 At the time he or she applies to join the CBL Register. 

 Whenever new information may come to the attention of a partner that 
the person may no longer be eligible under the policy.  

 At the point at which he or she is to be considered for an allocation of 
property. 

 
1 Non-Qualification due to Serious Unacceptable Behaviour 
 
1.1 Part 6 of the Housing Act 1996 as amended by the Homelessness Act 

2002 (section 160A (7)) allows the Local Authority to treat a person as a 
non-qualifying person where: 

 
‘The applicant, or any member of his household, has been guilty of 
unacceptable behaviour serious enough to make him/her unsuitable to be 
a tenant’ 
‘And at the time of the application, the customer is still unsuitable to be a 
tenant because of that behaviour’ 

 
1.2 When reaching a decision on whether an applicant is a non-qualifying 

person Cumbria Choice will be guided by the code of guidance for local 
authorities 2002 which sets out the 3 steps to consider when making an 
assessment. Although the 2002 Code has been superseded by new 
guidance (Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing 
authorities in England 2012) the partners accept it provides a clear 

Page 88



 

 63 

framework on how to apply the test of unacceptable behaviour and 
therefore have adopted the 3 step test set out: 

 
Step 1 Is the behaviour unacceptable? 

Behaviour will be regarded as unacceptable if it would have 
entitled the housing authority to a possession order if the 
applicant had been a secure tenant.  This will be applied 
whether or not the applicant was actually a secure tenant.  
The behaviour must relate to the customer or a member of 
their household.  Behaviour that relates to a person who is 
no longer a member of the household cannot be taken into 
account e.g. an ex-partner. 

 
Step 2 Is the unacceptable behaviour serious enough to make 

the applicant unsuitable as a tenant of the landlord? 
Where there would be entitlement to a possession order the 
partnership will need to ensure that the behaviour was 
serious enough to make the person unsuitable to be a 
tenant of one of the housing organisations in the 
partnership. 

 
Step 3 Is the behaviour current or has it improved? 

Unacceptable behaviour will be behaviour at the time the 
application is considered.  Previous unacceptable 
behaviour may not justify a decision to consider the 
applicant as unsuitable, if that behaviour can be shown to 
have improved.  Time spent in prison will not be considered 
as evidence that unacceptable behaviour has ceased. 

 
Where all three steps of the assessment have been satisfied the applicant 
will be treated as a non-qualifying person. 
 
Each decision will be taken based on the individual circumstances of the 
case.  Where a decision is taken to treat a person as a non-qualifying 
person to join the register the information will be collated by the officer 
and passed to a senior officer for authorisation.  

 
1.3 Identifying Serious Unacceptable Behaviour: 
 

 Housing records: this will identify the level of action taken by the housing 
organisation. Letters; Notice seeking Possession; injunctions; 
intention/actual Court action. 

 Note: where possession action was taken and was unsuccessful, then 
serious anti-social behaviour cannot be assessed has having occurred. 
(in these cases the customer’s application will be assessed for reduced 
preference) 

 Reports obtained from previous or current landlords. 

 Reference to information held by other statutory and/or voluntary 
agencies. This includes information gained from police reports and where 
in operation through the information sharing protocol with the Police. 

 Customers who have unspent criminal convictions may be treated as 
ineligible for accommodation where they are guilty of serious offences 

Page 89



 

 64 

that would threaten the safety or quiet enjoyment of resident of a local 
community. The Scheme will liaise with support agencies, the Police and 
Probation Service to consider the housing options for these applicants, 
where appropriate. Spent convictions will not be taken into account. 

 
Examples of the type of offences or behaviour that should be considered are: 
 

 Owing significant rent arrears or other housing debt – in most cases it is 
likely that the debt will be over £1,000. 

 The use of dwellings for the cultivation, supply and use of drugs, 
especially class A drugs. 

 Persistent and widespread criminal activity including domestic burglaries 
and vehicle crime. 

 Physical assaults, especially those resulting in physical injury, including 
domestic violence or abuse. 

 Serious damage to property, including dwellings and cars, for example 
arson attacks and windows being smashed. 

 Serious threats of violence and damage, including threats to kill, threats 
to petrol bomb. 

 Serious disorder, in particular associated with groups. 

 Very serious and persistent noise nuisance over long periods of time. 

 Persistent and offensive verbal abuse, due to a person’s race, gender, 
gender reassignment religion or belief, ethnicity, sexual orientation, 
disability, age or other factors.  

 Applicants who have had action taken against them for racially motivated 
offences or any other hate crime. 

 Applicants who have had action taken against them for homophobic 
motivated offences. 

 Persistent and offensive verbal abuse or threats of violence to staff or the 
agents of partner organisations in the Cumbria Choice scheme. 

 A combination of persistent behaviours, which while low level in 
themselves, taken together over time have a serious negative impact on 
the quality of life for individuals and communities. 

 
Evidence required to support an applicant being a non-qualifying person to join 
the register for reasons of the individual’s behaviour/conduct: 

 Copy of the Injunction 

 Copy of any other Court Order 

 Copy of correspondence confirming intention to take further court action 
after service of Notice seeking possession 

 Copy of correspondence to confirm intention to seek possession after 
service of Notice on an introductory or starter tenancy 

 Copy of NTQ if property abandoned by perpetrator whilst in the process 
of taking legal action to recover possession 

 Copy of suspended or outright possession order 

 Copy of ASBO 

 Case history of serious unacceptable and/or criminal activity, e.g. 
correspondence, police logs, reports from other statutory or support 
agencies 

 

Page 90



 

 65 

Evidence required where an applicant is ineligible due to wilful damage to a 
partner organisation’s property: 

 A report detailing the specific damage to the property 

 Photographs of the condition of the property 

 Details of the cost of the repairs required to reinstate the property 
 

Evidence required where an applicant has been violent or threatened violence 
to a member of staff or agent of a partner organisation: 

 A report detailing the incident along with confirmation that it has been 
reported to the Police 

 Evidence of follow up action, for example an injunction 
 

1.4 Customers who have unspent criminal convictions will be treated  a non-
qualifying person for accommodation where they are guilty of serious 
offences that could threaten the safety or quiet enjoyment of residents in 
a local community.  The Scheme will liaise with support agencies, the 
Police and Probation Service to consider the housing options for these 
customers, where appropriate.  Spent convictions will not be taken into 
account. 

 
1.5 Where a customer’s behaviour is deemed to be unacceptable due to a 

disability the relevant support agencies will be contacted.  A decision will 
then need to be made as to the level of support someone may need to 
sustain the tenancy.  If the level of support is deemed to be sufficient they 
will be accepted onto the housing register. 

 
1.6 In situations where the customer has been accepted as priority homeless 

with a duty to re-house but is excluded from the register – these cases 
will be dealt with by negotiation between the parties outside the Cumbria 
Choice Scheme.  

 
1.7 Consideration will be given to a customer making a new application if they 

are able to demonstrate with evidence, that the behaviour which led to 
the exclusion has changed and that there are no further incidents of 
serious unacceptable behaviour.  The views of any support agency 
involved with the customer will be sought. 

 
The onus is on the customer to make a new application and not on the 
Council to keep any circumstances under review.  Customers cannot 
usually re-apply within 12 months of a previous non-qualifying decision 
unless there is clear evidence that the issue has now been fully 
addressed and the partner is satisfied there is no risk of that issue 
occurring again.  All new applications will be dealt with on a case by case 
basis and applicants may be asked to provide evidence which 
demonstrates improved behaviour that would not constitute a breach of 
tenancy regardless of tenure.  

                   
 

1.8 Customers that are ineligible or deemed to be non-qualifying  to join the 
Register will be informed of the decision in writing and will be given the 
full reason for the decision.  

 

Page 91



 

 66 

1.9 Customers will be notified of what they need to do to be able to re-apply 
and where appropriate, will be given advice on agencies to contact to 
assist them with this. 

 
1.10 Customers will be notified of their right to request a review of the decision. 
 
1.11 Where a person is deemed to be non-qualifying due to the serious 

unacceptable behavior criteria they are able to, when seeking a review, 
make a case as to whether their circumstances are exceptional and this 
will be considered under the review.  The Partner Council undertaking the 
review will, as part of the review, also fully consider the Equality Act 2010 
and the duties placed upon the Council and will specifically consider:  

  
a) Whether the person, or a member of their household that they wish to be 

housed with them, meets the definition for one or more of the 9 protected 
characteristics in listed in the Equality Act 2010. 
 

b) If the Council agrees that the applicant or a member of their household 
comes under the definition for a protected characteristic it will fully comply 
with section 149 of 2010 Equality Act and ensure that it has obtained all 
relevant information relating to the applicant’s protected characteristic 
and will consider, if the decision were to be made on review that they do 
not qualify for the scheme, whether this would have an exceptionally 
detrimental impact on the person with the protected characteristic.  
 

c) Any decision on review that the applicant’s circumstances are not 
exceptional and that the applicant does not qualify will be a decision that 
is a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim.  

 
  

Page 92



 

 67 

7.4 Appendix 4 - Household Type and Property Size 
 
This table provides guidance on the size of home that different types of 
household can bid for on Cumbria Choice.  This is supplemented by the more 
detailed information which each housing provider places in individual 
advertisements and in guidance published on the Cumbria Choice website.  
 

Household Bedsit 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5+bed 
 

Single person 
  

D D   

2 Adults 
(couple 
including 
same sex 
couples) 

  
D  D   

2 Adults (non 
couple) 

  
 * 

D   

Single  1 
child 

  
 

D   

Single  2 
child 

  
  

  

Single  3 
Child 

   
  

 

Single 4 or 
more children 

   
   

Couple 1 
child 

  
 

D   

Couple 2 
child 

  
  

  

Couple 3 
child 

   
  

 

Couple 4 or 
more children 

   
   

 
 
 
NB Households with access to children will not be able to include them 

as part of the household when looking at eligibility for property size.   
See section 2.1 Households with access to children/joint custody. 

 
 
  

Page 93



 

 68 

 
 
Key 
 
 

   Number of bedrooms allowed for this household type 
 

 Number of bedrooms allowed for this household type, subject to 
the ages of the children.   
Two children under the age of 10 are usually expected to share a 
bedroom.   
Two children of the same sex are usually expected to share a 
bedroom until they are 16.   
Once a child is 16 a separate bedroom is allowed. 

 
D Allowed by discretion only when stated in the advertisement.  

This is most likely to apply in one of the following circumstances: 

 There is low demand for the type of property in the location  

 There is lack of supply of smaller homes in the location  

 A local lettings or s106 policy applies 
 

* Some providers may only allow households with children to bid 

on houses   
 
 
  

Page 94



 

 69 

7.5 Appendix 5 - Accessibility Policy 
 
Section 1 
What does the Accessibility Policy aim to achieve? 
 
Cumbria’s choice based lettings scheme is designed to give people more choice 
and control and to encourage as many people as possible to access suitable 
social housing.  Whilst the scheme will allow most people to participate fully 
giving them an equal chance of finding a home of their choice, some people will 
need additional help to access the scheme.  The duty to provide this help falls 
on partner organisations as service providers under current Equality Act 2010.  
It is reasonable to expect that some of those in the highest bands are more likely 
to need additional help because of the circumstances which have resulted in 
their higher housing need.  
 
Assistance will be provided with the aim of allowing the customer to make their 
own choices/decisions.  It is important that it does not remove the customer’s 
responsibility and power to control the process. 
 
The partner organisation will train all staff dealing with enquiries to make 
appropriate decisions as to the assistance required and to have the knowledge 
to direct the customer to the most appropriate places to access support.  The 
aim of all advice and assistance is to give the customer the necessary support 
to make their own decisions about their housing options. 
 
Section 2 
Who may need additional help? 
 
The following are groups who may be more likely to need additional help 
(This is not an exhaustive list and help will be tailored according to need)   

 

 Older people who have difficulties getting out and about or have 
become isolated 

 Those with a physical sensory and mobility disability 

 Those who have difficulties reading and understanding written 
information 

 Those with a learning disability or difficulties  

 Those with mental ill health  

 Those who live a chaotic lifestyle due to such things as: 
substance misuse, homelessness 

 Those not currently at home e.g. in hospital, in the forces, in 
prison. 

 Those where English is not their first language 

 Young people and care leavers 

 Those with family difficulties e.g. lone parents, teenage parents, 
low income families, domestic violence 

 Those living in remote rural areas 

 Gypsies and travellers 

 Those who may feel excluded from services.  

 Those who have experienced hate crime. 
 

Page 95



 

 70 

Section 3 
What assistance will the members of the partnership provide? 
 
Awareness of Cumbria Choice 
The partnership will continue to work to publicise Cumbria Choice – its website 
and contact details of the individual partners.  The ways this will be done are 
detailed below.  By using a wide number of means the partnership seeks to 
ensure all the groups mentioned above can easily be aware of Cumbria Choice 
as the way of accessing social housing in Cumbria.  
 
Removing barriers to those who may find obtaining and understanding 
information about available properties and bidding more difficult  
 

1. The policy is subject to a full Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) and 
the EIA will be kept under review. 
 

2. The full allocations policy will be available to anyone on request.  Easy to 
read guides to the system will be sent to all customers wanting to register 
on the scheme.  This would include a summary guide to the Allocation 
Policy and a guide to using the scheme e.g. how to register an interest in 
a property.  All these guides will be on the website and the web-based 
virtual guide to using the scheme will be on the website.  All scheme 
guides will be available on request in other formats, where a customer 
cannot understand or cannot get support to access the service.   

 
3. The advertisements for properties with adaptations will clearly indicate 

the adaptations which have been made and the people for whom the 
property may be suitable. 

 
4. All property adverts will make use of picture symbols to identify the 

facilities in the properties. 
 

5. The partnership believes using the internet to access Cumbria Choice 
has many advantages and will seek to assist customers to use the 
internet where possible.  However there will also be flexibility to help 
people who cannot or do not wish to use the internet.  Other ways of 
bidding will be explained clearly to customers.  These other methods are: 
 

 Through telephoning any partner organisation office 

 Automated bidding (i.e. the computer system is set up to place an 
automatic on properties of a type and location specified by the customer) 

 Ringing the low cost automated telephone line 

 Through sending a  text message 

 In person at any partner organisation office 

 Through agreement of the use of proxy bidding 
 

6. All information that goes out to customers at every stage will advise about 
the availability of assistance and will give contact names and numbers.  
Customers will be advised that they are able to contact any partner 
organisation office to seek help in completing a registration form, to 
enquire about properties that are being advertised, to place an interest in 
a property etc. 

Page 96



 

 71 

 
7. When customers are contacted at the yearly review stage they will again 

be asked if they require assistance and will be sent contact details.  
 

8. All partner organisation staff will be given training and regular updates 
about the scheme and the assistance that will be available.  They will be 
informed and supplied with guidance on the questions they need to ask 
and the options available to customers e.g. proxy bidding, posting of 
individual adverts. 

 
Section 4 
How we aim to work effectively with other organisations, including the 
voluntary sector 
 

 Cumbria choice will maintain a list of stakeholder agencies and will inform 
them of changes to Cumbria Choice and offer training.  They will be 
supplied with named contact for each partner organisation operating 
Cumbria Choice in order to resolve any day to day operational difficulties 
for their clients.  Partner’s organisations will be sent an update on 
Cumbria choice a minimum of 2 times a year. 

 

 Organisations will be asked if they wish to receive the weekly newssheet 
of advertised properties and where they do request this, it will be emailed 
weekly. 

 

 In the event of a difficulty with Cumbria Choice, issues about a specific 
customer are best discussed with the named contact at Cumbria Choice, 
or if necessary by following Cumbria Choice’s official complaints 
procedure.  In the case of a more general concern about the operation of 
Cumbria Choice, the organisation may contact the Cumbria Choice 
Coordinator Tel: 0300 303 8540 for potential discussion at a Cumbria 
Choice Board meeting. 
 

Section 5 
How can Cumbria Choice offer customers wider housing options 
information? 
 
There are two main ways in which Cumbria Choice will support its 
customers with housing options advice 
 

1) It will ensure that customers have access to support from the trained 
housing officers of the partners who let properties through Cumbria 
Choice 

 

 A customer who may have potential difficulties or requiring assistance 
does not automatically have a high priority for housing and may not be 
successful in bidding for a property due to high demand. 

 

 Cumbria Choice recognised the importance of helping ensure customers 
receive appropriate advice to enable him / her to resolve his / her housing 
situation.  

 

Page 97



 

 72 

 Where appropriate housing officers from Cumbria Choice organisations 
will work in liaison with support workers or family members who provide 
support to the person.  Advice would cover areas such as reviewing their 
housing situation and requirements in conjunction with more ‘realistic 
bidding’ choices, the support available, and where appropriate alternative 
housing options. 

 
2) The Cumbria Choice website will include additional information 

about alternative housing options and links to further housing 
advice 
 

 The site will include information to help customers understand the relative 
popularity of different properties and will include and links to information 
about other housing options and sources of housing advice.  
 

 The scheme will also be used to advertise properties with private 
landlords and it is intended to increase the number of private properties 
advertised over time. 

 
Section 6 
How will we monitor that the Accessibility Policy is working? 
 
Cumbria Choice Board receives monitoring information on a quarterly basis. 
 
This will include data monitoring by equality groups and will help the Board to 
identify if any groups appear to be disadvantaged under Cumbria Choice. 
 
Reports will be set up showing the percentage of registrations by Band 
compared to allocations for groups that may suffer disadvantage under Cumbria 
Choice. 
  
Length of time to make a successful bid by groups that may suffer disadvantage 
compared with average time to make a successful bid. 
 
Numbers of those registered but not bidding groups that may suffer 
disadvantage compared with the average for those registered but not bidding. 
 
The Board will also monitor complaints, appeals and issues raised by 
stakeholders to identify if any groups are having particular problems with using 
and accessing housing through Cumbria Choice. 
  

Page 98



 

 73 

7.6 Appendix 6 - Right to Move Qualifying Criteria 
 
To meet the Allocation of Housing (qualification criteria for the Right to Move - 
England) Regulations 2015,  a local connection may not be applied to existing 
social tenants seeking to transfer from another local authority district in England 
who:-  

 

 Have reasonable preference under Section 166(3)(e) because of 
a need to move  to  the Local Authority’s district to avoid hardship, 
and 

 Need to move because the tenant works in the district, or 

 Need to move to take up an offer of work 
 
QUALIFYING CRITERIA 
 
1 This applies to existing social housing tenants:- 
 

 Who need to move within a Local Authority area or to another local 
authority area to avoid hardship, and 

 Who need to move because the tenant works in the district, or 

 Who need to move to take up an offer of work. 
 
2 What the Local Authority should take into account:- 
 
2.1 Need to Move: 
 

Tenants must need to move, not simply want to move.  Factors to 
consider in determining `need` are:- 

 

 The distance and/or time taken to travel between home and work. 

 Availability and affordability of transport as against earnings. 

 Nature of the work and whether similar opportunities are available 
nearer home. 

 Other personal factors, for instance medical conditions, child care 

 Length of work contract. 

 Would failure to move mean a lost opportunity to improve employment 
circumstances or prospects?   

 
2.2 Work: 
 

`Work` only qualifies as `work` if it is not:- 
 

 Short term: 
- Consider whether the work is regular or intermittent (particularly 

relevant for the self-employed). 
- Consider the period of employment – a contract of less than 12 

months could be considered short-term. 
 

 Marginal: 
- Less than 16 hours per week could be considered marginal 
- Consider the level of earnings. 

Page 99



 

 74 

 

 Voluntary: 
- Unpaid, or expenses only. 

 

 Ancillary: 
- That is, if the person works occasionally in another local authority 

area, but main place of work is a different area, the work is 
excluded. 

 
2.3 Verification and Evidence 
 

The tenant must be able demonstrate that he/she has a genuine job offer 
and that he/she has a genuine intention to take it up. 
 
Appropriate evidence could include:- 
 

 A formal offer letter. 

 A contract of employment. 

 Wage/salary slips covering a certain period, or bank statements (zero 
hour contracts). 

 Tax and benefits information, for example proof of receipt of working 
tax credit. 

  

Page 100



 

 77 

7.7 Appendix 7  

 
 
MOVE ON FROM SUPPORTED ACCOMMODATION FORM 
 
Guidance for Officers recommending move on 
 

 This form should only be completed when the applicant is ready to move on and has spent a minimum of 6 months in supported 
accommodation. 

 

 Incomplete forms will be returned. 
 

 Should an offer of property be made the tenancy commencement date will be specified by the landlord. 
 

 Some landlords ask for rent in advance. 
 

 Most properties are unfurnished and do not include white goods or carpets. 
 

 Where an applicant is guilty of serious antisocial behaviour and/or rent arrears the Cumbria Choice policy on eligibility will be 
applied. 

 

 Upon receipt of the completed form the administering organisation will carry out an assessment to determine if a higher band 
should apply.   

P
age 101



 

 78 

Applicant: 
Last Name 

 

First Name DOB Former Name(s) NI Number  Cumbria Choice Ref 

      

 

Current Address  

 

Landlord  

 

Tenure type  

 

Commencement Date  

 

Household Members: 
Last Name First Name DOB Relationship to first member Currently living with 

Applicant (Y?N) 

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

Communication needs (language, 

disability – please specify) 

 

 

 

P
age 102



 

 79 

Current Tenancy  
 
Areas of work included in support 
plan 
 

 

Rent record 
(rent statement is required) 
 

 

Tenancy record 
(include details of incidents of anti-
social behaviour) 

 

Standard 
(cleanliness, tidiness) 

 

Notices served if any 
(include dates and reasons why) 
 

 

Reasons why you consider this 
applicant ready for move on 
 

 

Is tenancy support in place? Please 
give details of support package and 
provider 

 

Any further comments 
 
 

 

 
  

P
age 103



 

 80 

Is the applicant employed or does the applicant undertake any unpaid voluntary work? 
If yes, please provide details below 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Please provide details why the applicant is currently in supported housing 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Previous Tenancy 
 
Previous tenancy address 
 

 

Tenure type 
 

 

Landlord 
 

 

Commencement Date  

Termination Date  

 

P
age 104



 

 81 

History - applicable to applicant or any household member: 
 
Issue 

 

Brief details 

Evicted by former landlord or other in previous 

five years? 

 

Notice of Seeking Possession (NOSP) issued in 

previous two years? 

 

Anti-social behaviour or offensive discriminatory 

language issues 

 

 

Rent arrears history: outstanding arrears, breach 

of repayment agreement 

 

Property damage 

 

 

Violence towards staff 

 

 

Undischarged high-risk criminal offences (violent 

crime, arson, sexual offences or abuse) 

 

Other, further notes 

 

 

 

 

 
  

P
age 105



 

 82 

Risk assessment summary: 
 

Risk to whom? 

 

Low Medium High Additional Information 

 

Risk to others 

    

 

Risk to self 

  

 

  

 

Other risks 

    

 

Is Tenancy Support required? Yes  No   

 

If ‘yes’ is tenancy support in 
place?  Please give details of 
support package and provider. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Is the applicant currently on probation or has the applicant or any household member been charged with any offences yet to be 
dealt with by the Courts?  If yes, please provide details below: 

 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 106



 

 83 

Has the applicant been advised some landlords require rent in advance? Yes  No  

 

Has the applicant agreed to the disclosure of information between agencies? Yes  No  

 
 
The information I have given on this form is accurate to the best of my knowledge and belief 
 
 
Signed:      ……………………………………………………………. 
 
Print name: 
(Officer making recommendation)   ……………………………………………………………. 
 
Phone:       ……………………………………………………………. 
 
Email:       ……………………………………………………………. 
 
Date:        ……………………………………………………………. 
 
 

Rent statement enclosed   Yes  No  

 

Letters from Support Agencies enclosed   Yes  No  

 

 

P
age 107



 

 84 

7.8  Appendix 8 - Supported Housing Providers 

 

Allerdale Turning Point 

Allerdale Sandstones/Richmond Fellowship 

Allerdale Richmond Fellowship 

Allerdale Stonham (Home Group) 

Barrow Impact 

Barrow Stonham (Home Group) 

Barrow Sanctuary 

Barrow Fairoak 

Barrow Accent 

Carlisle Turning Point 

Carlisle Cumbria Gateway  

Carlisle Impact 

Copeland Whitehaven Community Trust 

Copeland Stonham (Home Group) 

Copeland Carr Gomm 

Copeland Richmond Fellowship 

Copeland Creative Support 

Copeland Time to Change 

Eden Turning Point 

Eden Impact 

Eden Stonham (Home Group) 

Eden Richmond Fellowship 

South Lakeland  Stonham (Home Group) 

South Lakeland South Lakes Housing  

South Lakeland  Santuary 

South Lakeland  Impact 

South Lakeland  Turning Point 

South Lakeland  Springfield 

  

Page 108



 

 85 

7.9  Appendix 9  
 
Applicants Subject to Bankruptcy or Debt Relief Orders (DRO) 
 
Applicants who are subject to either a bankruptcy order or debt relief order which 
includes housing related debt of over £1000 will be deemed ineligible until this debt is 
written off at the end of their ‘moratorium period’. 
 
Applicants who are subject to either a bankruptcy order or debt relief order over £500 
but less than £1000 will be placed in Band E until their debt is discharged at the end 
of the moratorium period.  Once the debt is discharged and proof of this has been 
provided by the customer they can be re-banded accordingly. 
 
The ‘moratorium period’ means that ‘creditors cannot take any action to recover or 
enforce their debts against you during this period.  The moratorium usually lasts for 12 
months from the date of the order, although there may be exceptions, and after that 
time the listed debts will be discharged’ (Government Guidance on DRO’s). 
 
Once a DRO has been granted the insolvency practitioner will notify all the creditors 
included and advise that further payments against the debt cannot be made.  For those 
who have applied for bankruptcy debts are discharged once they have been dealt with 
by the appointed insolvency practitioner. 
 
In addition, transfer applicants (those already a current tenant with a partnership 
organisation) who are subject to either a bankruptcy order or debt relief order which 
includes housing related debt of over £1000 will be deemed ineligible for a transfer 
until the debt is written off at the end of their moratorium period. 
 
Until the debt is discharged the order can be effectively cancelled or annulled in the 
case of bankruptcy and DRO’s and the debts written back on.  In summary, the debts 
are treated as ‘live’ until they are written off or discharged at the end of the moratorium 
period. 
 
 
  

Page 109



 

 86 

7.10 Appendix 10  
 
How Local Letting Policies will be applied to the Cumbria Choice Scheme 
 
Local Letting Initiatives will be developed to meet the particular needs of a local area 
across the 6 partner districts addressing sustainability and community issues in 
defined areas to ensure that the housing allocation scheme is able to contribute to 
building sustainable communities.   
 
They will be tailored to fit local situations in well-defined communities (such as a 
particular block of flats, an individual street, or new housing development, or may be 
applied to a parish or a village in a rural area).  Each local letting initiative will be based 
on a detailed analysis of relevant information gathered from a variety of sources and 
may include for example evidence from internal departments, partner Registered 
Providers (Housing Associations), local Councillors, and the community itself.  
(Evidence may include information such as tenant profiling, the incidence of anti-social 
behaviour, and stock turnover in a particular block, street or area, or the need to 
provide housing for local people in rural villages and parishes). All local lettings 
initiatives will be equality impact assessed.  
 
The following are examples of local letting policies that may be deployed under the 
Common Allocation Policy.  The list is for illustrative purposes and is not exhaustive. 
 
 Age restrictions. 
 Policies that are geared towards encouraging applicants who work or volunteer to 

live in an area where for example there may be an area, or street with high numbers 
of working age households not in work.   

 Prioritising applicants who are key workers as defined by the Council.  
 Restrictions on lettings to vulnerable households where there are already a 

concentration of supported tenants/residents in a street or block. 
 Lettings to childless households where there are high concentrations of children 

and young people living on a specific estate, street or block. 
 Disregarding household type or property matching rules to allow for example 

under-occupation to reduce child density or to account for future family growth. 
 Ensuring that there is a balance of working and non-working households allocated 

to a new build scheme.  
 
How will a local letting policy be assessed and agreed? 
 
The Partner Council and the Housing Association Partners to the common allocation 
policy for that district may agree the villages, parishes, estates, blocks or streets where 
a local letting policy may be appropriate and why.  
 
There must be a clear evidence base for adopting a local letting policy.  
Where a local letting policy is proposed to be applied to a particular registered provider 
estate or area or block the local lettings policy will be agreed by the partner local 
authority and that registered provider.  
 
Agreement as to whether a local letting policy is appropriate will be based on the 
following test: 

Page 110



 

 87 

 
1. That there is a clear definition of the objective to be achieved by that particular local 

letting policy 
2. That there is a clear evidence base to back up the need for a local letting policy. 
3. That an equality impact assessment will be carried out 
4. How long the local lettings policy is intended to operate 
5. When the policy should be reviewed 
  
A written record of each policy adopted or rejected should be kept.  
It is the intention that local letting policies will be fluid with new policies being added 
as are required and existing policies being deleted once the objective for that policy 
has been met.  
 
All current local letting policies will be listed by district on the website so the public can 
see which polices are in operation at any point in time. 
 
  

Page 111



 

 88 

7.11 Appendix 11 
 
Disability and Medical Needs Assessment Procedure and Criteria 
 
Should an applicant indicate that their current housing conditions are causing serious 
ill health or exacerbate an existing condition this will trigger a medical needs 
assessment.   
 
The assessment will be carried out by the officer with responsibility for undertaking 
medical need assessments within the partner organisation managing the application. 
 
In all cases a fully completed medical questionnaire is required and in some cases 
where further clarification is required the assessment officer may request more 
information from the applicant. 
 
The 4 stage assessment of medical priority process would be: 
 
1 Is the medical condition serious enough for a priority award to be considered?  
 
2 If the medical condition is serious enough for a priority award to be considered, 

the next stage is for the assessment officer to decide if there is a direct link 
between the identified medical problem and the applicant’s current housing 
accommodation/situation i.e. Is the applicant’s current housing 
accommodation/circumstances making the medical condition substantially 
worse or will it make it worst? 

 
3 If the assessment officer agrees this to be the case, they will next need to be 

satisfied that there a realistic expectation that the identified medical condition 
would improve if alternative, more suitable accommodation was made 
available. 

 
4 If the answer is yes, the final question will be whether to award Band A or Band 

C based on the severity of their medical condition and housing need.  
 
Additional Preference - Band A 
 
A customer who has an urgent need to move for medical/disability reasons which are 
being exacerbated by their current housing situation will be awarded Band A.  This 
would include people whose safety is at risk due to their current housing or who are 
completely housebound because of the type of accommodation they live in. 
 
See section 4 of the Allocation Policy for the full definition used to award medical 
priority and examples of cases that would qualify for Band A priority. 
 
Reasonable Preference Band C 
 
A customer whose housing is unsuitable for medical/disability reasons and is directly 
contributing to their ill health but they are not housebound or their safety is not at risk 
due to their current housing will be awarded Band C.  
 

Page 112



 

 89 

See section 4 of the Allocation Policy for the full definition used to award medical 
priority and examples of cases that would qualify for Band C priority. 
 
In some cases, for the purpose of clarification, the assessment officer or senior officer 
will refer the case for an independent medical assessment by the medical consultant 
commissioned by the Partnership. 
 
Medical priority will only apply for properties that are deemed suitable, to meet their 
medical need or are reasonably capable of being adapted at a reasonable cost. 
 
Although this is a common allocation policy individual partners will apply their own 
rules as to whether to accept a bid from an applicant where adaptations to the property 
are required. All local rules will need to be equality impact assessed for fairness and 
flexibility. 
 
Following a medical needs assessment the customer will be notified of the outcome, 
the reason for the decision and their right to a review. 
 
The assessment officer must record on the system how the decision was reached by 
applying the medical assessment criteria. 
  

Page 113



 

 90 

7.12 Appendix 12 
 
Person(s) Who Will Take Specific Decisions 
 

Para 1.1, page 7 & Para 7.5 (Appendix 5), page 69 
CC Project Board  Ensure compliance with equality legislation and undertake 

and keep under review an Equality Impact Assessment. 
 

Para 1.3, page 8 
CC Project Board Set and monitor achievement of targets agreed for 

increasing mobility, including targets under the Right to 
Move. 

 
CC Co-ordinator  Para 1.8, page 11 
& Project Board  Monitoring the operation of the policy. 
 

Para 2.1, page 13 
Assessment Officer  Ineligible because of immigration rules. 
 

Para 2.1, page 14 
Assessment Officer Ineligible because the applicant has the capacity to buy a 

home. 
 
Senior Officer  Whether to offer a tenancy to a 16/17 year old. 
 
    Para 2.1, page 14-15 & Para 7.3 (Appendix 3), page 62 
Senior Officer  Ineligible because of serious unacceptable behaviour. 
 

Para 2.1, page 15 
Assessment Officer Deciding whether a child is or could be part of the 

household. 
 

Para 2.2, page 15-16 
Assessment Officer  Deciding on the cancellation of an incomplete application. 
 

Para 2.3, page 16 
Assessment Officer  Deciding whether references confirm eligibility to register. 
 

Para 2.4, page 16-17 
Senior Officer  Ineligible because of criminal convictions 
 

Para 2.8, page 18 
Assessment Officer Cancelling an application following failure to respond to an 

annual review. 
 

Para 2.9, page 18 
Senior Officer Knowingly or recklessly giving a false statement or 

withholding information. 
 

Para 2.10, page 19 

Page 114



 

 91 

Senior Officer Deliberate worsening of the applicant`s own 
circumstances in order to increase their priority. 

 
Para 3.1, pages 20-28 

Local Authority (LA)  Band A - homeless households owed a full duty. 
 
Assessment Officer Band A – exceptional need to move because of medical 

condition or disability. 
 
Senior Officer  Band A - exceptional need to move. 

If domestic violence is the reason and applicant is not an 
existing tenant of any of the CC partners. 

 
Assessment Officer  Band A - excessive overcrowding. 
via LA     
 
Assessment Officer  Band A – property condition. 
via LA 
 
Assessment Officer  Band B – cumulative preference 
 
Assessment Officer  Band B – welfare grounds 
 
Local Authority  Band B – homeless prevention status 
 
Assessment Officer  Band B – under-occupation. 
 
Local Authority  Band C – non-priority homeless 
 
Local Authority  Band C – homeless prevention option being chosen 
 
Assessment Officer  Band C – medical. 
 
Senior Officer  Band C – hardship. 
 
Assessment Officer  Band C – overcrowded. 
 
Assessment Officer  Band C – property condition. 
via LA 
 
Assessment Officer  Band C – under-occupation. 
 
Assessment Officer  Band C – Armed Forces. 
 
Assessment Officer  Band D – no reasonable preference status. 
 
Assessment Officer Band E – reduced priority for an allocation due to 

behaviour, arrears, condition of property, no local 
connection, etc. 
Para 3.3, page 28-29 

Page 115



 

 92 

Senior Officer  Management discretion for a direct offer of housing. 
 

Para 3.4, page 29-30 
Local Authority  Making proxy bids on behalf of a homeless household. 
 

Para 3.6, page 31 
Senior Officer Deciding whether to and where to rehouse an applicant 

who has been deemed a serious offender and who is 
subject to Public Protection protocols. 

 
    Para 3.8, page 32 
Assessment Officer Deciding on the relative eligibility of Armed Forces 

applicants or their relatives for the respective bands, A or 
C. 

 
    Para 4.4, pages 37 – 41 
Assessment Officer Applicants requiring a risk assessment before being 

rehoused, e.g. Band B`s moving on from supported 
housing. 

 
Para 5.1, page 49 

Assessment Officer Deciding any restrictions on bidding and any particular 
criteria that apply. 

 
Local Authority   Para 5.4, page 50 
With RP partners  Agreeing a quota system, if deemed appropriate. 
 

Para 5.7, page 51 
Assessment Officer  Selecting the prospective offeree from a shortlist. 
 

Para 5.8, page 51-52 
Assessment Officer  Decisions on local connection. 
 

Para 5.10, page 53 
Assessment Officer Further verification of applicant eligibility and priority before 

being made the offer of a tenancy. 
 
Assessment Officer May include an offer not being made because the applicant 

is ineligible due to, for example,  unacceptable behaviour 
or a housing debt, or because the application has been 
incorrectly assessed, or because the applicant`s 
circumstances have changed or because there is a good 
housing management reason not to make the offer. 

 
Para 5.11, page 53-54 

Assessment Officer Refusing 2 offers of accommodation or failing to reply to 
an offer. 

 
Local Authority Homeless households refusing suitable offers of accommodation. 
 

Page 116



 

 93 

Paras 6.1 - 6.13, pages 56 - 57 
Review of decisions: 

Assessment Officer Initial, informal, review of decision 
 
Senior Officer Further, formal, review of decision 
 
CC Review Panel Further review of the original decision at the first formal review 
 

Para 7.5 (Appendix 5), page 69 
CC Project Board Deciding on and keeping under review the Equality Impact 

Assessment (EIA) 
 
 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEWS – BECKERMET WITH THORNHILL, EGREMONT, 
PARTON AND SEASCALE

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Councillor David Moore

LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Director of Customer and Community 
Services

REPORT AUTHOR:                     Tim Capper, Community Governance Projects Officer

SUMMARY: Seeks agreement from Council to Community Re-
organisation Orders for the parishes of Beckermet with 
Thornhill, Egremont, Parton and Seascale

RECOMMENDATIONS: That the Community Reorganisation Orders as set out at 
Appendices “A” to “D” be approved.                                                                              

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Council at its meeting on 28 June 2016 agreed to undertake Community 
Governance Reviews of the parishes of Beckermet with Thornhill, Parton and Seascale in 
respect of Council size, and Egremont in respect of warding and electoral arrangements 

1.2  The four Reviews have been conducted by the Electoral Review Working Party, 
whose Terms of Reference include the conduct of such Reviews, with the exception of the 
final stage of the approval of Community Reorganisation Orders bringing revised parishing 
arrangements into effect, which is reserved to Council.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Under Part 4 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, 
principal authorities have powers to undertake Community Governance Reviews of parts 
of their areas. Community Governance Reviews can be initiated by a petition from a 
minimum number of electors for an area (10% of the electorate for an area of 10,000 
electors or more), which requires the principal authority to undertake a Review; or can 
be initiated by the principal authority itself passing a resolution to undertake a review. 
The powers and duties under Part 4 of the 2007 Act fall to district councils only in two-
tier counties.

2.2 The review of Egremont parish started in September 2016 and finished in 
December following a public consultation of six weeks. The initial proposals of the review 

Page 119

Agenda Item 10



were to merge the existing four parish wards into two new parish wards of Egremont 
North and Egremont South. No responses were received to the consultation and the initial 
proposals therefore became the final proposals. These are reflected in the draft 
community reorganisation order before Council for approval in this report. 

2.3 The reviews of Beckermet with Thornhill, Parton and Seascale parishes started in 
January 2017 and finished in March, again following public consultations of seven weeks. 
The initial proposals consisted of proposed reductions in the number of councillors from 
fourteen to twelve, thirteen to eleven and twelve to eight respectively.

2.4 No responses to the consultations were received for the Beckermet with Thornhill 
and Parton reviews and the initial proposals therefore became the final proposals after 
the close of consultation, and are similarly reflected in the draft orders before Council 
today.

2.5 Two substantive responses were received from Seascale residents to the 
consultation on the Seascale review.  These have each been given careful consideration 
by the Electoral Review Working Party. However after due consideration the Working 
Party decided not to make any changes to the initial proposals for Seascale, and the initial 
proposals therefore became the final proposals and are reflected in the draft order before 
Council today.

3. PROPOSALS

3.1 The Electoral Review Working Party is recommending to Council that the 
Community Re-organisation Orders for Beckermet with Thornhill, Egremont, Parton and 
Seascale set out in Appendices “A”, “B”, “C” and “D” respectively, be approved.

3.2 The Orders, once made, will come into force on 1 April 2019, in time for the next 
round of parish council elections in May 2019.

4. CONCLUSIONS

4.1 This report brings to a conclusion the community governance review process 
initiated by Council on 28 June 2016. All requirements of the relevant legislation and 
statutory guidance have been complied with throughout the process.

5.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

5.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are:

Page 120



5.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are:

5.3 EIA Comments:

5.4 Policy Framework:

5.5 Other Consultee Comments, if any:

List of Appendices:

Appendix A – draft Community Re-organisation Order – Beckermet with Thornhill
Appendix B – draft Community Re-organisation Order – Egremont
Appendix C – draft Community Re-organisation Order – Parton
Appendix D – draft Community Re-organisation Order – Seascale

List of Background Documents: DCLG Statutory Guidance on Community Governance 
Reviews

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT

COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL (Beckermet with Thornhill)

COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REORGANISATION ORDER 2017

The Copeland Borough Council, in exercise of the powers contained in Section 86 of 
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, hereby makes the 
following order:

(1) This Order may be cited as the Copeland Borough Council (Beckermet with 
Thornhill) Community Governance Reorganisation Order 2017.

(2) This Order shall come into force on 1 April 2019.

(3) By virtue of the Order the number of Councillors to be elected to the Beckermet 
with Thornhill Parish Council shall be decreased from fourteen Councillors to 
twelve Councillors

Dated this _____ day of _____2017

Clinton Boyce
Legal Services Manager

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT

COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL (Egremont)

COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REORGANISATION ORDER 2017

The Copeland Borough Council, in exercise of the powers contained in Section 86 of 
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, hereby makes the 
following order:

(1) This Order may be cited as the Copeland Borough Council (Egremont) 
Community Governance Reorganisation Order 2017.

(2) This Order shall come into force on 1 April 2019.

(3) By virtue of the Order the land shown hatched in red on the attached plan shall 
cease to be a part of Egremont East Parish Ward and shall be a part of Egremont 
South Parish Ward.

(4) By virtue of the Order the land shown hatched in black on the attached plan shall 
cease to be part of Egremont Central Parish Ward and shall be part of Egremont 
North Parish Ward.

Dated this _____ day of _____2017

Clinton Boyce
Legal Services Manager

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT

COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL (Parton)

COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REORGANISATION ORDER 2017

The Copeland Borough Council, in exercise of the powers contained in Section 86 of 
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, hereby makes the 
following order:

(1) This Order may be cited as the Copeland Borough Council (Parton) 
Community Governance Reorganisation Order 2017.

(2) This Order shall come into force on 1 April 2019.

(3) By virtue of the Order the number of Councillors to be elected to the Parton 
Parish Council shall be decreased from thirteen Councillors to eleven 
Councillors

Dated this _____ day of _____2017

Clinton Boyce
Legal Services Manager

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT

COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL (Seascale)

COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REORGANISATION ORDER 2017

The Copeland Borough Council, in exercise of the powers contained in Section 86 of 
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, hereby makes the 
following order:

(1) This Order may be cited as the Copeland Borough Council (Seascale) 
Community Governance Reorganisation Order 2017.

(2) This Order shall come into force on 1 April 2019.

(3) By virtue of the Order the number of Councillors to be elected to the Seascale 
Parish Council shall be decreased from twelve Councillors to eight Councillors

Dated this _____ day of _____2017

Clinton Boyce
Legal Services Manager

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



WELL NORTH INITIATIVE – WELL WHITEHAVEN

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Mayor Mike Starkie, Cllr Lena Hogg, Cllr Dave Banks

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham

REPORT AUTHOR: Diane Ward

SUMMARY:

As one of the ten Well North pathfinder projects, Well Whitehaven has a shared 
ambition to make Whitehaven a place of energy, aspiration and learning.  The focus of 
the initiative is Mirehouse, both as an area with existing needs, as well as a place that is 
on the verge of transformational change as a result of both the Moorside project and 
WC Mining.  Mirehouse will experience change as a result of these investments and we 
need to ensure that this change results in a stronger, more aspirational, entrepreneurial 
and healthier community, with choices. 

RECOMMENDATIONS:                                                                              
The Council are requested to:

a) Act as Accountable Body for the Well Whitehaven initiative once all funding  in 
place.

b) Agree to receive and spend Well North funding of up to £600,000 over three years, 
conditional on securing match-funding. 

c) Agree to employ, if appropriate, a Well Whitehaven Project Worker, who will report 
to the Steering Group and Well North for the duration of the initiative.

d) Become a signatory to the Collaboration Agreement with Manchester University 
and PHE, conditional on match-funding being secured.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 As one of the ten Well North pathfinder projects, Well Whitehaven has a shared 
ambition to make Whitehaven a place of energy, aspiration and learning.  The 
focus of the initiative is Mirehouse, which struggles with lack of employment, 
poor educational attainment, health and income deprivation, poor housing and 
loneliness. 

Page 139

Agenda Item 11



1.2 However, the area is also on the verge of transformational change.  The new 
nuclear power station at Moorside will bring significant investment and job 
opportunities to the area.  Two of the proposed Moorside associated 
development sites will sit in close proximity to the Mirehouse estate and a new 
coal mine is also proposed on the headland to the West.  Mirehouse will 
experience change as a result of these investments and we need to ensure that 
this change results in a stronger, more aspirational, entrepreneurial and 
healthier community with choices. 

1.3 Well Whitehaven proposed focus areas are
 

 Investing in the future generations of young people in Mirehouse – to ensure 
they have choices in life rather than resigned to a life on benefits;

 Inspiring schools and community education and learning – to make sure the 
residents are prepared for the opportunities that will be available;

 Developing relationships with the nuclear industry – making sure that the 
community feels part of the change and not excluded from it;

 Encouraging business development and capitalising on the physical 
environment;

 Developing and supporting leadership.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Well North is a partnership between Public Health England (PHE), The University 
of Manchester and Manchester Academic Health Science Centre with the aim of 
finding new ways of creating healthy communities in the North of England through 
10 pathfinder projects. 

2.2 Strategic Goals of Well North which were set by Public Health England:
• Addressing inequality by improving the health of the poorest, fastest;
• Increasing resilience at individual, household and community levels; and
• Reducing levels of worklessness, a cause and effect of poor health.

2.3 The Indices of Multiple Deprivation ranks Mirehouse within the 10% most 
deprived in England for; income deprivation, employment deprivation, education, 
skills and training deprivation, health deprivation and disability and income 
deprivation affecting children.  The ACORN socio-economic profile (2014) gives the 
% persons financially stretched as 65.3% compared to 44.1% across Copeland and 
22.5% nationally. These statistics, supported the case for Mirehouse to become a 
Well North Pathfinder.  

2.4 Project partners currently involved in Well Whitehaven include:  

Page 140



 NuGen
 Sellafield
 Home Group
 Land & Lakes
 University of Cumbria
 React Engineering
 BECBC
 Copeland Borough Council
 Cumbria County Council
 Mirehouse Residents Group

2.5 A Steering Group has been established with participation from all partners. The 
Steering group is currently co-ordinated by the Council.

2.6 Each pathfinder is expected to employ at least one dedicated project worker to 
work alongside the local community, administer the steering group and ensure all 
information and appropriate records are kept for reporting to the Steering group, 
the accountable body and to Well North.  This person can be employed either 
directly by a partner within the pathfinder or through Well North.

2.7 Each Pathfinder is allocated £1M, split between;
• £600,000 cash spread over 3 years, released through agreement
• £400,000 capacity in time and commissioned services from the hub 
• The funding must be matched to the value of £1M with a split minimum 

£400,000 cash

3. PROPOSALS

It is proposed that:
3.1 the Council acts as Accountable Body to receive the funding from Well North on 

behalf of Well Whitehaven to support the Mirehouse Community

3.2 the Council agrees to receive project funding of £200,000 this financial year, with 
subsequent project allocations over the following two years.

3.3 if appropriate, the Council will employ the project worker

3.4 the Council signs up to the Collaboration Agreement with Manchester University 
and PHE. 

Page 141



4.0 CONCLUSIONS

4.1 In order to support the project and enable local initiatives, the Council should act 
as Accountable Body, accept the project funding and if appropriate, employ the 
project worker.

4.2 The Council should continue to act as Project Lead and Project Sponsor to ensure 
benefits are realised for the Mirehouse Community.

5.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

5.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: Legal issues arising from specific 
projects will be dealt with on a project by project basis. As it stands it is difficult to 
ascertain from the focus areas (1.3) and strategic goals (2.2) what projects will develop 
from this initiative nor what 'allocated work' or 'milestones' the Council, as an 
accountable body, will be obliged to achieve. The draft agreement forming appendix A is 
reasonable. However members specific attention is drawn to clause 5.4 and schedule 1 
which clearly impose on the Council a requirement to make a contribution of £400,000 
cash and £600,000 in kind. Such cash contribution has not been included within the 
Council's budget and it is understood that this is to come from external funders, possibly 
the nuclear industry. If this is the case then those external grant funders need to be 
contractually tied into providing that funding before the Council enters into this 
agreement. In respect of 'in kind' funding it is believed that this relates to officer time. 
This is considerable at £200,000 per year. The meaning of 'in kind' should be confirmed 
by PHE or the University of Manchester so that there is no misunderstanding on how an 
accountable body contributes such matter. Any decision of the Executive and Council 
should be conditional on these two points – match funding being in place prior to the 
agreement being signed and in kind contributions being clarified.

5.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: In agreement with the Monitoring 
Officer’s comments. There is a requirement imposed on the Council to make a 
contribution of £400,000 cash and £600,000 in kind. No budget provision has been 
included within the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan or newly approved budget for 
2017/18. In kind funding appears high at £200,000 per year.  Even where a service is to 
be externally funded, this should be recognised and reported within the financial 
management and monitoring arrangements of the authority. This project would need to 
comply with those arrangements. Match funding must be in place before acceptance of 
the agreement.

5.3 EIA Comments:

5.4 Policy Framework:

5.5 Other Consultee Comments, if any:

Page 142



6.     HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS 
GOING TO BE MANAGED?

6.1 A Project Worker will be employed to manage the initiative.

6.2 An Action Plan is being developed in consultation with local residents and once 
agreed with Well North progress against this action plan will release the funding.

6.3 Governance arrangements through Well North, and more locally through the 
Steering Group will monitor progress and address risks and issues as they arise.

6.4 A Risk Register will be developed and be regularly updated throughout.

7. WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 
REPORT? 

7.1 Direct outputs will be determined through the action plan.

7.2 Long term outcomes will be seen in Mirehouse with improved community 
resilience, especially in terms of improved health, education and worklessness 
statistics.  

List of Appendices:

Appendix A - Collaboration Agreement
Appendix B - Draft Action Plan 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

THIS AGREEMENT is made on the             of                        2017 (hereinafter the “Effective 
Date”)

BETWEEN

(1) THE UNIVERSITY OF MANCHESTER whose administrative offices are at O x f o r d  
R o a d ,  M a n c h e s t e r  M 1 3  9 P L  (“Manchester”); and

 
(2) PUBLIC HEALTH ENGLAND, an executive agency of the Department of Health which 

expression shall include its successors in title whose administrative offices are at 
151 Buckingham Palace Road,
London, SW1W 9SZ (“PHE”); and

(3) SEFTON COUNCIL whose administrative offices are at [ADDRESS] (“Sefton”); and

(4) OLDHAM COUNCIL whose administrative offices are at[ADDRESS] (“Oldham”); and

(5) DONCASTER COUNCIL whose administrative offices are at [ADDRESS] 
(“Doncaster”).

(6) BRADFORD TEACHING HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST whose 
administrative offices are at [ADDRESS] (“Bradford”); and

(7) WEST LANCASHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP whose administrative 
offices are at [ADDRESS] (“Skelmersdale”); and

(8) HALTON CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP whose administrative offices are at 
[ADDRESS] (“Halton”)

(9) COPELAND COUNCIL whose administrative offices are at [ADDRESS] (“Copeland”)

(10) NEWCASTLE COUNCIL whose administrative offices are at [ADDRESS] 
(“Newcastle Gateshead”) 

referred to  individually  as  “Party”  or  collectively as  "the  Parties"  as  the  context 
permits.

WHEREAS:

A. PHE and Manchester have agreed to collaborate in a strategic collaborative programme 
known as “Well North” which aims to improve the health and wellbeing of people, their 
families and communities, by making the previously ‘invisible’, ‘visible’ to deliver three 
strategic goals:

 Addressing inequality by improving the health of the poorest, fastest;
 Increasing resilience at individual, household and community levels; and
 Reducing levels of unemployment, a cause and effect of poor health.

B. PHE will participate in and contribute to the Programme as set out in this Agreement  
and now wish, following the endorsement by the Well North Board, to invite Sefton, 
Oldham,  Doncaster, Copeland and Newcastle (on behalf of Newcastle and Gateshead) 
Councils, together with Bradford Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Halton 
Clinical Commissioning Group,  and  West Lancashire Clinical Commissioning Group, to 
participate in the Programme as further collaborators in accordance with this Agreement.  
Manchester will be responsible for placing projects within the geographical locations of 

Page 145



Page 2 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

Sheffield and Rotherham, putting appropriate agreements in place with contracting 
organisations.

C. Other parties may be invited to participate in the Programme as collaborators in 
accordance with this Agreement, and will be invited to join through accession, subject to 
the endorsement by the Well North Board.  Any new party shall be bound by the terms of 
this Agreement and such other conditions as the Well North Board may specify.

This Agreement sets out the terms under which the Parties will work together for the purpose of 
the Programme.

IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
In this Agreement the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Accountable Body(ies)” means individually or collectively Sefton, Oldham, Doncaster, 
Halton, Skelmersdale, Bradford, Copeland and Newcastle (on behalf of Newcastle and 
Gateshead) as applicable and any other local authority or National Health Service body or 
private limited company who joins the Programme by accession to this Agreement.   

“Accountable Lead” means the leader from an Accountable Body who will appoint a team of 
representatives responsible for delivering the Programme.

“Background Intellectual Property” means any Intellectual Property made avai lable by   
a Party for use in the Programme, in existence at the date of this Agreement or 
Intellectual Property generated by any of the Parties independently of the Programme and 
controlled or owned by that Party or any Intellectual Property which a Party has the 
necessary rights to use and makes available for use by any of the other Parties, for the 
purpose of the Programme.

“Confidential Information” means all information of a confidential nature concerning the 
Programme and disclosed (whether in writing, orally or by any other means and whether 
directly or indirectly) by one party (the “Disclosing Party”) to another party (the “Receiving 
Party”) for use in connection with the Programme, whether before or after the date of this 
Agreement including, without limitation, any information relating to the Disclosing Party's 
products, operations, processes, plans or intentions, laboratory data, other Programme 
data, specifications, Intellectual Property, trade secrets, partnering plans, marketing plans, 
market opportunities and business affairs which is designated as ‘Proprietary’, ‘Confidential’ or 
‘Sensitive’ by the Disclosing Party at the time of disclosure.

“Contract Period” shall mean the period from 1 April 2015 until 31 March 2020 as set out in 
this Agreement for the whole Programme.

“Intellectual Property” means all intellectual and industrial property rights including without 
limitation patents, Trade Mark(s), service marks, registered designs, domain names, 
applications for any of the foregoing, trade and business names, unregistered trademarks 
and service marks, Know-How, copyrights, rights in designs, rights in databases, rights in 
inventions, rights in improvements and rights of the same or similar effect or nature, in any 
part of the world.

“Know-How” means any unpatented technical information (including, without limitation, 
information relating to inventions, discoveries,  concepts, methodologies, models, research, 
development and testing procedures, the results of experiments, tests and trials, 
manufacturing processes, techniques and specifications, quality control data, analyses, reports 

Page 146



Page 3 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

and submissions) that is not in the public domain.

“Pathfinder” shall mean the geographical area in which an Accountable Body will deliver the 
Well North Programme.

“Milestone” means either of Milestone 1 or Milestone 2.

“Milestone 1” means the progress and supporting written evidence, satisfactory in PHE’s 
reasonable opinion, to be delivered by Manchester to PHE in respect of the Programme 
showing approval by Well North Board of the Pathfinder areas.

“Milestone 2” means the progress and supporting written evidence, satisfactory in PHE’s 
reasonable opinion, to be delivered by Manchester to PHE in respect of the Programme 
showing the first annual report of the Well North Programme.

“Programme” shall mean the overall Well North objectives as approved by the Well North 
Board as expressed in Schedule 2 and as otherwise agreed by the Well North Board.

“Resulting Intellectual Property” shall mean all Intellectual Property r i g h t s  arising 
from and developed as a result of carrying out the Programme by any of the Parties.

“Trade Mark(s)” shall mean the word, mark and logo “Well North” which is or may be registered 
by PHE and any other word or graphic mark used in connection with the Programme, which 
shall include but are not limited to the derivatives ‘Well Sefton’, ‘Well Oldham’, ‘Well Doncaster’, 
‘Well Skelmersdale’, ‘Well Halton’, ‘Well Bradford’, ‘Well Whitehaven’, ‘Well Newcastle 
Gateshead’ and any other party which join by accession, which shall be known as ‘Well 
[Borough name or name advised by the statutory body’. 

“Well North Board” means the group responsible for the overall direction of the Programme.

“Well North Executive” means the group responsible for overseeing day to day operation of   
the Programme.

1 PURPOSE AND SCOPE

1.1 The Parties shall collaborate using reasonable endeavours to achieve the overall 
Programme objectives as agreed by the Well North Board. The Well North Chief Executive 
Officer will be appointed as more fully set out in Clause 2, to provide overall direction to 
the Parties for the Programme.

1.2 Each Accountable Body shall perform (or procure the performance of) the allocated work 
as set out in the Programme.   

1.3 For the purposes of performing the Programme each Accountable Body will provide (or 
procure the provision of) the agreed financial and in kind match contribution and 
adequate facilities; obtain any requisite materials, equipment and personnel; and to carry 
out (or procure the carrying out of) the work diligently as detailed in Schedule 2.

2 MANAGEMENT OF THE PROGRAMME

2.1 The Well North Chief Executive Officer shall establish the Well North Board with overall 
responsibility for strategic oversight of the Programme.  All significant matters relating to 
the Project will be decided upon by the Well North Board which shall also put in place any 
structure to manage the Programme that it agrees are necessary. The role of the Well 

Page 147



Page 4 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

North Board shall be set out in the terms of reference agreed by the Well North Board. 
PHE shall appoint an ‘Executive Chair’ who will chair both the Well North Board and Well 
North Executive. The role of the Executive Chair shall be agreed by the Well North Board. 
His/her remuneration shall be agreed by the Well North Executive. The duration of the 
Executive Chair appointment and arrangements for replacement will be agreed by the 
Well North Board as set out in the terms of reference.  The Well North Executive Chair will 
abstain from voting on his/her remuneration when determined by the Well North Executive.

2.2 The Well North Board shall establish the Well North Executive, with responsibility for the 
overall operational delivery of the programme. The role of the Well North Executive shall 
be set out in the terms of reference agreed by the Well North Board. 

2.3 The Well North Executive shall comprise the Executive Chair, the Well North Chief 
Executive Officer, one Accountable Lead (on behalf of all Accountable Bodies) and a 
representative of PHE. The Well North Chief Executive Officer may invite representatives 
to attend Well North Executive meetings where advice is required on a particular subject 
matter. Their involvement shall be regulated in accordance with the terms of reference of 
the Well North Executive.

2.4 Each Party to this Agreement is entitled to appoint a member to the Well North Board, 
and shall advise the Chief Executive Officer if they wish to exercise this entitlement. 
There is no expectation that each pathfinder shall appoint to the Board, other than Sefton, 
the incubator pathfinder, whose place on the Board shall be regulated through the terms 
of reference of the Board. All Board papers will be shared with parties to this Agreement. 

2.5 The quorum for a meeting of the Well North Board shall be set out in the terms of 
reference, but at least one must be from Manchester and one from PHE. The quorum of 
the Well North Executive shall be three.

2.6 The Well North Board will each meet at least quarterly at venues to be agreed or at any 
time when reasonably considered necessary at the request of any of the Parties and 
meetings may be conducted using tele or video conferencing.  Meetings shall be 
convened with at least seven (7) days' prior written notice, which notice shall include an 
agenda.  Minutes of the meetings of the Well North Board shall be drafted by Manchester 
and transmitted to the Parties without delay and in any event within fifteen (15) days of 
the meeting.  The minutes shall be considered as accepted by the Parties if, within fifteen 
(15) from receipt, no Party has objected in writing to Manchester.  Manchester will 
prepare progress reports as required by PHE and a draft of each report will be circulated 
to each member of the Well North Board seven (7) days prior to the meeting.

2.7 The Well North Executive will meet at least four times a year and meetings may be 
conducted using tele or video-conferencing. Meetings shall be convened with at least five 
(5) days’ prior notice. Minutes of the meetings of the Well North Executive shall be 
drafted by Manchester and transmitted to the Parties without delay and in any event 
within fifteen (15) days of the meeting. The minutes shall be considered as accepted by 
the Parties if, within fifteen (15) days from receipt, no Party has objected in writing to 
Manchester. Manchester will prepare progress reports as required by PHE. 

2.8 Subject to Clause 2.1, voting arrangements at meetings of both the Well North Board and 
Well North Executive shall be provided for in the terms of reference. Decisions will 
generally be taken by a majority vote except for those decisions set out in the terms of 
reference.  In the event of a tied vote the chair of Well North Board or Well North Executive 
as applicable, shall have the casting vote.

Page 148



Page 5 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

Management Team

2.9 The Well North Chief Executive Officer will manage the Programme and is accountable to 
Manchester.  The Executive Chair and the Well North Chief Executive Officer shall 
establish a hub team (the “Well North Hub Management Team”) which will be funded 
through the programme budget. The Accountable Lead for each Accountable Body, 
together with the Well North Chief Executive Officer shall agree and manage any specific 
Programme arrangements.  

2.10 Delivery of the work packages and oversight of the day to day running of the 
Programme will be undertaken by the Accountab le  Lead who will be responsible for 
reporting at least annually to the Board.

2.11 The Accountable Lead and the Well North Chief Executive Officer, and/or nominated 
officer, shall meet every month at a venue to be agreed or by video/teleconference.  

3 ADDITION OF NEW PARTIES

3.1 New parties may join the Programme with the agreement of the Well North Board and 
subject to the new party executing the accession agreement attached as Schedule 3 and 
being bound by the applicable terms of this Agreement and such other conditions as the 
Well North Board may specify.

4 WITHDRAWAL

4.1 Any Party (the “Withdrawing Party”) may withdraw from the Programme upon twelve (12) 
months prior written notice to the Well North Board.  Withdrawal by the Withdrawing Party 
will only take place after discussions with the Well North Board and PHE.  Such 
discussions to occur within three (3) months of submission by the Withdrawing Party of 
notice to withdraw, after which the Parties will confirm to the Withdrawing Party the official 
date of withdrawal (“Date of Withdrawal”).

4.2 In the event of withdrawal of a Party, the Well North Board, in collaboration with PHE, will 
make all reasonable attempts to reallocate the obligations of the Withdrawing Party under 
this Agreement to another organisation taking into consideration any financial implications 
and cost recovery.  

4.3 The Withdrawing Party shall not from the date of withdrawal be entitled to recover any of 
its costs incurred in connection with the Programme  and shall, from the date of 
withdrawal, comply with any conditions that may be imposed by the Well North Board and 
continuing obligations under this Agreement.  

5 FUNDING AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

5.1 The Programme shall be funded through contributions from PHE and the Accountable 
Bodies, who are a Party to this Agreement and those who join by accession, in cash and 
in kind.  Additional funding for Well North may be sought by the Well North Management 
Team and Accountable Leads. Any additional funding secured over and above the 
Programme Budget will be dealt with in accordance with a separate funding statement 
agreed by the Well North Board, and may be held outside of the main programme budget. 

5.2 Manchester, shall contribute in-kind resources to help co-ordinate the delivery of the 
Programme, including a contribution towards meeting the costs of evaluation and by 
wavering the research overheads as their contribution in kind.  PHE have agreed to 
provide funding of £9,000,000 to deliver Well North in 10 or more areas in the North of 

Page 149



Page 6 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

England. PHE shall contribute its funding for Well North to Manchester subject to the 
separate grant award. Subject to Clause 5.3, the named Accountable Bodies and those 
who will subsequently join by accession will be a statutory body located or responsible for 
providing services within the Pathfinder area. Other Pathfinders may be deemed by the 
Well North Board as associate Pathfinders but will not receive any direct funding through 
this Agreement, but may be supported by the Well North Hub Management Team subject 
to availability of resources. 

5.3 In areas where the Well North Board agree to work, and where there is not a statutory 
Accountable Body, Manchester will put an appropriate agreement in place to cover such 
activities. This may lead to the development of a number of smaller contracts for delivery 
of the Well North Hub Management Team. 

5.4 Except for Manchester each Accountable Body has agreed to contribute to the 
Programme match funding of £1,000,000 (one million), which shall comprise a minimum of 
£400,000 in cash and the remaining £600,000 as an in-kind contribution.  The exact 
details of an Accountable Body’s contribution shall be agreed with the Well North Chief 
Executive Officer and reported to the Board. 

5.5 Manchester will hold the budget for the Well North Hub Management Team. The budget 
shall comprise £3,600,000 allocated from the PHE contribution to Well North. The Well 
North Chief Executive Officer is responsible for reporting to the Well North Executive on 
expenditure no less than annually when this agreement is in place, and retrospectively for 
any resource committed prior to it being signed. 

5.6 Following signature of this Agreement, Manchester will transfer to each Accountable Body 
a maximum sum of £200,000 (two hundred thousand) inclusive of any value added tax, as 
the PHE matched funding.  A further maximum sum of £400,000 (four hundred thousand) 
inclusive of any value added tax will be transferred in instalments on dates to be agreed by 
the Well North Executive. Following receipt of a purchase order from Manchester, the 
Accountable Body will invoice the Well North Chief Executive Officer at Manchester as set 
out in Schedule 1.

5.7 Each Accountable Body shall agree with the Well North Chief Executive Officer the 
allocated work, milestones to be achieved and how the contribution from PHE and the 
matched contribution from the Accountable Body will be used (in cash and in kind). The 
financial and in kind contributions shall be set out in Schedule 1 and as otherwise agreed 
by the Well North Executive.  All resources provided by PHE, through Manchester, to the 
Accountable Body, must explicitly be for the delivery of the Well North Programme.  Each 
Accountable Body, commits on signing this Agreement, to assist in the delivery of the Well 
North Programme. Each Accountable Body is responsible for reporting to the Well North 
Executive on expenditure no less than annually, and is accountable for, where applicable, 
its own financial spend and match resource contribution being used to meet the 
deliverables set out in this Agreement, the Programme and as agreed by the Well North 
Executive. The report to the Well North Executive shall include details of expenditure of 
both PHE resources and matched cash and in-kind resource. The Well North Executive 
shall have the right to review, at its reasonable request, each Accountable Body's 
accounts and records that relate to the Programme and shall have the right to take copies 
of such accounts and records.

5.8 Any equipment purchased by a Party using Programme funds shall be owned by that 
Party.

6 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

6.1 Any and all Background Intellectual Property is and shall remain, as between the Parties, 

Page 150



Page 7 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

the exclusive property of the Party making such Background Intellectual Property 
available.  Each Party hereby grants to the other Party a non-exclusive, royalty-free 
licence to use its Background Intellectual Property for the purpose of carrying out the 
Programme and where free and able to do so, to enable the use of the Resulting 
Intellectual Property pursuant to Clause 6.5.

6.2 No Party shall knowingly make Background Intellectual Property available to the other 
Parties, (i) which it does not have the right to make available to that Party or (ii) where it 
does not have the right to grant the licences to use such Background Intellectual 
Property set out in this Agreement or, (iii) where to do so would cause an infringement of 
the rights of a third party.

6.3 Each Party agrees and acknowledges that the Trade Marks shall at all times remain the 
property of PHE.

6.4 All Resulting Intellectual Property shall vest in and be owned by PHE absolutely and the 
other Parties agree to execute (or procure that their employees, students and other 
agents execute) all documents and assignments and do all such things as may be 
necessary to perfect PHE’s title to the Resulting IP or to register PHE as owner of any 
registrable rights therein. In the event that it is or may be possible to obtain any registered 
Intellectual Property rights in any Resulting Intellectual Property, PHE shall have the right 
but not the obligation to file for and maintain the registration of such rights in its own name.

6.5 Notwithstanding the foregoing, PHE agrees to grant to the other Parties a non-
exclusive, royalty-free, perpetual, irrevocable, and worldwide licence to use the 
Resulting IP in order to undertake the Programme and for non-commercial teaching, 
research and development purposes. 

6.6 It is agreed that if the Resulting IP is exploited commercially PHE shall notify the 
Parties of the same and having due regard to all the circumstances, agree in good 
faith fair and reasonable terms regarding additional payments to the Parties reflecting 
their contribution in the form of a royalty or equivalent as appropriate.

6.7 If any Party is or becomes aware of any restrictions or obligations to third parties 
which would limit its ability to grant the licences specified in this Agreement, that Party 
shall promptly notify each other as soon as it becomes aware of such restrictions or 
obligations.

7 PUBLICATIONS 

7.1 In addition to the publication arrangements set out in this Clause 7, the Well North Board 
will agree a publication scheme which will set out the principles for determining the 
process, rights and responsibilities of all parties in respect of material intended for 
external publication or external presentation.  

7.2 Subject to the provisions of Clauses 6 (Intellectual Property) and 8 (Confidentiality) no 
Party shall disclose or publish information or Resulting Intellectual Property for the duration 
of the Programme and for 3 (three) years thereafter without the consent of the Well North 
Board and PHE, such consent, not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.  Request for 
consent to publish must be submitted together with the material proposed for publication to 
the Well North Board.  If any Party can reasonably demonstrate that such a disclosure 
contains material that would prejudice the value of any Background Intellectual Property 
and/or Resulting Intellectual Property, that Party shall inform the Well North Chief 
Executive Officer in writing within twenty eight (28) days of that Party receiving a copy of 
the proposed publication and in that event the disclosure shall be amended so as to meet 
the objections of that Party.

Page 151



Page 8 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

7.3 Where in the opinion of the Well North Board a proposed publication contains patentable 
or commercially sensitive subject matter which needs protection then the Party proposing 
to publish may be requested to refrain from doing so for a maximum of eighteen (18) 
months in order to allow for application for patent protection in the name and at the cost 
of PHE.

7.4 A copy of the final manuscript of all research publications that relate to the 
Programme must be deposited into PubMed Central (or UK PubMed Central) upon 
acceptance for publication, to be made freely available as soon as possible and in any 
event no later than six (6) months after the journal publisher’s official date of final 
publication.

8 CONFIDENTIALITY

8.1 In the course of this Agreement, it is anticipated that each Party will r ece i ve  and  
learn Confidential Information f rom and  about the other Parties. The Receiving Party 
shall keep confidential this Confidential Information, and only disclose or use such 
Confidential Information where specifically authorised in writing by the Disclosing Party 
or as may be necessary in connection with the performance of the Programme under 
this Agreement, or as may be required by law or regulatory authorities.

8.2 Information shall not be considered Confidential Information and the restrictions in 
Clause 8.1 above shall not apply to disclosed information that:

8.2.1 was known by the Receiving Party at the time of disclosure to it by the 
Disclosing Party, or that according to written proof is independently developed or 
discovered by the Receiving Party, after disclosure by the Disclosing Party, without the 
aid, application or use of any item of the Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information, as 
evidenced by written records;

8.2.2 is now, or subsequently becomes, through no act or failure to act on the part 
of the Receiving Party, generally known or available;

8.2.3 is disclosed to the Receiving Party by a third party authorised to disclose 
it;

8.2.4 is required by law or by court or administrative order to be disclosed; 
provided, that the Receiving Party shall have first given prompt notice to the 
Disclosing Party of such required disclosure. 

8.2.5 is independently developed by an employee of the Receiving Party who 
has not had access to any of the Confidential Information disclosed to the 
Receiving Party by the Disclosing Party.

8.3 If any Party receives a request under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 to disclose 
any Confidential Information, it will notify and consult with the other Parties. The 
other Parties will respond within five working (5) days after receiving notice if the notice 
requests assistance in determining whether or not an exemption in that Act applies.

8.4 The provisions of this Clause 8 shall survive for a period of five (5) years from the 
date of any expiration or termination of this Agreement, however caused.

9 TERM AND TERMINATION

9.1 This Agreement shall have effect from 1 April 2015 and shall continue in effect for the 
full duration of the Contract Period unless terminated in accordance with this Clause 9.

Page 152



Page 9 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

9.2 Where a Party is in material breach of this Agreement and, in the case of a breach that 
is capable of being remedied has not remedied or taken such steps as are reasonable 
in the circumstances to begin to remedy it within thirty (30) days of receiving written 
notice of such breach, the other Parties shall, subject to the consent of PHE, be 
entitled to terminate the defaulting Party’s involvement in the Programme by giving not 
less than thirty (30) days’ notice in writing. 

9.3 In the event that it is agreed by all the Parties that there is no longer valid reasons for 
continuing with the Programme the Well North Board and PHE may decide by unanimous 
vote to terminate this Agreement by sending notice of termination in writing to all the 
Parties to that effect.

10 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

10.1 Subject to Clause 6.2, no Party makes any representation or warranty that advice or 
information given by any of its employees, students, agents or appointees who work on 
the Programme, or the content or use of any materials, works or information provided 
in connection with the Programme, will not constitute or result in infringement of third-
party rights.

10.2 No Party accepts any responsibility for any use which may be made of any work 
carried out under or pursuant to this Agreement, or of the results of the Programme, 
nor for any reliance which may be placed on such work or results, nor for advice or 
information given in connection with them.

10.3 The Parties undertake to make no claim in connection with this Agreement or its subject 
matter against any employees, students, agents or appointees of the other Parties 
(apart from claims based on gross negligence, fraud, and/or wilful misconduct). This 
undertaking is intended to give protection to individual researchers: it does not prejudice 
any right which a Party might have to claim against any other Party.

10.4 The liability of any Party for any breach of this Agreement, or arising in any other way 
out of the subject-matter of this Agreement, will not extend to loss of business or 
profit, loss of turnover, income, revenue, goodwill, opportunity, and loss of savings or 
anticipated savings or to any indirect, incidental, and/or consequential damages or 
losses no matter how arising, whether by breach or by negligence and whether in 
contract, tort, breach of statutory duty or otherwise, even if one Party has advised the 
other Party(s) of the possibility of those losses and/or if they were within the 
contemplation of such Party.

10.5 Subject to the provisions of Clause 10.6 below, the maximum liability of any Party 
under or otherwise in connection with this Agreement or its subject matter shall not 
exceed £ 2 0 0 , 0 0 0  ( t w o  h u n d r e d  t h o u s a n d )  for any claim or series of 
claims and no matter how arising, whether by breach or by negligence and 
whether in contract, tort, breach of statutory duty or otherwise.

10.6 Subject to the provisions of Clause 10.7 below, PHE accepts no liability for any 
consequences, whether direct or indirect, that may come about from the use, or 
withdrawal, of the funding from PHE. 

10.7 Nothing in this Agreement limits or excludes any Party’s liability for:

  10.7.1 death or personal injury resulting from negligence; or

Page 153



Page 10 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

  10.7.2 any fraud or for any sort of other liability which, by law, cannot be limited 
or excluded.

10.8 If any sub-clause of this Clause 10 is held to be invalid or unenforceable under any 
applicable statute or rule of law then it shall be deemed to be omitted, and if as a result 
any Party becomes liable for loss or damage which would otherwise have been 
excluded then such liability shall be subject to the remaining sub- clauses of this 
Clause 10.

11 FORCE MAJEURE

11.1 A Party shall not be liable for failure to perform its obligations under this Agreement, 
nor be liable to any claim for compensation or damage, nor be deemed to be in breach 
of this Agreement, if such failure arises from an occurrence or circumstances beyond 
the reasonable control of that Party (excluding an obligation to make payment).

11.2 If a Party affected by such an occurrence causes a delay of three (3) months or more, 
and if such delay may reasonably be anticipated to continue, then the Parties shall, in 
consultation with the PHE, discuss whether continuation of the Programme is viable, 
or whether the Programme and this Agreement should be terminated.

12 NO PARTNERSHIP

12.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall create or be deemed to create a partnership (within the 
meaning of the Partnership Act 1890) or to have created the relationship of principal and 
agent, a Partnership or any other legal entity between the Parties other than as specifically 
set out herein.

13 DISPUTE RESOLUTION

13.1 The Parties shall use good faith efforts to resolve any dispute, claim or proceeding arising 
out of or relating to this Agreement via the Well North Board.  In the event that any 
disputes cannot be resolved at this level then the senior executives of the relevant Parties 
who have authority to settle the same shall use good faith efforts to resolve the same.  

13.2 If the matter is not resolved through negotiation, it shall be settled as agreed by the Well 
North Board by mediation in accordance with the Centre for Dispute Resolution ("CEDR") 
Model Mediation Procedure (the "Model Procedure").  To initiate mediation a Party must 
give notice in writing to the other Parties to the dispute requesting mediation pursuant to 
the Model Procedure.  A copy of the request shall also be sent to CEDR.  The mediation 
shall be before a single, jointly agreed upon, mediator.

13.3 If the Well North Board is unable to select a mutually agreeable mediator or cannot agree 
on the forum in which any dispute is to be held within 60 days of a dispute being notified to 
the Well North Board or if the mediation is not successful, then either of the Parties to the 
dispute may initiate legal proceedings under English law at the courts or England and 
Wales.

14 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

14.1 This Agreement and its Schedules are incorporated into and form part of this Agreement 
and constitutes the entire Agreement between the Parties with regard to the Programme.  
Any variation to this Agreement shall be in writing and signed by authorised signatories 
for all Parties.  

Page 154



Page 11 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

15 NOTICES

15.1 Any notice to be given under this Agreement must be in writing, may be delivered to 
the other party by any of the methods set out in the left hand column below, and will be 
deemed to be received on the corresponding day set out in the right hand column:

Method of service Deemed day of receipt
By hand or courier the day of delivery
By pre-paid first class post the second business day after posting
By registered mail on signature

Notices shall be addressed to:

For MANCHESTER: Director of Research & Business Engagement Support Services, 2nd Floor Christie 
Building with a copy to  Dr Arpana Verma, Division of Population Health, Health Sciences Research & 
Primary Care, Room 2.523 Stopford Building.

For PHE: [FILL OUT];

For SEFTON: [FILL OUT];

For OLDHAM: [FILL OUT];

For DONCASTER: [FILL OUT].

For HALTON: [FILL OUT]

For WEST LANCASHIRE: [FILL OUT]

For BRADFORD: [FILL OUT]

For COPELAND: [FILL OUT]

For NEWCASTLE: [FILL OUT]

16 GENERAL

16.1 No Party shall use the name of the other in any press release or product advertising, or for 
any other commercial purpose, without the prior written consent of the other; provided, 
however, that publication of appropriate details of the collaboration in regulatory and 
statutory reporting shall not be considered a breach of this Agreement.

16.2 This Agreement shall not be assigned by any Party without the prior written consent of 
the other Parties hereto.

16.3 The descriptive headings of this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not 
affect the meaning or construction of any of the provisions of this Agreement. The 
failure of any Party to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not be construed as 
a waiver or limitation of that Party’s subsequent rights to enforce and compel strict 
compliance with every provision of this Agreement. To the extent any provision of this 
Agreement or the application thereof is found by a proper authority to be invalid or 
unenforceable, it shall be considered deleted here from, and the remainder of this 
Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.

16.4 This Agreement and all terms, provisions and conditions of the Programme and all 

Page 155



Page 12 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

questions of construction, validity and performance under this Agreement shall be 
governed by the law of England and Wales and shall, subject to Clause 13, be subject to 
the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales.

16.5 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 
when executed (and delivered) will constitute an original of this Agreement, but all 
counterparts will together constitute the same agreement. No counterpart will be 
effective until each Party has executed at least one counterpart.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement by their duly authorised 
officers as of the date first above written.

For and on behalf of THE UNIVERSITY OF MANCHESTER

Name Position Date

For and on behalf of PUBLIC HEALTH ENGLAND

Name Position Date

For and on behalf of SEFTON COUNCIL

Name Position Date

For and on behalf of OLDHAM COUNCIL

Name Position Date

For and on behalf of DONCASTER COUNCIL

Name Position Date

For and on behalf of HALTON CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

Page 156



Page 13 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

Name Position Date

For and on behalf of WEST LANCASHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 

Name Position Date

For and on behalf of BRADFORD TEACHING HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 

Name Position Date

For and on behalf of COPELAND COUNCIL 

Name Position Date

For and on behalf of NEWCASTLE COUNCIL 

Name Position Date

Page 157



Page 14 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

Schedule 1 – Payment Schedule 

Summary 
Totals PHE Contribution Accountable Body Contribution PHE Funding 

Paid To Date

Sefton 
£1,000,000

(£600,000 cash / 
£400,000 Hub)

£1,000,000
(£400,000 cash / 

£600,000 in kind)

£0

Oldham
 

£1,000,000
(£600,000 cash / 

£400,000 Hub)

£1,000,000
(£400,000 cash / 

£600,000 in kind)

£0

Doncaster £1,000,000
(£600,000 cash / 

£400,000 Hub)

£1,000,000
(£400,000 cash / 

£600,000 in kind)

£0

 Bradford £1,000,000
(£600,000 cash / 

£400,000 Hub)

£1,000,000
(£400,000 cash / 

£600,000 in kind)

£0

Skelmersdale £1,000,000
(£600,000 cash / 

£400,000 Hub)

£1,000,000
(£400,000 cash / 

£600,000 in kind)

£0

Halton £1,000,000
(£600,000 cash / 

£400,000 Hub)

£1,000,000
(£400,000 cash / 

£600,000 in kind)

£0

Copeland £1,000,000
(£600,000 cash / 

£400,000 Hub)

£1,000,000
(£400,000 cash / 

£600,000 in kind)

£0

Newcastle £1,000,000
(£600,000 cash / 

£400,000 Hub)

£1,000,000
(£400,000 cash / 

£600,000 in kind)

£0

Each Accountable Body shall invoice Manchester within 30 days of achieving the 
milestone to a satisfactory standard in accordance with the Clause 5.6.  

The invoices and statements should be sent to: 

Central Finance Payables Office, Room G002
John Owen Building
University of Manchester
Oxford Road
Manchester M13 9PT

quoting the purchase order number to be supplied.  

With a copy to:

Sam Tunney, Well North Chief Executive, School of Health Sciences, Room 2.547 
Stopford Building, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester, M13 9PL.

Page 158



Page 15 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

Schedule 2 – Well North Programme

Funding Trigger Release Payment amount
Upon completion of a two day workshop and 
development of an Action Plan

£200,000

By consideration of Pathfinder that significant 
progress, as agreed by the Well North 
Executive Group, has been made on Action 
Plan

£200,000

By consideration of Pathfinder that significant 
progress, as agreed by the Well North 
Executive Group, has been made on Action 
Plan

£200,000

Page 159



Page 16 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

Schedule 3 – Accession Agreement For A New Party

THIS Accession Agreement is dated the day of 20[…]
BETWEEN:
(1) THE PARTIES OF WELL NORTH (the “Existing Parties”)
(2) […] (the “New Party”)
WHEREAS:
(A) The Existing Parties are parties to the Agreement for the Well North Programme 

dated [(insert date)], whether as original signatories or pursuant to subsequent 
joining agreements.

(B) The New Party’s application for joining the Well North Programme has been 
approved, and the New Party is admitted as a Party of Well North on the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement.

IT IS AGREED as follows:
1. Words and expressions used in this Accession Agreement shall, unless the 

context expressly requires otherwise, have the meaning given to them in, and 
be interpreted in accordance with, the Agreement for the Well North 
Programme. In addition, the following words and expressions shall have the 
following meanings:

(a)“Agreement for the Well North Programme” means the agreement referred to 
in recital (A), as subsequently amended or supplemented in accordance with 
its terms; and

(b)“Effective Date” means [(insert date of admission)].
2. In consideration of the Existing Parties accepting the New Party as to the Well 

North Programme and the New Party accepting the rights and obligations of the 
Agreement for the Well North Programme, the New Party confirms that it has 
been supplied with a copy of the Agreement for the Well North Programme and 
any amendments thereof and agreed to make the appropriate contribution as 
agreed with the Well North Chief Executive Officer. The New Party and each of 
the Existing Parties undertake with each other that, subject to the terms of this 
Agreement, from the Effective Date they shall observe, perform and are  bound 
by the provisions of the Agreement for the Well North Programme as though the 
New Party were an original party to the Agreement for the Well North 
Programme. Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph 2:
(a) each of the Existing Parties shall be entitled to enforce the terms of the 

Agreement for the Well North Programme against the New Party with effect 
from the Effective Date; and

(b) the New Party shall be entitled to enforce the terms of the Agreement for the 
Well North Programme against each of the Parties with effect from the 
Effective Date.

3. For the purposes of Clause 15 of the Agreement for the Well North Programme:
(a) the New Party’s address for service is [(insert address)]; and
(b) the New Party’s authorised contact is [(insert name)].

Page 160



Page 17 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

4. The New Party will confirm with the Well North Chief Executive if they intend to 
exercise the entitlement to a place on the Well North Board 

5. The New Party will agree with the Well North Chief Executive the contribution in 
cash and in kind they will make to the Well North Programme and the PHE 
funding they will receive.

6. This Accession Agreement and any disputes or claims arising out of or in 
connection with its subject matter or formation (including non-contractual 
disputes or claims) shall be governed in accordance with Clause 10 of the 
Agreement for the Well North Programme.

IN WITNESS whereof this Accession Agreement was executed on the date and year 
stated above

SIGNED for and on behalf of the NEW PARTY by [(insert name)]:

Signature:

SIGNED for and on behalf of the EXISTING PARTIES by [(insert name)] 

Signature on behalf of The University of Manchester:

Name

Title

Signature on behalf of Public Health England:

Name

Title

Signature on behalf of Sefton Council:

Name

Title

Signature on behalf of Oldham Council:

Name

Title

Signature on behalf of Doncaster Council:

Name

Title

Page 161



Page 18 of 18
 February  2017

Internal Discussion Draft

Signature on behalf of Halton Clinical Commissioning Group 

Name

Title

Signature on behalf of West Lancashire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Name 

Title

Signature on behalf of Bradford Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust Foundation 

Name

Title 

Signature on behalf of Copeland Council 

Name 

Title

Signature on behalf of Newcastle Council 

Name 

Title

Page 162



Well Whitehaven – Draft Action Pan

Mirehouse: a place of energy, aspiration and learning

Shared Ambitions -  agreed by the Steering Group 2016
1. Investing in a confident, enterprising generation of young people in Mirehouse
2. Create an aspirational learning culture and develop entrepreneurialism
3. Building a different relationship with the nuclear industry
4. Align health and social objectives with new building developments and the physical environment.

With the right resourcing the following actions will either be commissioned or delivered through partnership arrangements.
The Draft Action Plan has been developed with reference to the outputs of the December 2016 workshop held in Mirehouse with residents and key 
agencies, and further refined in consultation with a smaller group in March 2017. 
Detail of individual projects under the action plan headings is still to be developed including timescales, delivery partners and co-ordination with existing 
initiatives.
Action plan to be reviewed annually.

1.0 Invest in the people of Mirehouse, particularly the young

1.1 Working with local film makers and young Mirehouse residents to produce a film showcasing Mirehouse

1.2 Establish mentoring programme - work/ life
Potential to encourage sixth formers to mentor younger children on the estate

1.3 Work with young people to develop ideas and offer investment support for delivery- linked to mentoring 
programme. 

2 Create an aspirational learning culture and develop entrepreneurialism
2.1 Develop an Autism support programme for Mirehouse residents.

2.2 Develop a teenage parent support programme for Mirehouse residents, including support for continuing education.

2.3 Establish singing, music and dance activities for all age groups. Encourage positive attitudes to playing music and 

P
age 163



dance through the offer of engagement with a variety of genres.
2.4 Offer additional literacy and numeracy support for all ages including use of role models to encourage early years 

reading.
2.5 Work with residents to identify the skill set on Mirehouse and ways to maximise the skills related opportunities - 

potential Mirehouse Skills Exchange (potential link to 2.3 and 2.4)
2.6 Deliver skills pathway to improve employment opportunities, including support to develop wider interests to 

develop good CVs.
2.7 Work with Mirehouse residents to develop business / creative ideas and offer investment support for delivery

3.0 Develop a new relationship with the nuclear industry
3.1 Increase the Nuclear sector involvement with Mirehouse to capitalise on opportunities - integration of AD sites / 

mentoring?
3.2 Strengthen co-ordination of existing community provider activities and networking in Mirehouse

4.0 Create a physical environment that matches our ambition
4.1 Improve community facilities

4.2 Improve perception of community safety

P
age 164



FULL 210317 
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY 2017 - 2020 
 
EXECUTIVE 
MEMBER: 
 

Cllr David Banks, Portfolio Holder 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

Julie Betteridge, Director of Customer and Community Services 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

Gillian Butterworth, Policy Officer 

SUMMARY:  
 
This Environmental Policy precedes and updates a previous version dated 2008.  The 
new policy sets out the Councils commitments to ensuring that the environmental 
impacts of its decisions and actions are positive, sustainable and resilient both now and 
in the future.   The policy also contains targets for the authority, including a 5% carbon 
reduction target on our own activities by 2020.  
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS:            
                                                                    
Full council are requested to agree the new Environmental Policy set out at appendix A 
and a related 5% carbon reduction target by March 2020. 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1  The natural and historical built environment of Copeland are arguably our best 
 asset, and are highly valued by residents and visitors alike. This is reflected in our 
 Corporate Mission which is to ‘Make Copeland a better place to live, work and 
 visit’. 
 
1.2 Presently Copeland Borough Council are a local authority with a strategic drive 

towards commercialisation, growth and regeneration. We are also facing the 
prospect of major industrial investment and associated developments across the 
borough through the proposed Moorside development and West Cumbria 
Mining plans.  As the Planning and Housing Authority it is incumbent upon us as 
the Local Authority to use our influence and partnerships to ensure that a 
sustainable approach to growth is adopted across the borough, and the 
developments recognises the need to protect and enhance the character and 
distinctiveness of our natural environment. 

 

Page 165

Agenda Item 12



1.4 Copeland Borough Council recognises that its own activities have an impact 
 on the  environment and that it has a responsibility to act as an environmentally 
 responsible organisation that is adaptive to climate change and moving towards 
 a low carbon economy across the borough. 
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Climate Change Act 2008 set a legally binding target for the UK to reduce 
 greenhouse gas emissions by at least 80% from 1990 level by 2050. 
 
2.2 In line with the Climate Change Act (2008) and in partnership with Cumbria 

Strategic Partnership’s Climate Change Commitment, the Council made a 
commitment in 2009 to minimises its own carbon footprint by reducing its 
carbon emissions and usage by 5% each year over a five-year period, resulting in 
a total  reduction of 25% between 2009 and 2014.  At that time Copeland 
Borough Council had a dedicated Sustainability Officer who monitored and 
recorded direct, indirect and other emissions.  From 2008/9 to 2013/14 the 
Council recorded a reduction in emissions of 16.5%.  (3,726 tonnes total gross 
emissions in 2008/9 to 3,111 total tonnes in 2013/14). 

 
PROPOSALS 

 
3.1 This Environmental Policy will influence our decision-making, inform our service 

planning and delivery and guide our actions to ensure that we operate as an 
environmentally responsible organisation.   

 
3.2 We have set up the framework for monitoring our carbon use from our last 

policy and have a baseline from the end of this work to use at the start of this 
policy.  We are also actively assessing our environmental sustainability in a range 
of service areas and have received the CBEN (Cumbria Business Environment 
Network) Gold Award for environmental practice in the current and previous 
years.  We are renewing our fleet vehicles and are ensuring these are more fuel 
and emission efficient.  The Beacon Museum has undertaken the relevant 
measures a number of years ago to be recognised as a green museum and we 
continue with the commitments as the Museum develops.  Staff and members 
are encouraged to consider car sharing and use of tele conferencing where 
appropriate.  Our infrastructure and working differently agendas will be 
reviewed in line with this refreshed policy commitment. 

 
3.3 The Environmental Policy will reinstate and reinvigorate our target to reduce our 

own carbon use and emissions.  The Council commitment will be strengthened 
by a measure by which we can assess our continued commitment to this new 
Environmental Policy.  It is proposed a realistic 5% target be set to be reached by 
2020 and building on our previous success from our last carbon reduction target. 

Page 166



 
3.4 This Policy position will be used to direct our support for partner organisations 

and influence and encourage our employees, elected members, partners, 
contractors, suppliers and residents to minimise any negative environmental 
impacts linked to our decisions or actions.  We have been an active partner in 
the Lake District National Park Partnership and its carbon reduction plans, 
actions and monitoring. 

 
4. CONCLUSIONS 
 
4.1 The reduction in Local Authority funding from Central Government, amongst 

other factors, has led to our environmental and sustainability agenda being less 
visible.  A new Environmental Policy underpins our Corporate drive for 
commercialisation, growth and regeneration in the borough and our 
commitment to strengthen the way we operate.   

 
4.2 It is timely for Copeland Borough Council to re-state its commitment to manage 

its own business in an environmentally responsible manner, and to continue to 
support its residents, visitors and partners in moving towards a low carbon 
economy across the whole borough.   Full Council are requested to consider and 
agree to the new Environmental Policy 2017 – 2020 and an associated 5% carbon 
reduction target by 2020.  

 
5.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
 
5.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: Mo comment is The discharge of any 
 function relating to the control or pollution or the management of air quality is a 
 local choice function and Council has previously determined that the approval of 
 policies and strategies relating to such is a matter reserved to full Council. Legal 
 issues are referred to in the policy. 
 
5.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: There are no financial implications 
 arising directly from this report. 
 
5.3 EIA Comments:  The Council’s Equality Scheme guides our impact assessments 

which will include any activity arising from this policy which impacts on equality 
of service and access.   The policy has relevance for all parts of the organisation 
and for all services. 

 
5.4  Policy Framework:  This new Environmental Policy forms part of the suite of 

policies that underpin the Corporate Strategy 2016 – 2020. 
 
5.5 Other Consultee Comments, if any:  Internal consultation has informed the 

development of the policy detail and the target setting.  We have linked to good 

Page 167



practice examples, including the LDNP Partnership, to understand opportunities 
for the policy detail. 

 
6.      HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS  
 GOING TO BE MANAGED? 
  
6.1 Progress against targets will be monitored quarterly by CLT and good practice 

and associated environmental and financial saving will be reported to Executive 
annually.  This policy statement will be reviewed every 3 years. 

 
7.  WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 

REPORT?  
  
7.1 We will reduce our carbon footprint by 5% over the next 4 years (2017-2020), 

this represents a targeted annual decrease of 1.67%.   
This will be achieved by; 

▪ Updating our baseline assessment of current carbon budget. 
▪ Identify and set measures for reducing our carbon budget. 
▪ Establish a quarterly monitoring and annual reporting cycle for our 

carbon budget. 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A:   Copeland Borough Council Environmental Policy 2017 - 2020 
 
List of Background Documents: 
 
Copeland Climate Change Action Plan 2013-2013 
Corporate Strategy 2016-2020 
Growth Strategy 2016-2020 
LDNPA – Low Carbon Lake District Strategy 
 

Page 168



-

Environmental Policy 

2017 to 2020

Version: V.2
Date: March 2017

Page 169



E$ugv5kz50.doc                                                                        Page 2 of 9

Document Control 

Organisation Copeland Borough Council
Title Environmental Policy 2017
Version FINAL V.2
Author Gillian Butterworth
Filename Environmental Statement 2017
Owner Julie Betteridge
Subject
Protective Marking
Review Date

Revision History

Version Date Reviewed By Description of Revision
V.1 2008 Julie 

Betteridge
Review, update and reinstatement of 
expired Environmental Policy dated 2008.

V.2 Date of next review 2020

Document Approval 

Version Approved By Date
Full Council 21 March 2017

Document Distribution

This policy is to be made available to all staff and elected members of Copeland Borough Council and 
placed on the Council’s Intranet Site

Page 170



E$ugv5kz50.doc                                                                        Page 3 of 9

Copeland Borough Council Environmental Policy Statement 2017

Contents

Contents ......................................................................................................................................................3
Purpose .......................................................................................................................................................4
Background .................................................................................................................................................4
Scope ...........................................................................................................................................................5
Roles and Responsibilities ..........................................................................................................................6
Policy Details...............................................................................................................................................6
Monitoring of Policy Adherence.................................................................................................................9
References ..................................................................................................................................................9

Page 171



E$ugv5kz50.doc                                                                        Page 4 of 9

1.  PURPOSE

This policy statement sets forth Copeland Borough Councils’ commitment to ensure that the 
environmental impacts of its decisions and actions are positive, sustainable and resilient both now and 
in the future.

Copeland Borough Council (the Council) recognises that its own activities have an impact on the 
environment, that it has a legal and ethical duty to act as an environmentally responsible organisation 
that is adaptive to climate change. 

In its capacity as a local authority, a service provider, service commissioner, employer, consumer, 
community advocate and community leader, the Council acknowledges that it has a multi-faceted and 
influential role in the protection and enhancement of the environment in Copeland.  

The Council will use its influence to encourage its employees, elected members, partners, contractors, 
suppliers and residents to minimise any negative environmental impacts that may arise because of their 
decisions or actions. 

2.  BACKGROUND

Copeland is home to one of the most beautiful and highly valued natural environments in the UK. 
Situated on the west coast of Cumbria, Copeland it is a largely rural borough with a population of 
69,500.  It extends over 284 square miles and has 56 miles of coastline, two thirds of which lie within 
the Lake District National Park Boundary. 
 
The borough accommodates several distinctive landscapes from shingle beaches, sand dunes, high cliffs 
and tidal estuaries along the coastal fringe to the high mountains and deep lakes of the Western Lake 
District. 

Recognised across Copeland there are 60 locally designated biodiversity sites, 15 nationally designated 
SSSIs and 6 European designated sites.

The nuclear sector and its supply chain are the dominant employer in the borough, providing 60% of all 
employment.  Through anticipated growth of the nuclear industry over the next decade, it is expected 
that there will be significant increase in employment, migrant workforce and associated housing 
developments, amenities and infrastructure across the borough.

2.1 The Councils Role

The Climate Change Act 2008 set a legally binding target for the UK to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions by at least 80% from 1990 level by 2050.

In line with the Climate Change Act (2008) and in partnership with Cumbria Strategic 
Partnership’s Climate Change Commitment, the Council made a commitment in 2009 to 
minimises its own carbon footprint by reducing its carbon emissions by 5% each year over a 
five-year period, resulting in a total reduction of 25% between 2009 and 2014.

Copeland Borough Council discharges many statutory and discretionary functions that provide 
opportunity for environmentally responsible conduct, these include but are not limited to, 

Page 172



E$ugv5kz50.doc                                                                        Page 5 of 9

Licensing; Planning; Building Control, Asset Management, Environmental Health; Waste 
Services; Strategic Housing; Parks; Enforcement; Leisure Management and Customer Services.  

Commercialisation Agenda.  The Councils strategic vision for 2016-2020 focuses on exploring 
and capitalising on the commercial opportunities that are open to the authority.

Like many other local authorities, this underpins our Councils response to reduced funding from 
Central Government.  The Council believes that even when adjusting to reduced funding, the 
move to a low carbon economy is the right thing to do.  

The Council is committed to taking procurement and commissioning decisions in a responsible 
manner; and through its procurement activity make a difference to the people, businesses and 
communities of Copeland.
Sustainability, socioeconomic and environmental benefits are considered during the tender 
process. 1

Growth Agenda.  The agenda for growth across Copeland is a strategy which aligns Copeland’s 
ambitions with economic growth and opportunities across the borough.

Copelands environmental priority which is set out in our Growth Strategy 2016-2020 is to 
build Copeland’s resilience to the effects of climate change through effective coastal and flood 
management.   We also seek to maximise the opportunities that the natural environment
offers to encourage a healthy and vibrant lifestyle for residents and visitors.  

The Councils strategic approach to achieving these priorities will focus on our influence and 
support for sustainable development which recognises the need to protect and enhance the 
character and distinctiveness of the natural environment and a move towards a low carbon 
economy across the borough which will encourage the long-term protection of our natural 
assets.2

3.  SCOPE

The policy position and commitments set out in this statement are applicable to all relevant services 
and functions carried out by or delivered on behalf of Copeland Borough Council.

The Environmental Policy Statements applies to all Copeland Borough Council employees, elected 
members, partners, volunteers, and anyone delivering services on behalf of or representing the Council.

1 CBC Procurement Strategy 2016-2020
2 CBC Growth Strategy 2016-2020

Page 173



E$ugv5kz50.doc                                                                        Page 6 of 9

4.  ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) are responsible for implementation and embedding of The 
Environmental Policy Statement and any related actions.

 Service mangers are responsible for planning and delivering; and evaluating and modifying their 
services to reflect the commitment made through the Environmental Policy Statement, namely to be an 
environmentally responsible organisation and to minimise our carbon footprint.

All employees and elected members have a role and responsibility to consider the environmental 
impacts of their own actions whilst carrying out Council business.   Employees and elected members 
have a responsibility to identify any areas where environmental impacts of our business could be could 
be reduced or mitigated.  Positive suggestions should be forwarded to line managers or democratic 
services as appropriate.

5.  POLICY DETAILS 

The Council is committed operating as an environmentally responsible organisation by minimising and 
managing the environmental impacts of its activities.  This will be achieved through the following 
means;

Our Decisions

 Where practicable and within budgetary limitations, the Council will always seek to identify and 
consider the environmental impacts of its day to day activities and decision making.

 Through planning, impact assessment and evaluation, the Council will seek to mitigate and reduce 
the environmental impacts of its activities and functions.

 The Council will raise awareness of the value of individual and collective actions through;
 Service planning and evaluation.
 Legislative role and guidance.
 Decision making processes.
 Risk Management Framework.
 Induction process.
 Training.

Our Carbon Reduction Target

 We will respond to climate change by reducing our carbon footprint by 5% over the next 4 years 
(2017-2020) a targeted annual decrease of 1.67%.  This is in line with national statutory carbon 
budgets set out in the Climate Change Act 2008. We will actively seek to improve and adapt 
our services and activities to achieve this target.  

 As a partner organisation, we will support the (LDNP) Low Carbon Lake District Initiative which has a 
target of 1% reduction each year.

Page 174



E$ugv5kz50.doc                                                                        Page 7 of 9

Our Landscape and Biodiversity

 We will support our partners to conserve and enhance the quality and biodiversity of our land 
holding and heritage.  We will build this consideration into our own decisions and plans.

 We will work with strategic partners such as Cumbria Local Nature Partnership to realise our shared 
vision of a “Cumbria where the environment’s role within the landscape is understood and it is 
intrinsically valued by all”.3

 Through our statutory and discretionary role, we will protect public and environmental health, 
reduce the impact of environmental nuisance on the Borough and its residents and visitors 
and provide a range of waste related services directly to the Councils residents, visitors and 
businesses.

Our Estate

We will comply with relevant environmental legislation and regulations and implement procedures to 
prevent pollution by the Council’s activities.

Our Procurement

We will minimise the environmental impact of the Council’s procurement of goods and services, 
working with our partners, suppliers and contractors to help achieve this. 

Our Employees and Members

 We will make effective use of natural resources and endeavour to re-use or recycle where 
practicable, disposing of the remainder responsibly.  We will encourage employees and elected 
members to manage resources efficiently by reducing, reusing and recycling where ever possible.

 We will reduce our members and employees need to travel using tele and video conferencing and 
other sustainable solutions.

 We will encourage greater car sharing and other sustainable solutions, to achieve reductions in 
total business mileage travelled by employees and elected members.

 We will use new environmental technology and methodologies to assist in the minimisation of 
environmental impacts. 

 We will use new environmental technology and methodologies to ensure we develop sustainable, 
resilient and commercially competitive services. 

 We will raise awareness and motivate Staff and Members to conduct their activities in an 
environmentally responsible manner.  Making sure that environmental responsibilities are defined, 
communicated and understood at all levels across the Council.

3 Cumbria Local Nature Partnership Strategy 2015-2020

Page 175



E$ugv5kz50.doc                                                                        Page 8 of 9

 We will provide new employees and new members with guidance through the induction process.

 We will designate an Elected Member Environmental Champion

 We will share good practice by asking each Service Manager for an example of good practice or 
innovative idea used by their team/service during in the previous year.  Good practice will be 
reported to the Executive in an annual report.

 Good Practice and innovative ideas will be shared with all employees and member through our 
monthly newsletters.

Our Influence as a Community Leader.

 We will encourage our partners, developers and residents of Copeland to reduce their 
environmental impact.  

 The Council will assist, where appropriate, other groups working to promote environmental 
sustainability.

Our Environmental Targets for 2017/18

1. We will reduce our carbon footprint by 5% over the next 4 years (2017-2020), this 
represents a targeted annual decrease of 1.67%.  
This will be achieved by;

 Updating our baseline assessment of current carbon budget.
 Identify and set measures for reducing our carbon budget.
 Establish a quarterly monitoring and annual reporting cycle for our carbon budget.

2. We will carry out updated Environmental Impact Assessments on our Parks Facilities and 
The Beacon, and contribute actively to Local Impact Report for Moorside and other key 
planned industrial developments.

3. We will baseline our current activities as part of our carbon reduction target and set goals 
for our own staff and members to reduce, re-use and recycle resources.
We will report annually to the Executive on the associated environmental and financial 
saving of the actions our staff and employees.

4. We will share good practice by asking each Service Manager for an example of good 
practice or innovative idea used by their team during in the previous year.  
Good practice will be reported to the Executive in an annual report

Page 176



E$ugv5kz50.doc                                                                        Page 9 of 9

6.  POLICY MONITORING AND ADHERENCE

This statement will be used to set priority objectives, review current activities, highlight good practice 
and identify areas for improvement.

Employees and members will be informed regularly of any relevant changes to legislation and/or duty.  
This will be done through e-newsletters, team briefings, appraisals and internal communications.

Progress against targets will be monitored quarterly by CLT and good practice and associated 
environmental and financial saving will be reported to Executive annually.

This policy statement will be reviewed every 3 years.

7.  REFERENCES

This policy statement should be read in conjunction with in the following strategies and plans; 

CBC Local Plan 2013-2028
CBC Corporate Strategy 2016-2020
CBC Growth Strategy 2016-2020
Copeland Strategic Partnership Plan 2011-2021
CBC Commercialisation Strategy 2016-2020
CBC Procurement Strategy 2016-2020
CBC Housing Strategy 
HM Government -  The Carbon Plan – Delivering a Low Carbon future 2011
Lake District National Park Partnership Plan 2015-2020- Low Carbon Lake District
Cumbria Local Nature Partnership Strategy 2015-2020

Page 177

http://www.copeland.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/copeland_local_plan_2013_2028.pdf
http://www.copeland.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/copeland_2020_corporate_strategy.pdf
http://www.copeland.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/online_copeland_growth_strategy.pdf
http://www.copeland.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/copeland_partnership_plan_0.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/47613/3702-the-carbon-plan-delivering-our-low-carbon-future.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/47613/3702-the-carbon-plan-delivering-our-low-carbon-future.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/47613/3702-the-carbon-plan-delivering-our-low-carbon-future.pdf
http://www.lakedistrict.gov.uk/caringfor/lake-district-national-park-partnership/carbonbudget


This page is intentionally left blank



FULL 210317 
 
Dispensation for Non-Attendance at Meetings 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Councillor David Moore 
LEAD OFFICER: Fiona Rooney 
REPORT AUTHOR: Denise James 
 

SUMMARY:  
 
To consider agreeing to grant a dispensation for non-attendance at meetings for 
Councillor Raymond Cole and also to extend dispensations previously granted to 
Councillors Peter Stephenson and Fred Gleaves.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: That (i) for the purpose of section 85 (i) of the local 
Government Act 1972, the reason as set out in the report for Councillor Ray Cole’s 
absence from meetings be approved; 
 
ii) for the purpose of section 85 (i) of the local Government Act 1972, the reason as set 
out in the report for Councillors Peter Stephenson and Fred Gleaves’s continued 
absence from meetings be approved; and 
 
(ii) these such approvals lasts until the 31 December 2017. 
                                                                               

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Section 85 (1) of the Local Government Act states that: 

“if a Member of a local authority fails throughout a period of six consecutive 
months of his last attendance to attend any meeting of the authority, he shall, 
unless the failure was due to some reason approved by the authority before the 
expiry date of that period, cease to be a member of the Authority” 

 
1.2 Members will be aware that Councillor Ray Cole is currently dealing with a 
 major illness.  As a consequence he has not been able to attend Council 
 meetings.  His last attendance was at Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 4 
 October 2017. 
 
1.3 Therefore, unless the Council agrees at this meeting to approve his absence, he 
 will cease to be a Councillor on the 4 April 2017. 
 
1.4 Councillors Peter Stephenson and Fred Gleaves who are also currently dealing 

with major illness were granted dispensations at the meetings of Council on the 

Page 179

Agenda Item 13



27 September and 25 October 2016 respectively.  These dispensations were set 
to end at the end of the municipal year (9 May 2017). 

 
1.5 As this is the last meeting of Council before the Annual Meeting on the 9 May 

2017 it was felt appropriate to request an extension to bring all three in line with 
each other.  

 
2. PROPOSALS 
 
2.1 Councillors Cole; Gleaves and Stephenson have all kept Members up to date 
 through their group Leaders.  It is therefore proposed that  the Council accepts 
 the reasons for his non-attendance and passes the necessary resolution to grant 
 them dispensation to continue as a Councillors until the 31 December 2017.  
 After this period his position can be reassessed. Bringing all three in line will 
 make it easier to ensure that they are all reviewed at the right time. 
 
 
5.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
 
5.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: No further issues arise. 
 
5.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: Councillor Stephenson will continue to 
 be eligible for the payment of basic allowance in accordance with the Member 
 allowance scheme, for which there is budget provision. 
 
 
 
List of Appendices - None 
 
List of Background Documents: None 
 
 
 

Page 180



 

MEMBER SCHEME OF ALLOWANCES 2017/18  

 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Councillor David Moore 

LEAD OFFICER   

 

REPORT AUTHOR 

Fiona Rooney Director of Commercial and Corporate Resources 
(and Section 151 Officer) 

Denise James 
 

Why has this report come to the Council? 

 

The Council’s Independent Remuneration Panel has reviewed the scheme of allowances and the 
salary of the Mayor in accordance with the recommendation of Council on 25 February 2016.  

 

Recommendation:   
 
That a) the allowances set out in Appendix A to this report be approved as the basis for the 
Council’s scheme of allowances for 2017/18; and  
 
b) with regards to the Allowances for Chairs this be backdated to the 1st April 2016. 
 

 

1 Introduction 

 

1.1  Council by law is required to consider the recommendations of an Independent 
Remuneration Panel (IRP) in making decisions on its scheme of allowances.  

 

1.2 The IRP comprises three members, listed below, who were all appointed following a 
recruitment exercise in October 2014: 

  Mr Richard Askew 

  Mr Phillip Robinson 

  Rev. Keith Teasdale 

 

1.3 In coming to its recommendation the Panel looked at the current scheme of member 
allowances. They also considered the current and anticipated future financial position of the 
Council. The schemes of allowances of other comparable authorities had been studied in a 
benchmarking exercise. 

 

2. Allowances for the Chair of Committees 

 

2.1  The Council at its meeting on the 25th February 2016 determined to ask the Panel to consider 
the establishment of allowances for the Chairs of Committees (C75 (9) refers).   
 

Page 181

Agenda Item 14



2.2 The Panel have now considered this and have made recommendations to set an allowance 
for the Chairs of Audit and Governance, Planning, Overview and Scrutiny, Licensing and Taxi 
and General Licensing Committees details of which are set out in Appendix A.   

 

2.3 If these allowances are approved and as the IRP Panel were asked to consider this prior to 
the start of the 2016/17 financial year Members are now asked to consider if this allowance 
should commence at the start of the 2016/17 financial year. It is recommended that they 
are. 

 
2 Members Allowances  
 
2.1 Apart from the increase to the existing allowance to the Chair of Audit and Governance 
 Committee and the additions of allowances to the Chairs of Planning, Overview and Scrutiny, 
 Licensing and Taxi and General Licensing no further increases or amendments have been 
 recommended. 
 
3.1  The Panel recommends that the allowance of £18 per month for broadband is withdrawn.  
 The panel felt that broadband was a utility service which most homeowners would have 

irrespective of being a Councillor.  
 However, as the authority no longer publishes paper copies of its agendas to Councillors they 

are therefore required to have a broadband connection in order to receive their agendas and 
other correspondence electronically. This should therefore remain as an allowance. 
 

4  Budgetary Context 
 
4.1 In 2016/17 the Chief Finance Officer (S151 Officer) advised that additional contingency 

 provision of £45,000 had been made in the event of all IRP recommendations being 
implemented as this was the case provision is being made on a permanent basis. 

 
 Should all recommendations be approved along with the backdating of the allowances set 

for Chairs this would remain within the budget. 
 
5 Conclusions 
 
5.1 The Independent Remuneration Panel has undertaken a review of the Member Allowance 

Scheme, as agreed by council in 2016, and now makes its recommendations to Council. The 
Panel is keen to continue with an annual “light touch” review of the Member Allowance 
Scheme.  

 
Consultees: Head of Paid Service; Section 151 Officer; Lead Executive Member 
 
Monitoring Officer comments: The proposals comply wit the Local Authorities (Members allowance) 

(England) Regulation 2003 
S151 Officer comments: Included in the report 
EIA comments: 
 
Appendix A – Recommendations for approval. 
Appendix B – IRP Report. 

Page 182



Recommendations for Consideration 

 

Allowance Current  Proposed 

    

    

Basic Allowance £3,093.87 pa  £3,093.87 pa 

Mayors Salary £50,000 pa  £50,000 pa 

Deputy Mayor  £15,000 pa  £15,000 pa 

Leader Labour £4,000 pa  £4,000 pa 

Leader Conservative £4,000 pa  £4,000 pa 

Executive Member £6358.68 pa  £6358.68 pa 

Chairman £2,000 pa  £2,000 pa 

Deputy Chairman £500 pa  £500 pa 

Chair Audit £400 pa  £2,000 pa 

Chair OSC No allowance  £2,000 pa 

Chair Planning No allowance  £2,000 pa 

Chair Licensing No allowance  £1,000 pa 

Chair Taxi &General No allowance  £1,000 pa 

    

Mileage HMRC Guidelines with 
the exception of 
passengers (no claim 
for passengers). 

 HMRC Guidelines with 
the exception of 
passengers (no claim 
for passengers). 

Breakfast Allowance – 
taken before 11.00am 

£5.00  £5.00 

Lunch Allowance 
Taken between 
1200hrs – 1400hrs 

£7.00  £7.00 

Tea Allowance  
Taken between 
1500hrs and 1800hrs 

£2.00  £2.00 

Evening Meal 
Allowance Taken after 
1900hrs 

£10.00  £10.00 

Absent Overnight 
Allowance – Usual 
place of residence 

Upper Limit of £100  
London upper limit of 

£115 

 Upper Limit of £100  
London upper limit of 

£115 

Conference Allowance Nil  Nil 

Broadband Allowance £18 pm  £18 pm 

Children or 
Dependants 
Allowance  

Provide 100% of cost, 
weekly cap of 8 hours 

care per week  

 Provide 100% of cost, 
weekly cap of 8 hours 

care per week 

Pension Arrangements  No Scheme  No Scheme 

Co-optees Allowance  No co-optees to 
consider 

 No co-optees to 
consider 

    

 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 

IRP/2017/001 

Appendix B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 

 

REPORT FOR FINANCIAL YEAR 2017/18 

 

 

 

Page 185



COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 

 

IRP/2017/001 

Page 2 of 6 

 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

The Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP), in determining its recommendations, has recognised the 

budgetary constraints current being applied to the council and notes that there has been some change within 

the council staff organisation. The IRP has attempted to be sensitive to these changes, whilst at the same time 

being determined to apply fairness to the councillor allowances scheme. In doing this, it has sought details of 

neighbouring council’s schemes and utilised these to provide a set of balanced recommendations. 

 

The recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel are: 

 

• The IRP will return annually to review allowances as the maturity of the local authority organisation 

increases 

• Basic Allowance – no change (£3,093.87). 

• Elected Mayor Salary – no change (£50,000.00). 

• Special Responsibility Allowance(s) 

o Deputy Mayor allowance – no change (£15,000.00). 

o Executive membership responsible for portfolios – no change (£6,358.68 each). 

o Political group leaders – no change (£7,000.00 on a sliding scale). 

• Chairman Roles 

o Chair of Audit & Governance committee - £2,000.00 (increase from £400.00) 

o Chair of Planning - £2,000.00 (previously not remunerated) 

o Chair of Overview and Scrutiny - £2,000.00 (previously not remunerated) 

o Chair of Licensing & Taxi/general licensing to share allowance of £2,000.00 (previously not 

remunerated) 

o Chair of Council – no change (£2,000.00). 

o Deputy Chair of Council – no change (£500.00). 

• Travel and Subsistence  

o Allowances in accordance with HMRC guidelines for mileage rates, with the exception of 

passengers (no claim for passengers). 

o Breakfast allowance – no change. 

o Lunch allowance – no change. 

o Tea allowance – no change. 

o Evening meal allowance – no change. 

o Absent overnight from their usual place of residence - no change. 

o Broadband allowance to be removed (change from £18/month per councillor). 

• Children and Dependants Allowance – no change. 

• Pension Arrangements – no change. 

• Co-optees Allowance – no change. 

• Allowances (verbatim to the recommendations) may be backdated, although it is not expected this 

will need to be the case. 

  

Page 186



COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 

 

IRP/2017/001 

Page 3 of 6 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. The Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) met on Friday 13th January 2017, and Wednesday 18th 

January 2017. 

 

2. The appointment of an IRP is a requirement of the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) 

(England) Regulations 2003. The IRP consists of 3 independent individuals; Mr Richard Askew, Mr Phil 

Robinson and Mr Keith Teasdale. 

 

3. The role of the IRP is to make recommendations in relation to 

 

3.1.1. The amount of basic allowance that should be paid to elected members; 

3.1.2. A salary for the directly elected Mayor of Copeland and allowance for their Deputy; 

3.1.3. The duties or responsibilities which should lead to the payment of a special responsibility 

allowance and the amount of such allowance(s) 

3.1.4. The duties for which a travelling and subsistence allowance can be paid and as to the amount 

of such allowance(s); 

3.1.5. Co-optees’ allowance; 

3.1.6. Whether the Councils allowances scheme should include an allowance in respect of the 

expenses for arranging for the care of children and dependants and, if it does make such a 

recommendation, the amount of any such allowance and the means by which it is 

determined; 

3.1.7. Whether any allowance should be backdated to the beginning of the financial year in the 

event of the scheme being amended; 

3.1.8. Whether annual adjustments of allowance levels may be made by reference to an index and, 

if so, for how long such a measure should run; 

3.1.9. Which members of the Council are entitled to pensions, in accordance with a scheme made 

under Section 7 of the Superannuation Act 1972; 

3.1.10. Whether basic allowance and special responsibility allowance should be treated as amounts 

in respect of which pensions are payable. 

 

SCOPE OF REVIEW 

 

4. In the previous IRP report for 2016/17, the panel made it clear that they would return annually to 

review allowances, as the organisational structure developed and portfolios became clearer. There is no 

intention by this panel to make reference to an index. 

 

5. The recommendations made by the IRP for 2016/17 were adopted by CBC, and the panel welcomes 

the acceptance of their recommendations.  

 

BASIC ALLOWANCE 

 

6. Basic allowance is provided as recognition of the time and incidental costs expended by councillors 

in the undertaking of their council duties. It is a statutory flat rate payment applicable to all councillors and 

as such cannot be awarded in part, nor can it vary between councillors, irrespective of the contributions 

made. It should also be noted that the allowance recognises that some part of the time a councillor spends in 

fulfilling their duties is voluntary. 

 

7. The panel noted that the basic allowance for 2016/17 is £3,093.87. This was increased by 1% during 

the last review. At the time of writing this report, there are no planned budgetary increases for the council 

staff, and therefore the panel determined that it would be imprudent to increase councillor basic allowance 

during the forthcoming financial year. 

 

Page 187



COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 

 

IRP/2017/001 

Page 4 of 6 

8. The panel uses comparative figures from other local councils, both within Cumbria and without, in 

order to gauge the appropriateness of the basic allowance set. The panel was satisfied that the current basic 

allowance at CBC remains comparable with other councils. 

 

9. The IRP recommends that no change is applied to the basic allowance, resulting in the annual 

allowance remaining at £3,093.87. 

 

SALARY FOR THE ELECTED MAYOR OF COPELAND (AND ALLOWANCE FOR DEPUTY) 

 

10. The panel notes that the recommendations put forth by the 2016/17 IRP report were accepted, and is 

pleased that the council accepted these recommendations. The panel believes that both the elected mayor 

salary, and the deputy elected mayor allowance recognise the status and responsibilities associated with those 

roles. 

 

11. The IRP recommends that the salary for the elected mayor remains at £50,000.00 per annum. 

 

12. The IRP recommends that the allowance for the deputy elected mayor remains at £15,000.00 per 

annum.  
 

13. Recommendation remains that both the Mayor and Deputy Mayor will be limited to this salary or 

special responsibility allowance only, regardless of the division of portfolio accountabilities, and as such is 

not entitled to any part of the executive member’s allowance. 

 

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCE(S) 

 

14. The IRP recommends that the SRA remain at £6,358.68 per executive member. This allowance 

is independent of the Elected Mayor salary, and it is not expected that the Mayor receives this allowance. 

Equally the Deputy Mayor is not expected to receive this allowance whilst a member of the executive. 

 

15. The IRP recommends that the political group leaders allowance remains at £7,000 on a sliding 

scale across all parties. The sliding scale values are to remain the same, as described below. 

 

15.1. 5 – 9 members  £2,000.00 

 

15.2. 10-14 members  £3,000.00 

 

15.3. 15 or more members £4,000.00 

 

16. As was stated in last year’s panel report, the allowances for Chairmanship roles within CBC 

presented a significant departure from other local authorities within Cumbria, and the IRP was unable to find 

a convincing argument to support this position. The IRP recommended in 2015/16 that a better 

understanding of the roles be gained in order to make a reasoned recommendation. The panel felt that some 

level of allowance for the respective chairmanship roles would be appropriate, in line with other councils in 

the county, and they would be prepared to review the roles and make recommendations independent of this 

report if required during 2016/17. This review has subsequently taken place. 

 

17. The panel has used comparative figures from other local councils, both within Cumbria and without, 

in order to determine a suitable allowance for chairmanship roles. The panel feels that the allowances being 

recommended take into account comparisons with other councils, but are reflective of the budgetary 

constraints the council faces moving forward. 

 

18. The IRP recommends that the Audit & Governance Committee Chair receives an allowance of 

£2,000 per annum. This represents an increase from £400.00 per annum previously. 

 

19. The IRP recommends that the Chair of Planning receives an allowance of £2,000 per annum. 
 

Page 188



COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 

 

IRP/2017/001 

Page 5 of 6 

20. The IRP recommends that the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny receives an allowance of £2,000 

per annum. 
 

21. The IRP recommends that the Chairs of Licensing and Taxi/general licensing receive a 

collective allowance of £2,000 per annum. This allowance to be shared equally between both chairs. 
 

22. The IRP recommends that the chair of the council and deputy chair of the council allowances 

of £2,000 and £500 respectively remain unchanged. 

 

TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCES 

 

23. The IRP recommends that the mileage allowances defined by the HMRC are adopted by the 

local authority and should be adjusted if the HMRC rates change within the financial year 2017/18. 

The panel reiterates that the entitlements also apply to individuals who have a disability that prevents 

them from driving and as such are necessarily a passenger in a vehicle, and would otherwise be 

discriminated against in terms of ability to claim driving allowances. 
 

24. The IRP continues to recommend that no allowance is made for passengers. 

 

25. The IRP recommends that no changes are made to subsistence allowances. Claims for 

subsistence must always be supported by a receipt for the transaction, and the local authority should support 

payment up to the following limits: 

 

25.1. A breakfast allowance of £5.00 taken before 1100hrs (where a member is absent from home 

for more than 4 hours before 1100hrs). 

 

25.2. A lunch allowance of £7.00 taken between 1200hrs and 1400hrs (where a member is absent 

from home for more than 4 hours including the period between 1200hrs and 1400hrs). 

 

25.3. A tea allowance of £2.00 taken between 1500hrs and 1800hrs (where a member is absent 

from home for more than 4 hours including the period between 1500hrs and 1800hrs). 

 

25.4. An evening meal allowance of £ 10.00 taken after 1900hrs (where a member is absent from 

home for more than 4 hours ending after 1900hrs). 

 

26.  The IRP also continues to recommend that where a member is absent overnight from their usual 

place of residence, an upper limit of £100.00 be payable and when a member is absent overnight in 

London or attending an annual conference of a Local Government Association (LGA) the upper limit 

be increased to £115.00 

 

27. In determining the conference allowance, the IRP saw no reason to provide further reimbursement 

over and above meal allowance and overnight subsistence allowances. Therefore the IRP continues to 

recommend that no conference allowance is payable. 

 

CHILDREN AND DEPENDANTS ALLOWANCES 

 

28. The IRP continues to recommend that claims for child care and dependant care are provided at 

100% of cost, and that these costs must be supported by qualifying receipts. The IRP continues to 

recommend that a weekly cap of 8 hours care per week be reimbursable. 

 

29. The IRP continues to believe that, regardless of the actual use of this allowance, the child and 

dependant allowance supports equality and fairness. 

 

 

 

 

Page 189



COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 

 

IRP/2017/001 

Page 6 of 6 

PENSION ARRANGEMENTS 

 

30. The current pension scheme administered by the local authority is for employees only1 and to 

establish a scheme for members would be likely to incur significant costs to the local authority to set up and 

administer.  

 

31. The IRP continues to recommend that no member pension scheme is established. 

 

BROADBAND ALLOWANCE 

 

32. The IRP recommends that the allowance for broadband services is removed. The panel 

recognises that in the majority of cases, broadband is now a utility service that most homeowners would 

expect to use irrespective of being a councillor. Whilst this opinion may not be entirely indisputable, the 

panel feels it is sufficiently robust to make the recommendation. The panel also argues that the basic 

allowance can be used to provide broadband services if required. 

 

BACKDATING OF ALLOWANCES 

 

33. The recommendations herein are determined to take effect for the financial year 2017/18 and are not 

intended to be retrospective any other year. They are also intended only to apply to 2017/18, as it is the 

intention of the IRP to review performance against the recommendations prior to making recommendations 

for 2018/19 and onward. 

 

34. Should the recommendations not be in force at the start of financial year 2017/18 for whatever 

reason, it is reasonable to apply them retrospectively to the start of the financial year, where the 

recommendations were approved by council. 

 

CO-OPTEES ALLOWANCE  

 

35. There are currently no co-optees within Copeland Borough Council and therefore the IRP continues 

to recommend that no provision is made for a co-optees allowance. 

 

RENUNCIATION OF ALLOWANCES  

 

36. A councillor may by notice in writing given to the proper officer of the authority, elect to forego any 

part of his or her entitlement to an allowance under this scheme. 

 

PART YEAR SERVICE 

 

37. Where the term of office of a member begins or ends otherwise than at the beginning or end of a 

financial year, their entitlement shall be to payment of such part of the basic allowance, special responsibility 

allowance and co-optees allowance as bears to the whole the same proportion as the number of days during 

which their term of office as member subsists to the number of days in that year. 

 

MEMBERSHIP OF OTHER AUTHORITIES 

 

38. Where a member of an authority is a member of another authority also, the member shall not receive 

allowances form more than one authority in respect of the same duties. 

 

CLAIMS AND PAYMENTS 

 

39. Claims for dependants’ carers allowance, travel and subsistence allowances and co-optees 

allowances shall be made by the claimant within 90 days of their entitlement to the claim. 

 

                                                 
1 No other Cumbrian local authorities have member pension schemes. 

Page 190



FULL 
ITEM  

PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2017/18

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Councillor David Moore.  Portfolio holder for Nuclear and Corporate 
Services

LEAD OFFICER: Mrs Pat Graham, Head of Paid Services

REPORT AUTHOR: Jo McLeod, Interim HR Manager

Summary: The Council is required by Section 38(1) of the Localism Act 2011 to 
publish a Pay Policy Statement articulating its policies towards a range 
of issues relating to the pay of the workforce, particularly its senior staff 
(“Chief Officers”) and it’s lowest paid employees.  This report updates 
the Policy in line with structural changes and guidance from 
Department for Communities and Local Government.

Recommendation: Council is recommended to approve the Council’s Pay Policy Statement 
for 2017/18.

1. INTRODUCTION

Chapter 8 of the Localism Act 2011 sets out the minimum statutory requirements for Councils 
with regard to openness and accountability in local pay. The Council is required by Section 38(1) 
of the Act to publish a Pay Policy Statement. In preparing its Statement, the Council must have 
regard to the guidance which has been issued under Section 40 of the Act and the Department 
for Communities and Local Government Supplementary Guidance February 2014. 

The North West Employers Organisation provided helpful guidance for its member authorities 
in order to facilitate a degree of consistency in the style, format and content of statements 
published by councils in the North West in 2012.  This guidance still stands unchanged.

Changes have been made to reflect the new structure and the appointment of an elected 
Mayor.

There has been an addition to the requirements in that Union activity has to be recorded.

There is a requirement to review the Pay Policy Statement at least annually for approval by Full 
Council and published by 31 March 2017. 

2. CONCLUSIONS

Full Council is recommended to approve the Pay Policy Statement for 2017/18, so that the 
Statement can be published by 31 March.

Page 191

Agenda Item 15



5.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

5.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: The publication of a Pay Policy Statement is a 
requirement of the Localism Act 2011.

5.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: The Council’s approach to paying its workforce has 
obvious financial significance. The annual production and review of its pay policy will enable it 
to ensure openness and transparency in relation to its paybill costs, and on-going review of 
this important element of its cost base. 

5.3 Policy Framework Comment: As referred to within the report, the Pay Policy Statement is a 
statutory policy requirement which aims to present openness and accountability in local pay. 
The Pay Policy Statement forms a part of the Corporate Policy Framework

5.4 Other consultee comments, if any: Not applicable

Appendix A Pay Policy Statement

Background Papers:  
Localism Act 2011
DCLG Supplementary Guidance Feb 13

Page 192



Pay Policy Statement 2017/18
Introduction and Purpose

1.  Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the “power to
appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as authority thinks fit”. This
Pay Policy Statement (the ‘statement’) sets out the Council’s approach to pay policy in
accordance with the requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011.

2. The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the Council’s
approach to setting the pay of its employees by identifying:

• the methods by which the salaries of all employees are determined;

• the detail and level of remuneration of its most senior staff i.e. ‘chief officers’, as
defined by the relevant legislation;

• the Committee(s)/Panel responsible for ensuring the provisions set out in this
statement are applied consistently throughout the Council and recommending
any amendments to the full Council.

3. Once approved by the full Council, this policy statement will come into immediate
effect and will be subject to review on a minimum of an annual basis, the policy for the
next financial year being approved by 31st March each year.

4. The introduction of the Code of Practice for Local Authority on Data Transparency 2013 
places additional duties on Local authorities in terms of publication of pay details which 
are included in the document.  The Code also requires the publication of Trade Union 
Facility Time, which is contained within.

Other legislation relevant to pay and remuneration

5. In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council will
comply with all relevant employment legislation. This includes legislation such as the
Equality Act 2010, Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment)
Regulations 2000 and where relevant, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of
Earnings) Regulations. The Council ensures there is no pay discrimination within its

Page 193



pay structures and that all pay differentials can be objectively justified. This includes the 
use of job evaluation processes, which directly establish the relative pay levels of posts 
according to the requirements, demands and responsibilities of the role.

Pay Structure

6. In setting the pay of the majority of its employees who are subject to the National 
Agreement on Pay & Conditions of Service of the National Joint Council for Local 
Government Services (NJC), the Council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine (a 
defined list of salary points) as the basis for its local pay structure, link to new pay 
structure, together with the use of locally determined rates where these do not apply.

7. The Council adopts the national pay bargaining arrangements in respect of the
Establishment and revision of the national pay spine, for example through any agreed 
annual pay increases negotiated with joint trades unions.

8. All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally Negotiated 
rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with Collective 
bargaining machinery. Allowances for such things as relocation, business travel and 
subsistence play a part in supporting the Council’s ability to recruit and retain quality 
staff. The Car Allowance Scheme was reviewed and reduced in cost in 2011/12. 

9. In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for any posts
Which fall outside its scope, the Council takes account of the need to ensure value for
money in respect of the use of public funds, balanced against the need to recruit and 
retain employees who are able to meet the requirements of providing high quality
services to the community, delivered effectively and efficiently and at times at which
those services are required.

10. Where grades with pay scales are used, new appointments will normally be made at the 
minimum of the relevant scale for the grade, although this can be varied where 
necessary to reflect the circumstances of the selected candidate. 

11. From time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay levels in the
labour market in order to attract and retain employees with particular experience, skills 
and capacity. Where necessary, the Council will ensure the requirement for such 
comparison is objectively justified by reference to clear and transparent evidence of 
relevant market comparators, using data sources available from within the local 
government sector and outside, as appropriate.

12. To ensure the Council has sufficient flexibility to cope with a variety of circumstances in 
the recruitment and retention of employees, a Director, in conjunction with the Head of 
Paid Service (Elected Mayor where Director posts are involved) may agree the use of 
additional payments for individual categories of posts, individual posts or individual 

Page 194



employees.  Such payments will take full and proper account of all provisions of relevant 
employment law and Council policies, as approved.

Senior Management Remuneration

13. For the purposes of this statement, senior management means the Managing Director 
and Head of Paid Service, together with those employees (Directors) employed as ‘Chief 
Officers’ whose terms and conditions of employment are governed by the National Joint 
Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authorities (J.N.C.).  As of 1st April 
2017 there will be 3 posts whose salary exceeds £50,000 per annum. The posts currently 
within these definitions are set out below, with details of their salary as at 31st March 
2017.

Managing Director

14. The current salary of the post is a “spot salary” of £92,000 per annum, with no 
incremental progression, exclusive of any payment for returning officer duties.

Directors

15. The current salary of the post designated as Director of Customer & Community Services 
is a “spot salary” of £75,750 per annum, with no incremental progression and the post 
of Director of Commercial and Corporate Resources with Section 151 responsibilities 
attracts a spot salary of £80,000 per annum with no incremental progression.  This role 
is currently vacant.

16. Employees who report directly to a Chief Officer (and are therefore designated as a 
Deputy Chief Officer under section 2(8) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989) 
are not Chief Officers or senior managers for the purposes of this statement.

17. Where the Council is unable to recruit senior managers, or there is a need for interim
support to provide cover for a substantive senior management post, the Council will, 
where necessary, consider engaging individuals under a ‘contract for service’. These will 
be sourced through a relevant procurement process ensuring the Council is able to
demonstrate the maximum value for money benefits from competition in securing the
relevant service. In assessing such it should be noted that in respect of such 
engagements the Council is not required to make either pension or national insurance
contributions for the individuals concerned. 

18. As stipulated in the Code of Practice for Local Authorities on Pay Transparency 2013,                         
organisational structure charts showing the current structure (Appendix 1) is contained 
within this document.

Page 195



Recruitment of Chief Officers

19. The Council’s policy and procedures with regard to recruitment of its Chief Officers is set 
out within the Officer Appointment Procedure Rules in the Constitution. Posts over 
£50,000 will be the subject of a report to Full Council.  When recruiting to all posts the 
Council will take full and proper account of all provisions of relevant employment law 
and its own policies, as approved.

20. The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed Chief
Officer will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies in place at the
time of recruitment.

21. The salaries of the Managing Director and Corporate Directors were set taking into 
account comparative salary data from research provided by the North West Employers 
Organisation. 

Additions to Salary of Chief Officers

22. Subject to satisfactory performance, which is assessed on an annual basis, the
level of remuneration is not variable dependent upon the achievement of defined
targets. 

23. To meet specific operational requirements it may be necessary for an individual to
temporarily take on additional duties to their identified role. The Council’s
arrangements for authorising any additional remuneration (e.g. “Acting-up” and  
honorarium payments) relating to temporary additional duties are set out in the 
relevant policy.  

24. In addition to basic salary, the following posts receive additional payments as set out 
below:

i. Fee payments pursuant to her appointment as Returning Officer at elections. 
The fees paid in respect of Parish, District and County Council elections are paid 
by the District and County Council respectively and are calculated by reference 
to the number of contested and uncontested wards at each election. Fees for 
Parish Council elections are calculated on a similar basis and are recharged to 
each parish council. Fee payments for UK Parliamentary General elections, Police 
and Crime Commissioner elections, European elections, and National 
Referendums are set by central government and are, in effect, not paid by the 
Council, as the fees are reclaimed. The fee for the Returning Officer therefore 
varies at each election.

ii. Separate payments are made to the employees of the Returning Officer who act 
as Deputy Returning Officers and other staff who work as part of the elections 
team, and are commensurate with time spent undertaking election duties.       

Page 196



                                                                                                 
Car and Mileage Allowance

25. Chief Officers are subject to the Council’s Car Allowance Scheme in relation to their use 
of their own private vehicles on Council business. No Chief Officer is currently 
designated as an Essential Car User under the Scheme. Casual users are paid the HMRC 
approved rate of 45p per mile for mileage travelled in their own vehicle on Council 
business.

Pension Contributions

26. Where employees have exercised their statutory right to become members of the Local
Government Pension Scheme, the Council is required to make a contribution to the
scheme representing a percentage of the pensionable remuneration due under the
contract of employment of that employee. The rate of contribution is set by Actuaries
advising the Cumbria Pension Fund and reviewed on a triennial basis in order to
ensure the scheme is appropriately funded. The employer’s contribution rate, with 
effect from 1 April 2017 is 15.9%.

The table below sets out the contribution bands which determine the employees’ 
pension contributions, effective from 1 April 2014. These are agreed in the new 
pensions regulations.

Band Whole-time equivalent pay range Employee contribution rate (%)

1 Up to £13,500 5.5%
2 £13,501 - £21000 5.8%
3 £21,001 - £34,000 6,5%
4 £34,001 - £43,000 6.8%
5 £43,001 - £60,000 8.5%
6 £60,001 - £85,000 9.9%
7 £85.001 - £100,000 10.5%
8 £100,001 - £150,000 11.4%
9 More than £150,001 12.5%

 

Page 197



Payments on Termination

27. The Councils approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination of
employment of Chief Officers, prior to reaching normal retirement age, is set out within
its Change Management Policy, and Pension Discretion Policy in accordance with 
Regulations 5 and 6 of the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) Regulations 2006 and Regulation 12 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contribution) Regulations 
2007.

28. Any severance package over £100,000 will be the subject of a report to Full Council.  
This will clearly set out the components of the package including salary paid in lieu, 
redundancy compensation, pension entitlements, holiday pay and bonuses, fees or 
allowances paid.

Lowest Paid Employees

29. The Council has adopted the Foundation Living Wage.  The UK Living Wage for outside 
of London was set at £8.45 per hour in April 2017.  The figure is set annually by the 
Centre for Research in Social Policy at Loughborough University.  The authority will 
ensure that this is implemented with effect from the following 1 April annually.

As at 1st April 2017, the lowest salary is £16,302 per annum. 

30. The relationship between the rate of pay for the lowest paid employee(s) and Chief 
Officers is determined by the processes used for determining pay and grading structures 
as set out earlier in this policy statement.

31. The lowest salary which in comparison with the salary of the Managing Director is a 
ratio of 1:5.64

32. As part of its overall and on-going monitoring of alignment with external pay markets, 
both within and outside the sector, the Council will use available benchmark
information as appropriate.

33. When comparing the salaries of Chief Officers and other employees, it should be noted 
that Chief Officers have a notional working week of 37 hours but are required by their 
contract of employment to work without additional pay for additional hours according 
to the needs of the Council and the role, including evening and weekend working where 
required. Those employees (the majority) employed under the Agreement on Pay & 
Conditions of Service of the National Joint Council for Local Government Services have a 
contractual working week of 37 hours but do not have the same contractual conditions 
as Chief Officers in respect of additional working hours, and are entitled in appropriate 
circumstances to additional payments for overtime or time off in lieu.

Page 198



Pay Multiple

34. The pay ratio of highest paid salary (including base salary, variable pay, bonuses, 
allowances and the cash value of any benefit in kind), compared to median earning 
figure of all employees as at 31st March 2017 is 4.61. The median salary is £19,939. 

Accountability and Decision Making

35. In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, the Executive is responsible for 
strategic policy decisions in respect of employment matters. Decisions in relation to the 
recruitment, pay, terms and conditions and severance arrangements of employees of 
the Council rest with the Head of Paid Service, except where they relate to Chief Officers 
in which case they rest with the Appointments and Appeals Committee.  

Re-employment / Re-engagement of former Chief Officers

36. The Council will not normally employ, or engage under a contract for services, Chief 
Officers who have previously received a redundancy or severance payment or who are 
in receipt of a pension under the Local Government Pension Scheme.  The government 
passed legislation to prevent highly paid individuals who return to the public sector 
within 12 months of exit from retaining their full exit payment. This measure will take 
effect in April 2016 and will ensure that the taxpayer is not unduly compensating an 
individual for loss of employment only for them to return to the public sector after a 
short period of time.

37. There are no arrangements of this kind in place.

Pay practices in relation to external contractors commissioned to deliver services

38. The Council expects and encourages external contractors commissioned to work on 
behalf of the Council to ensure that there is no pay discrimination in their approach to 
remuneration of their employees and that they comply with all relevant employment 
legislation.

Trade Union Facility Time

39. Copeland Borough Council recognises Unison, Unite and GMB trade unions for 
negotiation and consultation purposes and has a Trade Union Time Off & Facilities 
Policy which outlines guidance for allowing time off to undertake trade union 
activities.

There are 3 staff who are union representatives.  There is currently no union 
representative who devotes at least 50% of their time to union activity.

Page 199



So far during the financial year 2016/17 approximately 37 days per year paid time 
off has been given to trade union representatives.

The average salary at the Council is £20,608. Based on the average salary the 
estimate of spending on unions as a percentage of the total pay bill is 0.18%

The median salary at the Council is £19,939.  Based on the median salary the 
estimate of spending on unions as a percentage of the total pay bill is 0.17%.

Publication

40. The Council will publish this pay policy statement on its website at www.copeland.gov.uk 
as soon as is reasonably practicable after it has been approved by the Council. Any 
subsequent amendments to this pay policy statement made during the financial year to 
which it relates will also be similarly published after they have been approved by the 
Council.  

Appendix 1: Current Structure of posts over £50,000 per annum
 
Status Post Base Salary (£) Other Payments

Head of Paid 
Service

Managing Director
Permanent Post
Pat.graham@copeland.gov.uk

92,000 The Returning 
Officer’s fee for 
local elections is 
£100 per 
contested ward. 
Returning Officer 
fees for non-local 
elections are set by 
legislation prior to 
the election within 
Fees and Charges 
Orders. Deputy 
Returning Officer 
fees (County 
elections) is payable 
by the county 
council and the fees 
are set every 4 
years by the county 
council.

Page 200

http://www.copeland.gov.uk/


Statutory Chief 
Officer which in 
Copeland 
Borough Council 
is  the post of:

Director of Commercial and 
Corporate Resources
(Chief Finance Officer under Sec 
151 if LGA 1972)
Permanent Post
Vacant

80,000

Non Statutory 
Chief Officer 

Director of Community and 
Customer Services
Permanent Post
Julie.betteridge@copeland.gov.uk

75,750

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



Council 21 March 2017

CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2017/18

POLITICAL LEAD: Councillor David Moore.

LEAD OFFICER:

REPORT AUTHOR:

Clinton Boyce, Solicitor.

Clive Willoughby, Democratic Services Officer

Why has this report come to the Council?
The report sets out the Council’s schedule of meetings for the civic year 2017 to 2018. 

 Recommendations:

  That Council:

 1.     Approves the Calendar of Meetings 2017/18; and 

 2.    Notes that venues for all meetings will be confirmed as soon as practically possible.

1 Introduction
1.1 Council each year produces an annual schedule of meetings which sets out the dates of 

its formal meetings up to the date of the next annual meeting. 

2. Calendar of Meetings 2017/18

2.1 The proposed schedule of meetings for May 2017 to May 2018 is attached at Appendix A 
to this report. 

2.2 All Council meetings will begin at 2:00pm, except Full Council which will begin at 6.00pm 
Public notices will be issued to advise residents in plenty of time where these meetings 
are to be held and how they can take part.  

2.3 It is not currently possible to confirm venues for public meetings within the Copeland 
Centre because of the planned office moves and the necessary building works. 
Once the calendar has been approved suitable external venues will be provisionally 
booked.  Members and the public will be advised in good time of the locations of all 
meetings. 
As soon as a confirmed date is given for the relocation back to the Copeland Centre a 
revised schedule will be published.  

Page 203

Agenda Item 16



3. Conclusions

3.1 Council is asked to consider and approve the proposed Calendar of Meetings 2017/18. 

4. Consultees: 

Monitoring Officer comments: Included in report.

S151 Officer comments: No financial issues arise from the report other than the 
possibility of incurring room hire charges for those meetings not on premises owned by 
the Council. The timetable allows for further meetings to approve the budget.

EIA comments: No issues arise in respect of premises owned by the Council as these 
premises are accessible to all. However access difficulties can arise if meetings are held 
off the premises. Where meetings are held off Council premises officers will ensure that 
all premises used are accessible by all people. 

Appendices:

Appendix A – Calendar of meetings 2017-18

Page 204



Meetings Calendar 2017-2018                     

All meeting dates, times and venues are subject to change. Please check the weekly List and emails for any alterations.

MAY 2017               Appendix A

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday
1
Bank Holiday

2 3 4
Cumbria County Council 
Elections

5

8 9
ANNUAL MEETING
2:00pm 
Egremont Market Hall

10
Planning Panel
2:00pm  

11 12

15 16 17 18 19

22 23 24 25 26

29
Bank Holiday

 30
Strategic Nuclear & Energy 
Board
2:00pm   

31

P
age 205



Meetings Calendar 2017-2018                     

All meeting dates, times and venues are subject to change. Please check the weekly List and emails for any alterations.

JUNE 2017

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday

 
1 2

5 6
Executive
2:00pm  

7
Planning Panel
2:00pm  

8 9

12 13
Overview & Scrutiny C’tee
2:00pm   

14
Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects Panel
2:00pm 

15 16

19 20 
Full Council
6:00pm  

21
Audit & Governance C’tee
2:00pm 

22 23
 

26 27
Member Development Panel
2:00pm   

28 29 30

P
age 206



Meetings Calendar 2017-2018                     

All meeting dates, times and venues are subject to change. Please check the weekly List and emails for any alterations.

JULY 2017

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday
3 4 5

Planning Panel
2:00pm  

6 7

10 11
Member Development Panel
2:00pm   

12 13 14

17 18
Executive
2:00pm   

19
Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects 
Panel
2:00pm 

20 21

24 25
Strategic Nuclear & Energy 
Board 
2:00pm   

26 27 28

31

P
age 207



Meetings Calendar 2017-2018                     

All meeting dates, times and venues are subject to change. Please check the weekly List and emails for any alterations.

AUGUST 2017

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday
1 2 

Planning Panel
2:00pm  

3
Audit & Governance C’tee
2:00pm   

4

7 8
Overview & Scrutiny C’tee
2:00pm   

9 10 11

14 15 16 17 18

21 22 23
   

24 25

28
Bank Holiday

29
Executive
2:00pm 

30
Planning Panel
2:00pm  

31

P
age 208



Meetings Calendar 2017-2018                     

All meeting dates, times and venues are subject to change. Please check the weekly List and emails for any alterations.

SEPTEMBER 2017

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday
1

4 5 6
Strategic Nuclear & Energy 
Board 
2:00pm   
 

7 8

11 12
Full Council
6:00pm 

13
Audit & Governance C’tee
2:00pm   

14 15

18
 

19
Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects 
Panel
2:00pm 

20 21
Member Development Panel
2:00pm   

22

25 26
Executive
2:00pm 

27
Planning Panel
2:00pm  

28 29

P
age 209



Meetings Calendar 2017-2018                     

All meeting dates, times and venues are subject to change. Please check the weekly List and emails for any alterations.

OCTOBER 2017     

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday
2 3 4 5 6

9 10
Overview & Scrutiny C’tee
2:00pm   

   

11 12 13
 

16
  

17 18 19 20

23 24
Executive
2:00pm  

25
Planning Panel
2:00pm  

26 27

30 31

P
age 210



Meetings Calendar 2017-2018                     

All meeting dates, times and venues are subject to change. Please check the weekly List and emails for any alterations.

NOVEMBER 2017

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday
1 2 3

6 7 8 9
Audit & Governance C’tee
2:00pm   

10

13 14
Member Development Panel
2:00pm   

15 16 17

20
OSC (Budget Consultation)
2:00pm   

21
Executive
2:00pm  

22
Planning Panel
2:00pm  

23 24

27 28
Strategic Nuclear & Energy 
Board 
2:00pm   

29 30

P
age 211



Meetings Calendar 2017-2018                     

All meeting dates, times and venues are subject to change. Please check the weekly List and emails for any alterations.

DECEMBER 2017

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday
1

4 5
Full Council
6:00pm 

6 7
Overview & Scrutiny C’tee
2:00pm  

8

11 12
Executive
2:00pm 

13
Planning Panel
2:00pm  

14 15

18 19 20 21 22

25
Bank Holiday

26
Bank Holiday

27 28 29

P
age 212



Meetings Calendar 2017-2018                     

All meeting dates, times and venues are subject to change. Please check the weekly List and emails for any alterations.

JANUARY 2018

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday
1
Bank Holiday

2 3 4 5

8 9 10 11
 

12

15 16 
Special Overview & Scrutiny 
C’tee (Budget)
2:00pm   

17
Planning Panel
2:00pm  

18 
Member Development Panel
2:00pm   

19

22 23
Special Executive 
(Budget Consultation)
2:00pm 

24
Audit & Governance C’tee
2:00pm   

25 26

29 30
Strategic Nuclear & Energy 
Board 
2:00pm 

31

P
age 213



Meetings Calendar 2017-2018                     

All meeting dates, times and venues are subject to change. Please check the weekly List and emails for any alterations.

FEBRUARY 2018

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday
1 2

5 6
Overview & Scrutiny C’tee
2:00pm  

7 8
Special Executive (Budget)
2:00pm  

9

12 13
Strategic Nuclear & Energy 
Board 
2:00pm  

14
Planning Panel
2:00pm  

15 16

19 20
Full Council (Budget)
6:00pm  

21 22 23

26 27 28

P
age 214



Meetings Calendar 2017-2018                     

All meeting dates, times and venues are subject to change. Please check the weekly List and emails for any alterations.

MARCH 2018

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday
1 2

5 6
Overview & Scrutiny C’tee
2:00pm  

7 8 9

12 13
Strategic Nuclear & Energy 
Board 
2:00pm 

14
Planning Panel
2:00pm  

15
Member Development Panel
2:00pm   

16

19 20
Executive
2:00pm 

21 22
 

23

26 27 28 29 30
Good Friday

P
age 215



Meetings Calendar 2017-2018                     

All meeting dates, times and venues are subject to change. Please check the weekly List and emails for any alterations.

APRIL 2018

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday
2
Easter Monday

3  4 5 6

9 10
Full Council
6:00pm 

11
Planning Panel
2:00pm  

12 13

16
   

17
Overview & Scrutiny C’tee
2:00pm  

18
 

19
Audit & Governance C’tee
2:00pm 

20

23 24
Executive
2:00pm  

25 26 27

30

P
age 216



Meetings Calendar 2017-2018                     

All meeting dates, times and venues are subject to change. Please check the weekly List and emails for any alterations.

MAY 2018     

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday
1 2 3 4

7
Bank Holiday

8
ANNUAL MEETING
2:00pm 

9
Planning Panel
2:00pm  

10 11

14 15 16 17 18

21 22 23 24 25

28
Bank Holiday

 29 30 31

P
age 217



T
his page is intentionally left blank



FULL 210317 
 

 
2017/18 Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 

 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Mike Starkie, Elected Mayor 
 
LEAD OFFICER: Fiona Rooney, Director of Commercial and Corporate 

Resources (and Section 151 Officer) 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: Fiona Rooney, Director of Commercial and Corporate 

Resources (and Section 151 Officer) 
 

  

 
WHY HAS THE REPORT COME TO THE COUNCIL? 
 
This report follows up the agreed action from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s 
consideration of the 2017/18 budget and the Council recommendation of 28 February 
2017 to receive and approve a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy, including 
project details, at a meeting of Council to be held on 21 March 2017. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Council is recommended to: 
 

a) Note the statutory guidance on the flexible use of capital receipts (Section 2 
refers); 

 
b) Approve the acceptance of the flexible use of capital receipts flexibility for 

2017/18 to assist in the setting up of any commercial activities, subject to the 
availability of capital receipts over and above those required to fund the existing 
Capital Programme (Appendix A refers); and 
 

c) Note that any approved projects will be monitored as part of the existing overall 
Capital Programme reporting arrangements through the Executive and Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee’s Performance Sub Committee on a quarterly basis. 

 

 
 
1. BACKGROUND 
 

Page 219

Agenda Item 17



1.1 As part of Spending Review 2015, the government announced that it would 
introduce flexibility for the period of the Spending Review for local authorities 
to use capital receipts from the sale of non-housing assets to fund the revenue 
costs of service reform and transformation. As part of the Provisional Local 
Government Finance Settlement on 17 December 2015, the government issued 
guidance on this flexibility. This guidance was accompanied by a letter sent to 
Chief Finance Officers outlining greater detail of the flexibility being provided to 
allow capital income to be treated as revenue income for this purpose.  The 
final guidance was issued in March 2016. 

 
1.2 This flexibility was not applied in 2016/17 as the programme of land sale 

receipts did not allow enough flexibility for usage during that year.  However, it 
is now felt appropriate to put a Strategy in place to enable the development of 
commercial activities and efficiencies to support the Council’s Efficiency Plan 
for the next three years. 

 
 
2. STATUTORY GUIDANCE 
 
2.1 Local authorities are only able to use capital receipts from the sale of property, 

plant and equipment received in the years in which this flexibility is offered. 
They may not use their existing stock of capital receipts to finance the revenue 
costs of reform. 

 
2.2 The expenditure for which the flexibility can be applied should be the up-front 

costs that will generate future ongoing savings and/or transform service 
delivery to reduce costs or to improve the quality of service delivery in future 
years. The ongoing revenue costs of the new processes or arrangements cannot 
be classified as qualifying expenditure. 

 
2.3 The key determining criteria to use when deciding whether expenditure can be 

funded by the new capital receipts flexibility is that it is forecast to generate 
ongoing savings to an authority, or several authorities, and/or to another public 
sector body’s net service expenditure. 

 
2.4 The government directs local authorities to the Codes of Practice issued by 

CIPFA including The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities and 
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting.  The government also 
states that authorities should have regard to the current edition of Treasury 
Management in Public Services: Code of Practice and Sectoral Guidance Notes 
by regulation 2 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 [SI 3146] and to the Local Authority Accounting 
Code as proper practices for preparing accounts under section 21(2) of the Act. 

 

Page 220



2.5 The government believes that individual authorities and groups of authorities 
are best placed to decide which projects will be most effective for their areas 
and it is for individual local authorities to decide whether or not a project 
qualifies for the flexibility. 

 
2.6 Although a list of types of project that would qualify for the flexible use of 

capital receipts is included in the guidance, the list is not meant to be 
prescriptive or exhaustive and individual authorities who have projects that will 
generate ongoing savings that are not included in the list provided in the 
guidance can apply the flexibility to fund those projects. 

 
2.7 The list includes: 
 

• Sharing back-office and administrative services with one or more other 
council or public sector bodies; 

• Investment in service reform feasibility work, e.g. setting up pilot 
schemes; 

• Collaboration between local authorities and central government 
departments to free up land for economic use; 

• Funding the cost of service reconfiguration, restructuring or 
rationalisation (staff or non-staff), where this leads to ongoing efficiency 
savings or service transformation; 

• Sharing Chief Executives, management teams or staffing structures; 

• Driving a digital approach to the delivery of more efficient public services 
and how the public interacts with constituent authorities where possible; 

• Aggregating procurement on common goods and services where possible, 
either as part of local arrangements or using Crown Commercial Services 
or regional procurement hubs or Professional Buying Organisations; 

• Improving systems and processes to tackle fraud and corruption in line 
with the Local Government Fraud and Corruption Strategy – this could 
include an element of staff training; 

• Setting up commercial or alternative delivery models to deliver services 
more efficiently and bring in revenue (for example, through selling 
services to others); 

• Integrating public facing services across two or more public sector bodies 
(for example children’s social care, trading standards) to generate savings 
or to transform service delivery. 

 
 
3. 2017/18 FLEXIBLE USE OF CAPITAL RECEIPTS STRATEGY 
 
3.1 These new rules fit well with the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and 

its Commercial Strategy for achieving financial sustainability. The 

Page 221



Transformation Reserve (Delivering Differently Reserve) currently supports the 
Council’s Efficiency Plan, including efficiency measures, invest to save projects, 
new income generation plans and commercial activities.  Given the level of 
savings required over the medium term and the number of scope of projects 
that will need to be developed for 2018/19, it will be important to maintain 
funding for these projects. The use of capital receipts means that these 
essential projects (once scoped) can be progressed without putting additional 
pressure on our revenue resources. 

 
3.2 Appendix A sets out the 2017/18 Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy and 

broad areas where the Strategy could be applied.  It is acknowledged that any 
projects that are developed to make use of this flexibility, will need to comply 
with the existing governance arrangements set out in the Commercial 
Framework and/or existing Financial Regulations. 

 
 
4. CONCLUSION 
 
4.1 The Council must indicate and establish a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts 

Strategy by 31 March each year, if it is proposed to use such flexibility in-year. 
 
 
5. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 
 
5.1 Monitoring Officer Comments:  At this stage no legal issues arise. The legal 

implications would be considered at a project level as the projects come 
forward for Executive / Council approval. 

 
5.2 S151 Officer Comments:  Comments incorporated into the main body of the 

report as authored by the Section 151 Officer. 
 
5.3  EIA Comments:  Any projects will be subject to individual equality impact 

assessments. 
 
5.4 Policy Framework Comments:  The Council’s Constitution sets down the Budget 

and Policy Framework Procedure Rules to be followed. 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A – 2017/18 Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 
 
 
List of Background Documents: 

Page 222



 
Statutory Guidance on the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts, DCLG March 2016 
Final Guidance on Flexible Use of Capital Receipts, DCLG 
 
 
 

Page 223



APPENDIX A 
 
2017/18 FLEXIBLE USE OF CAPITAL RECEIPTS STRATEGY 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
1. This Strategy has been prepared in response to the Secretary of State’s direction for 

the Treatment of Costs as Capital Expenditure, issued 17 December 2015, under 
sections 16(2)(b) and 20 of the Local Government Act 2003 (‘the Act’). 

 
2. The Strategy has regard to the Guidance on Flexible Use of Capital Receipts issued by 

the Secretary of State under section 15 (1)(a) of the Act and the following 
publications issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA): 

 

• The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities; 

• The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting; 

• Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Sectoral 
Guidance Notes. 

 
3. The Strategy covers: 
 

• Review and Monitoring; 

• Disposal of Assets to generate Capital Receipts; 

• Efficiency Plan / Commercial Strategy Projects Areas; 

• Qualifying Costs; 

• Expected Benefits; and 

• Impact on Prudential Indicators. 
 
 
STRATEGY REVIEW AND MONITORING 
 
4. This Strategy is required to be updated at least annually. This can be done as a 

separate Strategy document or as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy or 
annual budget process. 

 
5. Subsequent strategies will report on the progress of each project and whether 

planned savings or efficiencies have been realised. 
 
6. Where strategies are revised during the year, they must be approved by Council and 

copied to the Department for Communities and Local Government. 
 

Page 224



 
DISPOSAL OF ASSETS TO GENERATE CAPITAL RECEIPTS 
 
7. Only receipts from the disposal of capital assets received after 1 April 2017 will be 

eligible for use to fund qualifying costs of service reform. 
 
8. The Property & Estates Team is currently reviewing the Council’s portfolio of assets 

as part of the refresh of the Strategic Asset Management Strategy. As part of this 
work, assets will be identified that are suitable for disposal in order to generate 
receipts that may be used to support other commercial and/or efficiency projects. 

 
9. Any intended disposals will be reported to Executive and/or Council for approval in 

accordance with existing governance arrangements. 
 

10. As this is the first year of the Strategy, no estimate of receipts to be available for this 
Strategy has yet been made and thus no impact on prudential indicators can be 
reported at this stage. 

 
 
COMMERCIAL ACTIVITIES AND EFFICIENCY PROJECTS 
 
11. The Council already has a Commercial Strategy and Efficiency Plan for achieving 

financial sustainability over the medium term, although projects for 2018/19 and 
2019/20 still need to be scoped. 

 
12. These projects can still be financed in whole or in part from other sources, e.g. the 

Delivering Differently Reserve. The Council is not obliged to fund these projects from 
capital receipts, however, on the adoption of this Strategy, will have the option to do 
so. 

 
 
QUALIFYING COSTS 
 
13. In order to be met from capital receipts, costs must meet the definition set out in 

the Secretary of State’s Direction, i.e. that the costs are incurred in order to generate 
ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of services and/or transform service delivery 
in a way that reduces costs or demand for services. 

 
14. Set- up and implementation costs can be counted as qualifying costs while the 

ongoing revenue costs of new processes or arrangements cannot. 
 
 
EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 

Page 225



15. Once the projects to be determined under this Strategy have been scoped, the 
expected benefits, initial estimate of qualifying costs and potential future 
savings/income generation can be reported for approval in ,line with existing 
governance arrangements through Executive and/or Council. 

 
 
 

Page 226


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 28 February 2017
	8 Mayor's Executive Report
	CHF pro forma Copeland submission MCh 2017 app A

	9 Choice Based Letting Allocation Policy
	Choice Based Appendix

	10 Community Governance Review
	BeckermetWithThornhillParish25K
	draft Order Beckermet
	EgremontParishEDsAndParishWards_50K
	Draft Order
	PartonParish25K
	Draft Order Parton
	SeascaleParish25K
	draft order Seascale

	11 Well Whitehaven - Accountable Body Status
	PHE Well North Collaboration Agreement  15 FEBRUARY 2017
	Draft Action Plan

	12 Environmental Policy 2017-20
	Environmental Policy (FINAL-V.02_ March 2017)

	13 Dispensation for Non Attendances at Meetings
	14 Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel
	280217 Member Scheme of Allowances 2017-18 Appendix A
	280217 Member Scheme of Allowances 2017-18 Appendix B

	15 Pay Policy Statement
	Pay Policy Statement Final 17 18

	16 Calendar of Meetings 2017/18
	App A Calendar 2017-18

	17 Flexible use of Capital Receipts Strategy

